## MUSCLE SYNERGIES FOR DIRECTIONAL CONTROL OF CENTER OF MASS IN

### VARIOUS POSTURAL STRATEGIES

A Dissertation Presented to The Academic Faculty

by

Stacie Ann Chvatal

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Doctor of Philosophy in the Department of Biomedical Engineering

Georgia Institute of Technology May 2011

Copyright © Stacie Ann Chvatal 2011

## MUSCLE SYNERGIES FOR DIRECTIONAL CONTROL OF CENTER OF MASS IN

#### VARIOUS POSTURAL STRATEGIES

Approved by:

Dr. Lena H. Ting, Advisor Biomedical Engineering Georgia Institute of Technology Emory University

Dr. Young-Hui Chang Applied Physiology *Georgia Institute of Technology* 

Dr. Robert H. Lee Biomedical Engineering Georgia Institute of Technology Emory University Dr. T. Richard Nichols Applied Physiology *Georgia Institute of Technology* 

Dr. Steven L. Wolf School of Medicine *Emory University* 

Date Approved: 03/15/2011

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Firstly, I want to thank my advisor, Dr. Lena Ting, who guided and encouraged me throughout this journey. I am grateful for your support, both academically and personally. Your wealth of knowledge amazes me, and you have taught me so many things, including how to ask questions, how to do research, how to solve problems, how to teach, how to write, and how to think critically. You supported my many extracurricular endeavors, and taught me how to say no when I was taking on too much. I will always be grateful for your support while I pursued personal goals, such as traveling, teaching, and having a baby. I could not have asked for a better mentor – thank you for everything.

Many others at GA Tech and Emory have helped me become a better scientist. To the members of my thesis committee: Dr. Young-Hui Chang, Dr. T. Richard Nichols, Dr. Bob Lee, and Dr. Steve Wolf, thank you for your feedback, suggestions, criticisms, and support, all of which have made this work better. Thank you to the Ting lab members, past and present, that have played a tremendous role in helping me get to this point. Gelsy Torres-Oviedo was instrumental in this journey, teaching me about muscle synergies and Matlab, how to collect data, and helping me develop ideas and projects. Torrence Welch helped me with technical difficulties; Lucas McKay has been invaluable for scientific discussion and feedback about my writing; and Kyla Ross provided many hours of fun while keeping me focused during experiments. Julia Choi, Jeff Bingham, Keith van Antwerp, Hongchul Sohn, Kartik Sundar, Nate Bunderson, and Jevin Scrivens, thank you for your feedback and support over the years. Most especially thank you to

iii

Seyed Safavynia, for your support as we have grown as scientists together, sharing in discoveries and setbacks. I will always remember our fun and frustrations with experiments, lengthy discussions about codes or writing, and "Team Synergy" meetings in Kyla's office. Thank you for being a great friend during this journey. Finally, thank you to my classmates and friends in the Department of Biomedical Engineering at Georgia Tech and Emory – your friendship and encouragement helped me to make it to this point.

To my family – thank you for your understanding and support during all of these years. John, you have supported me through the many ups and downs that go along with completing a PhD. You were patient with my late nights of study groups and projects at the beginning, and lent an ear and a shoulder during the stressful times when experiments or analyses weren't working. I love you more than ever and I could not have made it here without you. To my beautiful Christina, you are the best thing that has ever happened to me. You motivate me to be strong and successful, and I love you so very much. Mom, Dad, Shelley, Rob, and numerous others in my extended family, thank you for your support and for believing in me – I love you all.

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
LIST OF FIGURES	viii
LIST OF SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS	xii
SUMMARY	xiv
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Muscle synergies: a simplification strategy for motor control	1
1.1.1 Different ideas about modularity	3
1.1.2 Muscle synergies related to task-level functions	5
1.2 Balance control	6
1.3 Muscle synergies and balance control as a framework for understand	ling
neural control of movement	8
1.3.1 Muscle synergies are used in standing balance control	8
1.3.2 The stepping strategy	
1.3.3 Balance control during walking	10
1.4 Thesis overview	12
1.5 Significance	14
CHAPTER 2: MUSCLE SYNERGIES IN NON-STEPPING AND STEPPI POSTURAL BEHAVIORS	NG
2.1 Introduction	
2.2 Methods	
2.2.1 Data Collection	
2.2.2 Data Processing	
2.2.4 Data Analysia	
2.2.4 Data Analysis	
2.2.1 Non stanning vs. stanning responses	ייייין. ככ
2.3.1 Non-stepping vs. stepping responses	32
2.3.2 Muscle synergy recruitment tuning curves explain individual muscle di	fferences
in non-stenning and stenning responses	41
2.3.4 Functional muscle synergies reveal correlations between muscle syner	gies and
task-level goals	
2.3.5 Similar muscle synergies were found across subjects	
2.4 Discussion	50
<b>CHAPTER 3: SELECTION AND MODULATION OF MUSCLE SYNER</b>	GIES
DURING PERTURBATIONS TO WALKING	60
3.1 Introduction	61
3.2 Methods	63

3.2.1 Data Collection	64
3.2.2. Data Processing	65
3.2.3 Extraction of Muscle Synergies	66
3.2.4 Data Analysis	69
3.3 Results	70
3.3.1 EMG activity during walking	71
3.3.2 Muscle synergies extracted from various conditions	73
3.3.3 Muscle synergies from unperturbed walking can explain posture responses	78
3.3.4 Quantification of additional muscle synergy recruitment accounting for	
perturbation response	81
3.3.5 Some compensations were made by the swing leg	82
3.3.6 Similar muscle synergies were found across subjects	86
3.4 Discussion	88
CHADTED 4. COMMON MUSCLE SVNEDCIES EOD WALKING AND	
BALANCE CONTROL	92
4 1 Introduction	93
4.7 Methods	96
4.2.1 Data Collection	90 97
4.2.1 Data Concessing	,
4 2 3 Extraction of Muscle Synergies	102
4.2.4 Data Analysis and Muscle Synergy Comparison	104
4.3 Results	105
4.3.1 Individual muscle activation differs across perturbation conditions	105
4.3.2 Similar muscle synergies were used in standing balance and unperturbed w	alking
	107
4.3.3 Similar muscle synergies were used during standing balance and perturbed	
walking	109
4.3.4 Muscle synergy tuning reveals the function of muscle synergies across cond	itions
	110
4.4 Discussion	115
CHAPTER 5. CONCLUSIONS	110
<b>5</b> 1 Significance	117
5.1 Significance	119
5.2 Robust muscle synergies for Cowi control across multiple motor tasks	120 125
5.5 Central neural control of balance and locomotion	125
5.4 Limitations and Future studies	/ 127
5.4.1 Different perturbation strengths/types/terrains	/ 12 120
5.4.2 Role of the other leg	120 120
5.4.5 Other task-level goals	120 120
5.4.4 Voluntary stepping	130 121
5.4.6 Studies of skill and deficit	131 121
5.4.7 Changes in muscle synergies over time	131
5.4.8 Translating our methods into a clinical setting	133
or no realisating our methous into a chinear setting	155
<b>APPENDIX A: DECOMPOSING MUSCLE ACTIVITY IN MOTOR TASKS</b>	135
A.1 Introduction	136

A.2 Basic Properties and Differences Between PCA and NMF: A Simple	le Example
	139
A.2.1 Orthogonality Versus Independence	143
A.2.2 PCA Is Descriptive; NMF Is Prescriptive	144
A.2.3 Physiological Interpretability of PCA Versus NMF Components	148
A.3 Identifying Components Using PCA and NMF: A Postural Control	Example
••••••	150
A.3.1 Introduction to Postural Responses	152
A.3.2 Components of Postural Responses Identified by PCA and NMF	156
A.3.3 Selecting the Appropriate Number of Components Using NMF	
A.4 Using NMF Versus PCA to Test Motor Control Hypotheses: Stand	ing and
Walking	165
A.4.1 Are Muscle Synergies Stable or Artifact? Shared Versus Specific Comp	onents 167
A.4.2 Using Time As a Condition: Muscle Synergies During Walking	
A.5 Conclusion	177
APPENDIX B: VOLUNTARY STEPPING	
B.1 Introduction	
B.2 Methods	
B.2.1 Data Collection	
B.2.2 Data Processing	
B.3 Results	
R 4 Discussion	194
REFERENCES	
VITA	208

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1 Muscle synergy concept. 3
Figure 1.2 Overall study design
Figure 2.1 Example of postural responses to a backward and rightward perturbation of
the support surface (A), and to a frontward and leftward perturbation of the support
surface (B)
Figure 2.2 Center of mass (CoM) displacement during non-stepping (gray) and stepping
(black) responses to perturbations, from 500ms before the perturbation until 150ms
after the platform stopped moving
Figure 2.3 Muscle tuning curves for all 16 muscles during non-stepping (gray) and
stepping (black) responses during time windows PR1 and PR3 for a representative
subject
Figure 2.4 Confidence intervals of reconstruction VAF and muscle synergy comparison.
Figure 2.5 Muscle synergy vectors and recruitment coefficients for a representative
subject40
Figure 2.6 Reconstructions of the muscle tuning curves using the muscle synergies
shown in Figure 2.5
Figure 2.7 Comparison of functional muscle synergies extracted from various
combinations of data for a representative subject45
Figure 2.8 Functional muscle synergies for a representative subject

Figure 2.9 Reconstructions of the force and CoM tuning curves using the functional
muscle synergies shown in Figure 2.8
Figure 2.10 Comparison of muscle synergy $W_5$ and its corresponding force vector and
CoM acceleration vector (A), as well as the corresponding recruitment tuning curve
(B) across all subjects
Figure 3.1 Comparison of EMG across walking speeds and perturbation directions73
Figure 3.2 Comparison of muscle synergies extracted from walking data binned into
different time bins
Figure 3.3 Comparison of muscle synergies extracted from different walking speeds76
Figure 3.4 Muscle synergies extracted from unperturbed self-selected speed walking
with and without anticipation77
Figure 3.5 Walking muscle synergies and recruitment coefficients for an anterior
perturbation trial
Figure 3.6 Reconstructions of EMG in several perturbed walking trials using the muscle
synergies shown in Figure 580
Figure 3.7 Reconstructions of EMG using the walking muscle synergies for a few trials
and muscles that were not well reconstructed
Figure 3.8 Quantification of the additional muscle synergy recruitment that accounts for
perturbation responses during walking
Figure 3.9 Swing leg (left leg) step length (A) and width (B) for self-selected speed
walking without perturbations and for each direction of perturbation, illustrating the
differential placement of the swing leg used to recover from perturbations85
Figure 3.10 Comparison of walking muscle synergies across subjects

Figure 4.1 Examples of EMG during a standing balance posture response and a walking
posture response
Figure 4.2 Muscle tuning curves from standing balance perturbations and perturbations
during slow and self-selected walking
Figure 4.3 Comparison of standing postural muscle synergies and unperturbed walking
muscle synergies
Figure 4.4 Muscle synergy recruitment coefficients for muscle synergies that were
specific to regular walking
Figure 4.5 Comparison of muscle synergies extracted from perturbation responses in the
3 conditions studied here (standing balance, slow walking, and self-selected
walking)111
Figure 4.6 Muscle synergy recruitment tuning curves for similar muscle synergies across
standing and walking perturbation responses
Figure 4.7 Muscle synergy recruitment tuning curves for muscle synergies that were
specific to walking postural responses
Figure 4.8 Muscle synergy recruitment tuning curves for muscle synergies that were
specific to standing postural responses
Figure 5.1 Overall study design
Figure A.1 Electromyograph (EMG) data decomposition schematic and muscle synergy
concept
Figure A.2 A 2-D example illustrating differences between components identified using
principal components analysis (PCA) and non-negative matrix factorization (NMF).

Figure A.3 Example of postural responses to a backward and leftward perturbation of the
support surface
Figure A.4 Components and activation coefficients identified from postural response
data using principal components analysis (PCA) and non-negative matrix
factorization (NMF)
Figure A.5 Scree plots showing variability accounted for (VAF) between the original
data and the reconstruction using non-negative matrix factorization (NMF)
components for the data shown in Figure A.3
Figure A.6 Comparison between components identified from one-leg postural responses
compared to those identified from two-leg postural responses
Figure A.7 Example of muscle activity during a forward walking trial
Figure A.8 Components and activation coefficients identified from walking data using
principal components analysis (PCA) and non-negative matrix factorization (NMF).
Figure B.1 Example of EMG and GRF during a rightward voluntary step
Figure B.2 Step kinematics for reactive and voluntary steps
Figure B.3 GRF and EMG during voluntary steps in all 12 directions
Figure B.4 GRF and EMG during reactive steps in all 12 directions
Figure B.5 Muscle tuning curves during reactive stepping (black) and voluntary stepping
(gray) during the APA period and step period

## LIST OF SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS

ADMG	adductor magnus
APR	Automatic postural response
BFLH	biceps femoris long head
BoS	Base of support
Ci	ith muscle synergy recruitment coefficient
CNS	Central nervous system
СоМ	Center of mass
СоР	Center of pressure
CPG	Central pattern generator
EMG	Electromyograph
ERSP	erector spinae
EXOB	external oblique
Fx	Endpoint force in medial/lateral direction
Fy	Endpoint force in anterior/posterior direction
Fz	Endpoint force in vertical direction
GMED	gluteus medius
GRF	Ground reaction force
ICA	Independent components analysis
LGAS	lateral gastrocnemius
MGAS	medial gastrocnemius
NMF/NNMF	Non-negative matrix factorization

PCA	Principle components analysis
PERO	peroneus
PR	Posture response
r	Correlation coefficient
r <sup>2</sup>	Coefficient of determination
REAB	rectus abdominus
RFEM	rectus femoris
SEMT	semitendinosus
SOL	soleus
ТА	tibialis anterior
TFL	tensor fascia lata
UCM	Uncontrolled manifold
VAF	% variability accounted for
VLAT	vastus lateralis
VMED	vastus medialis
Wi	i <sup>th</sup> muscle synergy
Wsli	i <sup>th</sup> muscle synergy from slow walking perturbation responses
Wssi	i <sup>th</sup> muscle synergy from self-selected walking perturbation responses
Wwi	i <sup>th</sup> muscle synergy from unperturbed walking

#### **SUMMARY**

Our long-term goal is to better understand how the nervous system controls muscles to generate movement. Our overall hypothesis is that the nervous system coordinates muscles by flexibly recruiting muscle synergies, defined here as groups of muscles simultaneously activated in fixed ratios, in order to map high-level task goals into motor actions. Here we studied muscle coordination in the context of balance control – a task that requires multisensory integration and coordination of multiple muscles, yet has a clear goal of controlling the center of mass (CoM), which can be achieved by using different strategies. If muscle synergies are a common mechanism used by the nervous system for balance control, we would expect to see the same muscle synergies used in a variety of strategies. Therefore we investigated the robustness of the muscle synergies in a variety of human postural strategies, such as standing, stepping and walking, to determine whether muscle synergies are a consistent underlying mechanism used by the nervous system. We hypothesized that muscle synergies are recruited to control a task-level variable (e.g. CoM direction) that is not specific to a particular postural strategy.

We demonstrated that similar muscle synergies are used in reactive responses to standing balance perturbations, in reactive stepping responses, in walking, and in reactive postural responses during walking, suggesting a common neural mechanism not only for balance control in various contexts, but for movement in general. The differences in the timing and spatial organization of muscle activity in standing, stepping, and walking postural responses were largely explained by altering the recruitment of a common set of muscle synergies, with the addition of only a single muscle synergy specific to each

xiv

behavior. We demonstrated the functionality of muscle synergies by showing that each muscle synergy was correlated with a particular force produced at the ground and component of CoM acceleration both in stepping and in non-stepping postural responses. These results suggest that muscle synergies reflect the neural organization of the motor system, representing motor modules recruited to achieve a common biomechanical function across different postural behaviors. Additionally, muscle synergies used during walking were recruited during atypical phases of the gait cycle in response to an unexpected perturbation, in order to maintain balance and continue walking, suggesting a common neural mechanism for different balance requirements during walking. The compositions of muscle synergies used during walking were similar to those used during walking perturbations as well as standing balance perturbations, suggesting that muscle synergies represent common neural mechanisms for CoM movement control under different dynamic conditions. These results are of interest to a variety of fields such as rehabilitation science, prosthetics, and robotics.

# CHAPTER 1

#### INTRODUCTION

Our long-term goal is to better understand how the nervous system controls muscles to generate movement. There are many more muscles in the body than kinematic degrees of freedom, so how does the central nervous system decide which muscles to activate to perform any given movement? This is Bernstein's degrees of freedom problem (Bernstein 1967). Bernstein proposed that the nervous system reduces the number of elements requiring control by simultaneously activating multiple muscles as a unit. There has been a wealth of work performed since then investigating whether the nervous system activates each muscle independently or instead coordinates movement by simultaneously activating multiple muscles. Here we investigated muscle coordination underlying several motor tasks – standing, stepping, and walking – to gain insight into how the nervous system controls muscles to generate movement.

#### **1.1 Muscle synergies: a simplification strategy for motor control**

Muscle synergies have been proposed to be a modular organization for muscle coordination that map high-level task goals, or motor intentions, into motor actions (Chiel et al. 2009; Drew et al. 2008; Giszter et al. 2007; Ting and McKay 2007; Yakovenko et al. 2010). Muscle synergies and other types of modular organization have been used to explain muscle coordination during a variety of motor behaviors in many different species (Cappellini et al. 2006; d'Avella et al. 2006; d'Avella et al. 2003; Drew et al. 2008; Flash and Hochner 2005; Hart and Giszter 2004a; Hart and Giszter 2004b; Kargo and Giszter 2000; Krishnamoorthy et al. 2004; Latash et al. 2005; Ting and Macpherson 2005; Torres-Oviedo et al. 2006; Yakovenko et al. 2010). The generality of muscle synergies across different motor tasks has been shown in frog kicking, jumping, and swimming (Cheung et al. 2005; d'Avella and Bizzi 2005); as well as in human walking and running (Cappellini et al. 2006), and forward and backward pedaling (Raasch and Zajac 1999b; Ting et al. 1999). Although some muscle synergies are used across multiple tasks, in some instances new synergies may emerge when a new motor task is presented (Cheung et al. 2005; Ivanenko et al. 2005; Robert et al. 2008; Torres-Oviedo and Ting 2010) and the recruitment of existing synergies may be altered (Cappellini et al. 2006; Clark et al. 2010).

Here we define muscle synergies as groups of muscles activated simultaneously with fixed relative gains (Figure 1.1). Each muscle synergy is composed of contributions from multiple muscles; the height of the each bar specifies each muscle's contribution to that synergy. Notice an individual muscle may contribute to multiple synergies. The muscle synergies do not change composition; they are simply activated by a scalar recruitment coefficient, C, which may vary over the time-course of the perturbation response. The recruitment coefficient represents the purported neural command that specifies how that synergy is modulated over time, and how much each synergy will contribute to a muscle's total activity pattern. Therefore we consider muscle synergies to be spatially fixed with temporally varying recruitment patterns. An individual muscle activation pattern can be represented by a linear summation of the activations due to each muscle synergy.



**Figure 1.1** Muscle synergy concept. Each muscle activation results from the combination of the activations due to each muscle synergy that contains that muscle.

#### 1.1.1 Different ideas about modularity

In the literature, there are differing ideas about how exactly modularity is implemented in the central nervous system (CNS). Previous work has shown spinal motor primitives are activated to generate a variety of reflex and pattern-generator behaviors in frogs. (Kargo et al. 2010). The primitives are premotor drive impulses that comprise fixed muscle synergies, and these synergies appear to be stereotyped in frogs. These muscle synergies cannot change, but their recruitment may be temporally adjusted and used to compose voluntary movements. Common primitives were identified using ICA on EMG recordings in brainstem and spinal frogs (Hart and Giszter 2004), suggesting these modules may be implemented purely in the spinal cord. Also, modules used for the wiping reflex in frogs were unchanged after deafferentation (Kargo and Giszter 2000), suggesting their composition is not dependent on somatosensory feedback.

Previous studies of modularity during locomotion have suggested temporally fixed patterns of muscle recruitment occurring at specific times in the gait cycle that are coupled to spatially varying muscle weightings (Cappellini et al. 2006; Ivanenko et al. 2005; Ivanenko et al. 2004). In this organization, the CNS chooses from a set of predefined temporal recruitment patterns to produce a rhythmic behavior in a feedforward manner. The temporally fixed neural commands have access to all of the musculature, and the specific muscles activated vary across trials and contexts. Underlying factors were identified from EMG patterns using PCA with varimax rotation, and five temporal components could reproduce muscle activity during walking (Ivanenko et al. 2004). It is unlikely that a temporally fixed modular organization such as this would be able to explain EMG activity of involuntary or reactive tasks that may rely more heavily on feedback control.

A third view of modularity suggests that synergies are co-varying changes in individual elements of a system that stabilize a value or a time profile of an important performance variable produced by the system (Latash 2008). Thus synergies are only synergies with respect to a particular performance variable. Groups of muscles called mmodes are proposed elemental variables that co-vary to stabilize a performance variable (Krishnamoorthy et al. 2003a; Krishnamoorthy et al. 2004). The m-modes are identified using principal components analysis (PCA) and synergies (the co-variation of these mmodes to stabilize a task variable) are identified using the uncontrolled manifold (UCM

analysis). The composition of m-modes is changed or reshaped under new conditions, such as task, time window, etc. (Danna-Dos-Santos 2007; Robert et al. 2008). This scheme allows for the emergence and modification of an infinite number of synergies with practice, experience, context, etc.

Our hypothesis about the structure of muscle synergies is both similar to and different from the various organizations discussed here. We hypothesize muscle synergies are generally fixed, and only the recruitment of muscle synergies varies across time and condition, consistent with the ideas of Giszter and colleagues. The CNS circuits that branch with varying synaptic weights to motoneurons of muscles in the muscle synergy may indeed be implemented in the spinal cord, but it is possible that they may also exist in other levels of the nervous system, such as brainstem or cortex depending on which motor behavior is being executed. Furthermore, muscle synergy composition may be modified and shaped over the long-term (years) as a result of individual experience, training, and adaptation. An organization consisting of fixed temporal components such as that proposed by Ivanenko and colleagues is unlikely to be used for non-rhythmic or reactive motor behaviors due to the feedback nature of reactive tasks. We do not believe that muscle groups change according to the specific condition or trial, as Latash and colleagues have suggested. However, we do believe that muscle synergies are recruited in order to control a task-level function, consistent with Latash's definition of "synergy".

#### 1.1.2 Muscle synergies related to task-level functions

The recruitment of these muscle synergies, or motor modules, may be related to specific biomechanical functions necessary to accomplish a behavioral goal (Berniker et

al. 2009; Chiel et al. 2009; Giszter et al. 2007; Raasch and Zajac 1999; b; Ting and McKay 2007). The biomechanical outputs related to muscle synergies depend upon the motor task being performed. In human finger spelling, muscle synergies are correlated with common hand postures (Weiss and Flanders 2004), whereas in frog kicking, jumping, and swimming, shared muscle synergies may be activated to implement whole limb movements common to these locomotor behaviors (Cheung et al. 2005; d'Avella and Bizzi 2005). Another study showed that in human walking, muscle synergies were activated to achieve various functions such as weight support, forward propulsion of the body, and deceleration of the leg (Neptune et al. 2009a).

#### **1.2 Balance control**

Here we studied muscle coordination in the context of human balance control. Although it may seem "simple", balance control is actually a complex task which requires the integration of multiple sensory modalities (visual, vestibular, and proprioceptive), and which requires coordination of multiple muscles across several joints. Additionally, accurately maintaining balance is required as the foundation of a variety of other voluntary motor tasks, such as standing, walking, running, and jumping.

The overall goal in balance control is to maintain the center of mass (CoM) over the base of support (BoS). CoM position, velocity, and acceleration are variables that we can experimentally measure relatively easily, making balance control an ideal task for investigating relationships between muscle activation and functional goals. Furthermore, there is a wide range of strategies people use in order to maintain balance, such as standing, stepping, reaching out to grasp a handrail, etc., providing a means for us to understand common principles that underlie muscle coordination in a variety of contexts.

Current methods for studying balance control include measuring human responses to unexpected perturbations of the support surface. These responses include kinematics, kinetics, and electromyographic (EMG) activity. Individual muscle postural responses to support surface translations are characterized by a small burst that is attributed to reflex pathways, followed by a larger burst (around 100 ms after perturbation onset). This later activation, the automatic postural response (APR), is an involuntary response that changes with the direction of perturbation, as represented by muscle tuning curves. Here we studied muscle coordination during the APR in various postural tasks.

Humans use various strategies to maintain balance response to perturbations. To maintain balance without moving the feet, muscles in the legs are activated, resulting in forces generated at the ground to restore the CoM to its initial position above the base of support (BoS) (Horak and Macpherson 1996; Horak and Nashner 1986). These responses in which balance is maintained without moving the feet have previously been called "fixed support" responses, and are referred to here as "non-stepping". Other strategies for maintaining balance are called "change-in-support" strategies, which include reaching out to catch hold of a support and taking a step to recover balance (Grin et al. 2007; Maki and McIlroy 1997). In these responses, the BoS is expanded, and the CoM is pushed out further away from the starting position. The muscle coordination underlying change-in-support strategies is much less understood.

# 1.3 Muscle synergies and balance control as a framework for understanding neural control of movement

#### **1.3.1 Muscle synergies are used in standing balance control**

A few muscle synergies can account for spatial, temporal, and inter-trial variations in muscle activation patterns in human standing responses to perturbations (Torres-Oviedo and Ting 2007). However, muscle synergies underlying more dynamic balance tasks (such as stepping and walking) in humans have largely been unstudied. Previous work has shown that subjects use the same muscle synergies when they are perturbed while standing at a variety of initial stance configurations, such as wide or narrow stance (Torres-Oviedo 2007). Thus the synergies are robust even when the biomechanics of the task are different, which demonstrates that muscle synergies may indeed be a general neural control mechanism for standing balance control. This idea of generality of muscle synergies across motor tasks has not been thoroughly explored. In this work, I have applied the muscle synergy analysis to postural tasks that are less understood than standing, but that may be more relevant to daily activities, such as stepping and walking. This is a novel approach to understand the neural control in these tasks.

Many studies have suggested controlled variables in balance control. For instance, some propose that center of pressure (CoP) shifts, segmental kinematics, or dynamic torques across multiple joints are being controlled in postural tasks (Alexandrov et al. 2001; Danna-Dos-Santos et al. 2007; Grasso et al. 1998; Grasso et al. 2000;

Shemmell et al. 2007). However, these studies do not demonstrate relationships between EMG changes and the controlled variable. Others have correlated the controlled variable to EMG changes by associating them with a selected strategy for maintaining balance. For instance, the non-stepping ankle strategy is concerned with maintaining upright stance, whereas the non-stepping hip strategy may be used to control CoM position. In either case, characteristic muscle patterns can be identified (Horak and Macpherson 1996). Another prior study correlates muscle activity in postural responses with forces generated at the ground (Jacobs and Macpherson 1996), and it has even been shown in cats that muscle synergies are recruited to control forces at the ground (Ting and Macpherson 2005; Torres-Oviedo et al. 2006).

A limitation of these previous studies linking EMG and controlled variables is that they have only considered a single condition. If the muscle synergies truly are a general mechanism for posture control, and they have a specific task-level goal they are recruited to control, we expect to see this variable correlated with muscle synergy recruitment across multiple conditions. In cats, the muscle synergies correlated with forces were used in multiple stance distances and across rotations and translations, validating that ground reaction force (GRF) is the controlled variable (Torres-Oviedo et al. 2006). In chapter 2, we identify correlations between muscle synergy recruitment, forces under the foot, and CoM acceleration in non-stepping and stepping postural responses.

#### **1.3.2** The stepping strategy

Although people with balance impairments more often use a stepping strategy to regain balance than a non-stepping one (Schulz et al. 2005), stepping balance responses are less studied than standing balance responses. In clinical studies, the kinematics of stepping are characterized, but the underlying neural mechanisms have not been addressed, and limited work has addressed muscle activation patterns underlying the stepping response. Stepping and non-stepping responses are initiated at the same latencies following perturbation, yet the magnitude of muscle activation is increased in stepping responses (Horak and Macpherson 1996; McIlroy and Maki 1993a). Also, the kinetics of a stepping response are very different from a standing task, largely due to the swinging leg. However, the goal in both of these tasks is still to maintain the CoM over the BoS, suggesting that common neural mechanisms underlie these two strategies despite the differences in muscle activation and force generation.

#### 1.3.3 Balance control during walking

Although walking is a relevant motor task that most people perform every day, the strategies used for balance control during walking are not understood. During locomotion, balance is always controlled, but may require separate control circuits from the ongoing walking pattern. Walking is a dynamic condition in which the CoM is not usually located over the base of support of either stance foot (MacKinnon and Winter 1993). When a perturbation is encountered while walking, the CoM is moving when the perturbation response needs to be activated, as opposed to standing balance, when the CoM is initially stationary, or moving only very slightly due to postural sway. Perhaps

the walking circuit can account for upright posture, yet a posture circuit must be activated for unexpected movements. There is a need to understand the muscle coordination involved in a task that combines posture and locomotion components that can be distinguished from one another. Studies have administered perturbations while a person walks across the force plate (Tang et al. 1998), however, only forward perturbations are administered, similar to slipping on a wet surface or banana peel. In reality, people may encounter a variety of perturbations while walking. Postural responses to multidirectional perturbations during walking have not yet been characterized, nor have the muscle coordination patterns underlying these responses.

Prior work has demonstrated muscle synergies underlie cycle-by-cycle variability in cyclic behaviors such as pedaling and walking (Clark et al. 2010; Ting et al. 1999). The sequence of muscle activation patterns during locomotion has been characterized in humans (Prilutsky et al. 1998; Rose and Gamble 1994), and muscle coordination during locomotion has been identified in cats (Krouchev et al. 2006), and humans (Ivanenko et al. 2004). Yet the strategies used for balance control during walking are not understood. Although muscle synergies can explain cyclic behaviors and postural responses, they have not been examined during postural perturbations encountered while walking. In chapter 3, we indentify muscle synergies used during walking and demonstrate these are modulated in response to a perturbation to account for the postural response. In chapter 4, we demonstrate similar muscle synergies are used for walking and balance control.

#### 1.4 Thesis overview

Here I investigated the robustness of muscle synergies as a simplification strategy for postural control in a variety of postural tasks. Additionally, I identified biomechanical functions associated with the recruitment of muscle synergies in various postural tasks. The three postural tasks studied here have different initial conditions for the CoM movement as well as different desired motions of the CoM. Nevertheless, we *hypothesize* that the same muscle synergies are robustly used during multiple tasks that require neural control of the CoM. In a non-stepping postural response to a backward perturbation, the CoM is initially thrust forward due to the perturbation, and the desired CoM motion is backward to recover balance without stepping (Figure 1.2). In a stepping postural response to a forward perturbation, the CoM is initially thrust backward due to the perturbation, and the desired CoM motion is also backward as the subject steps back to catch their balance. Can the same muscle synergies be recruited to produce this backward CoM acceleration in both of these cases? Likewise can the same muscle synergies be recruited to produce a forward CoM movement during non-stepping responses to forward perturbations, stepping responses to backward perturbations, as well as walking and perturbation responses during walking? Here we investigated whether the same muscle synergies are recruited to produce a common biomechanical function of directing the CoM in a variety of postural behaviors, such as standing, stepping, and walking. Alternatively, muscle synergy recruitment may instead be related to the perturbation direction, as similar perturbations will produce similar initial sensory input in each of these conditions.

In Chapter 2, I identified a set of common muscle synergies used in both nonstepping and stepping postural responses. Furthermore, each muscle synergy was associated with a force produced at the ground and an acceleration of the CoM, suggesting that muscle synergies in postural tasks are recruited to produce forces at the ground in order to direct CoM motion. In Chapter 3, I identified muscle synergies used during walking that can be modulated to account for perturbation responses in 4 directions. Finally, in Chapter 4, I expanded our investigation of perturbations during walking to include multiple perturbation directions and explicitly compared the muscle synergies used to respond to perturbations during walking to those used during standing postural responses.

	Forward Perturbation			<b>Backward Perturbation</b>		
		Initial CoM direction	Desired CoM direction		Initial CoM direction	Desired CoM direction
Non-stepping		BACK	FWD		FWD	BACK
Reactive stepping		BACK	BACK		FWD	FWD
Response during walking		BACK	FWD		FWD	FWD

**Figure 1.2** Overall study design. We studied three postural tasks which have similarities and differences in both initial CoM movement resulting from a perturbation and desired CoM motion required to maintain balance depending on the response strategy selected

and task goals. This figure illustrates the initial and desired CoM movement directions in all three postural tasks for two perturbation directions (forward and backward).

#### **1.5 Significance**

Motor control deficits resulting from an impaired nervous system have been identified in various pathologies such as cerebral palsy and Parkinson's disease. The coordination of muscles that is the intermediate step between a neural command and a visible motor output is still largely not understood. Here we examined the muscle coordination underlying several postural tasks in order to better understand motor control in general. Furthermore, we identified functional outputs related to the recruitment of muscle synergies; it is important to know the purpose, or function, of the muscle synergies to be useful clinically because diagnoses are made based upon functional deficits.

In an attempt to eventually apply our knowledge to adults with deficits, here we chose to look at the nervous system outputs under optimal conditions. We did this by examining muscle coordination in young, healthy adults from the GA Tech and Emory communities. This is a necessary precursor that permits a better understanding of the underlying causes of impairments. Once we have identified the neurophysiological mechanisms that underlie muscle coordination and postural control in young, healthy subjects, we will have a meaningful metric that may help us better understand and identify impairments. This will allow for the development of targeted therapies to address these impairments, such as training programs to develop a desired muscle synergy structure. Finding that the same muscle synergies are used for posture control in

a variety of tasks, such as standing, stepping, and walking, will be useful for clinical tests of synergy structure, diagnosing impairments, and proposing better treatment strategies.

#### **CHAPTER 2**

# MUSCLE SYNERGIES IN NON-STEPPING AND STEPPING POSTURAL BEHAVIORS

This chapter was submitted to the Journal of Neurophysiology and is currently in review.

Chvatal SA, Torres-Oviedo G, Safavynia SA, and Ting LH. Common muscle synergies for control of center of mass and force in non-stepping and stepping postural behaviors. *J Neurophysiol* (in review).

We investigated muscle activity, ground-reaction forces, and center-of-mass (CoM) acceleration in two different postural behaviors used for standing balance control in humans to determine whether common neural mechanisms are used in different postural tasks. We compared *non-stepping responses*, where the base of support (BoS) is stationary and balance is recovered by returning CoM back to its initial position, to *stepping responses*, where the BoS is enlarged and balance is recovered by pushing the CoM away from the initial position. In response to perturbations of the same direction, these two postural behaviors resulted in different muscle activity and ground-reaction forces. We hypothesize that a common pool of muscle synergies producing consistent task-level biomechanical functions is used to generate these different postural behaviors. Two sets of support-surface translations in 12 horizontal-plane directions were presented,

first to evoke stepping responses and then to evoke non-stepping responses. EMGs in 16 lower-back and leg muscles of the stance leg were measured. Initially (~100 ms latency), EMG, CoM acceleration, and forces were similar in non-stepping and stepping responses, but diverged in later time periods (~200 ms), when stepping occurred. We identified functional muscle synergies using non-negative matrix factorization that quantified correlations between muscle synergy recruitment levels and biomechanical outputs. Functional muscle synergies that produce forces to restore CoM position in non-stepping responses were also used to displace the CoM during stepping responses. These results suggest that muscle synergies represent common neural mechanisms for CoM movement control under different dynamic conditions: stepping and non-stepping postural responses.

#### **2.1 Introduction**

Muscle synergies have been proposed to be a modular organization for muscle coordination that map high-level task goals, or motor intentions, into motor actions (Chiel et al. 2009; Drew et al. 2008; Giszter et al. 2007; Ting and McKay 2007; Yakovenko et al. 2010). Here we explicitly tested this hypothesis by investigating the relationship between muscle synergy recruitment and functional motor outputs in two postural tasks– stepping and non-stepping responses to perturbations–that achieve the same motor intention of maintaining upright balance using different motor actions. Muscle synergies and other types of modular organization have been used to explain muscle coordination during a variety of motor behaviors in many different species (Cappellini et al. 2006; d'Avella et al. 2006; d'Avella et al. 2003; Drew et al. 2008; Flash and Hochner 2005; Hart

and Giszter 2004a; Hart and Giszter 2004b; Kargo and Giszter 2000; Krishnamoorthy et al. 2004; Latash et al. 2005; Ting and Macpherson 2005; Torres-Oviedo et al. 2006; Yakovenko et al. 2010). The generality of muscle synergies across different motor tasks has been shown in frog kicking, jumping, and swimming (Cheung et al. 2005; d'Avella and Bizzi 2005); or in human walking and running (Cappellini et al. 2006); or in forward and backward pedaling (Raasch and Zajac 1999; Ting et al. 1999). Although some muscle synergies are used across multiple tasks, in some instances new synergies may emerge when a new motor task is presented (Cheung et al. 2005; Ivanenko et al. 2005; Robert et al. 2008; Torres-Oviedo and Ting 2010) and the recruitment of the synergies may be altered (Cappellini et al. 2006; Clark et al. 2010).

The recruitment of these muscle synergies, or motor modules, may be related to specific biomechanical functions necessary to accomplish a behavioral goal (Berniker et al. 2009; Chiel et al. 2009; Giszter et al. 2007; Raasch and Zajac 1999; Ting and McKay 2007). Muscle synergies in humans have been correlated with foot kinematics in locomotion (Ivanenko et al. 2003; Ivanenko et al. 2006) and foot acceleration in pedaling (Ting et al. 1999). The biomechanical outputs related to muscle synergies depend upon the motor task being performed. In human finger spelling, muscle synergies are correlated with common hand postures (Weiss and Flanders 2004), whereas in frog kicking, jumping, and swimming, shared muscle synergies may be activated to implement whole limb movements common to these locomotor behaviors (Cheung et al. 2005; d'Avella and Bizzi 2005). In balance control, we found that muscle synergies in the cat are recruited to produce specific force vectors at the ground that are robust across changes in postural configuration (Ting and Macpherson 2005; Torres-Oviedo et al.

2006). Although these correlations indicate possible muscle synergy functions, the stimuli triggering the studied movements and the behavioral outputs were also directly related. Therefore, one purpose of this study was to determine whether muscle synergies map high-level task goals into actions independently from sensory inputs triggering the postural response.

In feline standing balance control, it has been hypothesized that several muscle synergies are recruited in order to control center of mass (CoM) kinematics by modulating end-point forces (McKay and Ting 2008; Torres-Oviedo et al. 2006), but similar studies have not been conducted in human balance control. Our previous work in human balance control has shown that the same muscle synergies can account for balance responses across a variety of standing conditions (Torres-Oviedo and Ting 2010), suggesting these motor modules may produce biomechanical functions generally needed for balance control. It is likely that these biomechanical functions are related to the control of CoM motion. Human balance control is complex as a broad range of postural behaviors is available in response to perturbations, such as the so-called hip- and anklestrategies (Horak and Macpherson 1996; Runge et al. 1998), stepping (McIlroy and Maki 1993b), or using the upper extremities for stabilization (Maki and McIlroy 1997). In any variation of the standing balance task, maintaining balance requires keeping the CoM above the base of support (BoS) (Massion 1992; Scholz et al. 2007; Ting et al. 2009). During feet-in-place postural response behaviors, however, the muscles recruited for postural stabilization depend upon the direction of CoM motion, rather than the local changes in joint angle displacements (Carpenter et al. 1999; Gollhofer et al. 1989; Ting and Macpherson 2004). Similarly, CoM kinematics can predict the activation time

course of distal and proximal muscles (Welch and Ting 2008), suggesting a neural command reflecting CoM kinematics could activate multiple muscles across the body.

Here we used support-surface perturbations to elicit both stepping and nonstepping postural responses, allowing us to test the hypothesis that muscle synergies are recruited to achieve the biomechanical output of controlling CoM, independent of the sensory input triggering the response. In non-stepping postural responses to perturbations, the feet stay in place and the CoM is returned back to its initial position above the feet. Conversely in stepping responses, the COM is expanded by taking a step, which results in the CoM being displaced even further from the initial position. Therefore in these two behaviors, the motor output, or desired direction of CoM movement, is opposite in response to the same direction of perturbation which evokes similar sensory inputs in the two cases. Comparing these two postural behaviors allows dissociation between patterns of somatosensory input (due to perturbation direction), the associated patterns of muscular output, and the resultant CoM motion.

In order to use muscle synergy analysis to examine stepping responses, it was first necessary to characterize muscle activity in multidirectional stepping responses more thoroughly. Very few studies have examined the patterns of EMG during stepping responses and compared these patterns to those observed in non-stepping responses (Horak and Macpherson 1996; McIlroy and Maki 1993a). The magnitude of initial EMG is increased in stepping responses compared to non-stepping responses (McIlroy and Maki 1993a), but the time course of muscle activity during stepping and non-stepping responses has not been compared. Furthermore, stepping responses in directions other than anterior/posterior and medial/lateral directions have not been examined.

Multidirectional tuning curves are necessary in order to fully evaluate patterns of underlying muscle synergies. Therefore, in this study we compared the initial time course of muscle activity in stepping and non-stepping responses, and characterized muscle activity tuning during stepping responses to multidirectional perturbations other than anterior/posterior and medial/lateral previously investigated (Perry et al. 2000; Zettel et al. 2002).

We hypothesize that by differentially recruiting a common pool of muscle synergies with specific biomechanical functions, the CNS can direct the movement of the CoM in both non-stepping and stepping postural responses. We first determined whether the same muscle synergies were recruited in both stepping and non-stepping postural response to perturbation or whether different sets of muscle synergies were recruited during these two postural strategies. Furthermore, we examined whether the recruitment of muscle synergies in both types of response were related to a consistent biomechanical function such as to displace the CoM or to produce particular forces in a particular direction, or whether the recruitment was related to perturbation direction. We predicted the same muscle synergies would be used in the stance leg during both stepping and nonstepping postural behaviors to produce similar forces at the ground and CoM acceleration in the two behaviors, but that the recruitment of these functional muscle synergies would differ across stepping and non-stepping responses depending on the desired direction of CoM motion. Alternatively, if muscle synergies were instead patterned in direct response to somatosensory feedback, we would expect to see the same muscle synergies activated for the same perturbation directions in both non-stepping and stepping responses – even when the resulting CoM acceleration was in opposite directions.
#### 2.2 Methods

In order to determine whether the same muscle synergies are recruited during non-stepping and stepping postural behaviors, and whether they are related to a behavioral goal, we recorded human postural responses to support surface translations. Twelve ramp-and-hold perturbation directions were applied in the horizontal plane, and the presentation order was randomized. Subjects were instructed to maintain their balance, and to step with their left foot if a step was necessary to recover their balance. Subjects participated in two sets of perturbations: the first was a larger, faster set that caused a stepping response, the second was a smaller, slower set, during which they maintained balance without moving their feet. Muscle synergies were extracted from the non-stepping condition and the stepping condition individually and compared; muscle synergies extracted from non-stepping were subsequently used to reconstruct the stepping trials. If the stepping data were not sufficiently explained by the non-stepping muscle synergies, additional stepping-specific muscle synergies were then extracted. Finally, we identified functional muscle synergies by incorporating kinematic and kinetic data into our dataset for analysis in order to determine whether the recruitment of muscle synergies was correlated to the production of a consistent biomechanical function.

# 2.2.1 Data Collection

Eight healthy subjects (5 male, 3 female) between the ages of 21 and 27 were exposed to two sets of support-surface translations according to an experimental protocol that was approved by the Institutional Review Boards of Georgia Tech and Emory. Subjects stood on a platform that translated in 12 equally spaced directions in the

horizontal plane (see Figure 2.1). They were instructed to maintain balance without stepping if possible, but if a step was necessary, to step with their left foot. This was done to ensure steps would be reactive and not voluntary, intentional steps. Two blocks of ramp-and-hold perturbations in each of these 12 directions were presented. In the stepping block, the platform's displacement was 23 cm, velocity was 45 cm/s and acceleration was 0.75g. In the non-stepping block, the platform's displacement was 12.4 cm, velocity was 35 cm/s, and acceleration was 0.5g. The perturbation directions were randomized during each block of perturbations to minimize anticipatory adjustments and increase response variability. Due to the influence of prior trials on a subject's response (Horak and Nashner 1986), we first collected the stepping block of trials and then the non-stepping block of trials. Five trials of each condition (stepping and non-stepping) in each of the 12 directions of perturbation were collected. In the stepping condition, all subjects took a step in response to perturbations in all directions. Occasionally subjects stepped with their right foot and these trials were excluded from the analysis. In the nonstepping condition, all subjects maintained balance without taking a step.

Since many muscles are required for the muscle synergy analysis, surface EMG activity was recorded at 1080 Hz from sixteen lower back and leg muscles on the subject's right side, which was the stance leg in stepping responses. The muscles recorded include: vastus lateralis (VLAT), rectus femoris (RFEM), rectus abdominis (REAB), biceps femoris, long head (BFLH), semitendinosus (SEMT), adductor magnus (ADMG), erector spinae (ERSP), abdominal external oblique (EXOB), vastus medialis (VMED), tibialis anterior (TA), medial gastrocnemius (MGAS), lateral gastrocnemius (LGAS), soleus (SOL), peroneus (PERO), tensor fasciae latae (TFL), and gluteus medialis

(GMED). EMG data were high pass filtered at 35 Hz, de-meaned, rectified, and low-pass filtered at 40 Hz, using custom MATLAB routines. Additionally, kinetic data were collected at 1080 Hz from force plates under the feet (AMTI, Watertown, MA) and kinematic data were collected at 120 Hz using a motion capture system (Vicon, Centennial, CO) and a custom 25-marker set that included head-arms-trunk (HAT), and bilateral thigh, shank, and foot segments (Winter 1990). CoM acceleration was calculated from ground reaction forces (F=ma), and CoM position was calculated using kinematic data and the Vicon Plug-in-Gait model. CoM velocity computed from integrated force data. The CoM displacement and velocity were not used in the functional muscle synergy analysis.

#### **2.2.2 Data Processing**

To account for temporal variations in muscle activity, four time bins were analyzed: one before the perturbation and three during the automatic postural response. The platform moved at 500 ms after the beginning of the trial. A background period beginning 50 ms after we began collecting data and ending 170 ms before the perturbation onset was analyzed in order to determine the resting activity of each muscle. The automatic postural response (APR) has been well-characterized and occurs ~100 ms following the perturbation (Horak and Macpherson 1996); due to temporal variations in muscle activity during this APR, we further divided it into 3 time bins. Each one lasted 75 ms and began 100 ms (PR1), 175 ms (PR2) and 250 ms (PR3) after the perturbation (see Figure 2.1 gray shaded areas). Mean muscle activity for each muscle during each time bin was calculated for each trial. These numbers were assembled to form a data matrix, which consisted of 4 time bins x 12 directions x 5 trials x 2 conditions = 480 points for each of the 16 each muscles. For display purposes, each muscle's EMG values were initially normalized to the maximum value across all time periods, perturbation directions, and conditions so that each value was between 0 and 1. Prior to extracting muscle synergies, each muscle vector was normalized to have unit variance to ensure equal weighting in the muscle synergy extraction.

Kinetic and kinematic variables were also analyzed to determine whether muscle synergy activations were consistently correlated with a particular behavioral goal. Ground reaction forces (GRF) were rotated such that the vertical forces were aligned with the limb axis (defined by the vector between the hip and ankle markers), as in Torres-Oviedo et al. (2006). The time bins used to consider ground reaction forces were 60 ms after the PR time bins used for EMG data, due to electromechanical delays (Jacobs and Macpherson 1996). Therefore, the time windows for the 3 PR periods were 160-235, 235-310, and 310-385 ms following perturbation onset for forces. Background forces were subtracted from the forces in each time period, so the force data represents a change from background. In order to use non-negative matrix factorization (described later), the positive and negative components of the forces were separated, resulting in 6 additional data rows to be included in the matrix (Fx+, Fx-, Fy+, Fy-, Fz+, and Fz-). For display purposes, each row was normalized to the maximum value across all time periods, perturbation directions, and conditions, so that each value was between 0 and 1. Similarly, CoM acceleration data were analyzed the same way as GRF. CoM acceleration was averaged over 3 time periods: 160-235, 235-310, and 310-385 ms

following perturbation onset, and background CoM acceleration was subtracted out. The positive and negative components were separated, each row normalized to the maximum value, and then averaged over the same time periods as were used for GRFs. Each functional variable was added into the data matrix of EMG data for extraction of functional muscle synergies, which is described below. The large passive forces that occur in the vertical force component due to perturbation dynamics and changes in weight bearing were a confounding factor. In some perturbation directions (leftward), the vertical forces were mostly passive in the stepping condition, due to the movement of the platform rather than active muscle activation. Because we were primarily interested in the directional control of forces in the horizontal plane due to muscle synergy recruitment, we included only the 4 components of horizontal-plane force (Fx+, Fx-, Fy+, Fy-) in the muscle synergy analysis. As with the EMG data, each row was normalized to have unit variance before extracting functional muscle synergies to ensure a uniform representation of variance across the data pool.

#### 2.2.3 Extraction of Muscle Synergies

We extracted muscle synergies from the data matrix of EMG recordings using nonnegative matrix factorization (NNMF) described by Lee and Seung (Lee and Seung 1999; Tresch et al. 1999), which has previously been used for muscle synergy analysis (Ting and Macpherson 2005; Torres-Oviedo and Ting 2007). This is a linear decomposition technique that assumes that a muscle activation pattern, M, in a given time period which was evoked by a perturbation in a particular direction is comprised of a linear combination of a few muscle synergies,  $W_i$ , that are each recruited by a synergy

recruitment coefficient,  $c_i$ . Therefore, a particular muscle activation pattern at a particular time in response to a particular perturbation would be represented by:

$$M = c_1 W_1 + c_2 W_2 + c_3 W_3 + \dots$$

 $W_i$  specifies the muscles involved in synergy *i* and their relative contributions. Each component of  $W_i$  represents the contribution of one particular muscle to that synergy, and an individual muscle may contribute to multiple synergies. The muscle synergies do not change composition across conditions, and each one is multiplied by a scalar recruitment coefficient,  $c_i$ , which changes over time and across conditions. The recruitment coefficient,  $c_i$ , is hypothesized to represent the neural command that specifies how that synergy is modulated over time, and how much each synergy will contribute to a muscle's total activity pattern (Ting 2007). After extracting functional muscle synergies, the unit variance scaling was removed from data so that each muscle, kinetic, and kinematic variable ranged from 0-1 to permit data inspection and interpretation.

To select the number of muscle synergies that could best reproduce our data we extracted 1-16 synergies from 60% of the non-stepping trials for each subject, and used these to reconstruct the EMG data from the remaining non-stepping trials (for cross validation) and from the stepping trials. These were termed "shared" muscle synergies. We selected the fewest number of "shared" muscle synergies (*Nsyn*) that could adequately reconstruct the muscle responses in the non-stepping condition. The goodness of fit of the data reconstruction using the muscle synergies was quantified by the data variability accounted for (VAF), defined as 100 x uncentered Pearson's correlation coefficient (Torres-Oviedo et al. 2006; Zar 1999). We selected *Nsyn* that accounted for at least 90% of the overall non-stepping data variability (i.e., VAF >90%). Note that overall

VAF was found by calculating VAF for the entire non-stepping dataset. Moreover, we also had a local criterion in which Nsyn accounted for at least 75% of the data variability in each muscle and each condition. Muscle VAF and condition VAF were calculated by considering only a portion of the non-stepping dataset. Muscle VAF for each muscle quantified the extent to which the muscle synergies accounted for variability in the activity of individual muscles across all time bins, perturbation directions, and trials. Condition VAF for each perturbation direction quantified the extent to which the muscle synergies accounted for the variability in muscle activation patterns formed by the response of all 16 muscles to a single perturbation direction during one time bin across all 5 trials. This local fit criterion was more stringent and ensured that relevant features of the data set were reproduced. The number of muscle synergies was increased until they could account for > 75% muscle VAF in each muscle and for > 75% condition VAF in each perturbation direction, and further increased if local fits were improved. However, if an additional muscle synergy contributed evenly to the VAF across muscles and perturbation directions, it was not included because it likely represented noise in the data rather than variations due to trial or perturbation direction. Nsvn was also validated using factor analysis (FA): 1-16 factors were extracted and the log likelihood of each was plotted vs. number of factors. *Nsyn* was chosen by finding the point on the log-likelihood curve where curvature is greatest (Tresch et al. 2006).

To validate *Nsyn* we compared the overall VAF using the identified muscle synergies to the overall VAF using muscle synergies extracted from shuffled data. We estimated 95% bootstrap confidence intervals (CI) for the overall VAF when using 1 to 16 muscle synergies extracted from the original data and 1 to 16 muscle synergies

extracted from a shuffled data set. We used bootstrapping with replacement (Cheung et al. 2009; Efron 1993) to resample each data matrix. The overall VAF due to reconstruction by either the 1 to 16 muscle synergies extracted from the original data or the 1 to 16 muscle synergies selected from shuffled data was calculated for 500 resampled datasets to generate confidence intervals. VAF values were sorted, and 95% confidence interval bounds were estimated by selecting the 2.5 and 97.5 percentiles of the VAF distribution. In the shuffled version of the original data matrix, each muscle's data were shuffled independently, therefore, this shuffled data matrix contained the same values, range, and variance for each muscle, but the relationships between muscle activations were removed. The VAF CI found using the muscle synergies extracted from the original dataset was compared to the VAF CI found using muscle synergies from shuffled data.

"Stepping-specific" muscle synergies were extracted from stepping data that was not accounted for by the "shared" muscle synergies described above. To this end, we used an iterative algorithm that held fixed the shared muscle synergies extracted from non-stepping data while optimizing a new set of muscle synergies, termed "stepping-specific", extracted from the remainder of the variability in the stepping data not accounted for by the shared muscle synergies (Cheung et al. 2009; Torres-Oviedo and Ting 2010). In this iterative process the recruitment coefficients of shared and stepping-specific muscle synergies were also optimized. We extracted 1-5 stepping-specific muscle synergies and selected the fewest number of muscle synergies (shared and specific) that could adequately reconstruct the stepping responses, as measured by VAF > 90% of the overall data, and > 75% of the muscle and condition VAF (described above).

Moreover, to validate the shared and stepping-specific muscle synergies we compared them to muscle synergies extracted from data in both conditions (i.e., non-stepping and stepping) and from data in each condition alone. The quantification of similarity between muscle synergy sets is described in the *Data Analysis* section.

To determine if the muscle synergy activations were related to a particular biomechanical function or behavioral goal, we extracted 1-16 functional muscle synergies from a data matrix of non-stepping trials that contained muscle activity as well as forces under the feet and CoM acceleration (forces and CoM acceleration were lagged 60ms behind EMG, as discussed above). Because we used NNMF to extract muscle synergies, all of the input data needed to be positive; therefore positive and negative components of force and CoM acceleration were separated as previously described. Functional muscle synergies were extracted from non-stepping data first, and then used to reconstruct the stepping data. If necessary, stepping-specific functional muscle synergies were also extracted. As a validation, functional muscle synergies were also extracted from EMG and force data without CoM acceleration data, and from EMG and CoM acceleration data without force data included.

#### 2.2.4 Data Analysis

Once  $N_{syn}$  and an appropriate number of stepping-specific functional muscle synergies (if needed) were selected, the functional muscle synergies were used to reconstruct the EMG, force, and CoM acceleration patterns for the stepping and nonstepping trials. Measured data and reconstructed data were compared for a particular muscle, force, CoM acceleration component, or perturbation direction for each of the five

trials to examine the ability of the synergies to account for inter-trial variations. Similarity between measured and reconstructed data was quantified using  $r^2$  and VAF (Torres-Oviedo et al. 2006; Zar 1999). We also examined whether the functional muscle synergies could account for temporal and spatial variations in muscle activation, force, and CoM acceleration patterns.

Similarity between two different sets of muscle synergies was determined by calculating correlation coefficients (r) between each muscle synergy vector in the first set and each in the second set. A pair of muscle synergies was considered "similar" if they had r > 0.623, which corresponds to the critical value of  $r^2$  for 16 muscles at p=0.01 ( $r^2$ =0.388). An additional analysis was performed to ensure the muscle synergy "matches" we selected were more similar than would be expected by chance. We calculated the expected mean r ( $\mu$ ) and standard deviation ( $\sigma$ ) based on comparing the first set of muscle synergies. Then we transformed the r-values between our actual synergy comparison to the standard normal variable, *Z*, using  $Z = X - \mu / \sigma$ , where X is the r-value between one synergy in the first set and one in the second set. An r greater than 0.623 corresponds to a Z-score > 2.409, indicating the pair of muscle synergies is statistically more similar than would be expected by chance (p < 0.008). All of the muscle synergy pairs that we call "similar" met this criterion.

# 2.3 Results

For all subjects, a few muscle synergies reproduced both stepping and nonstepping responses to multidirectional balance perturbations, accounting for temporal,

spatial, and inter-trial variability in muscle activation patterns as well as task-level variables such as GRF and CoM acceleration. Different patterns of muscle activity were observed in these two very different tasks, resulting in variations in muscle tuning. Common muscle synergies in the stance leg were used in both non-stepping and stepping responses. In stepping responses, one additional stepping-specific muscle synergy was required in all subjects, perhaps providing stabilization to the stance limb to swing the stepping limb forward. Furthermore, functional muscle synergies (which included forces and CoM accelerations) were able to account for force direction and CoM acceleration direction in both non-stepping and stepping responses.

#### 2.3.1 Non-stepping vs. stepping responses

In all subjects, following perturbations, CoM movement and forces under the stance foot were initially similar in both behaviors (PR1), but diverged in PR2 or PR3 in stepping versus non-stepping behaviors. For example, forces during a 300° perturbation were initially similar in stepping and non-stepping (Figure 2.1, PR1). In both conditions the right leg was initially unloaded in PR1 as a result of the perturbation. In non-stepping behaviors the right limb was slowly loaded again after PR3 as the subject regained balance (Figure 2.1). However in stepping responses, the right limb was rapidly loaded during PR2 so that the subject could take a step with the left leg, and then the right leg was slowly unloaded as body weight was redistributed onto both legs after PR3. (Figure 2.1, compare PR1 to PR3). Similarly, for all subjects the CoM was initially accelerated and displaced away from the feet in both stepping and non-stepping responses, the CoM continued

moving in the same direction away from the feet in the later time periods (PR2 and PR3), whereas in non-stepping responses, the CoM was accelerated in the opposite direction returning the CoM back above the feet during PR2 and PR3 (Figure 2.1).



**Figure 2.1** Example of postural responses to a backward and rightward perturbation of the support surface (A), and to a frontward and leftward perturbation of the support surface (B). Balance perturbations were induced by ramp-and-hold perturbations in 12 evenly spaced directions in the horizontal plane. Platform displacement and acceleration profiles used to induce non-stepping (gray) or stepping (black) responses are shown. EMG responses occur ~100 ms after the onset of platform motion (vertical dashed line). Shown here are tibialis anterior (TA), rectus femoris (RFEM), peroneus (PERO), and biceps femoris long head (BFLH) EMG responses. Mean EMG activity was calculated for 3 time bins during the automatic postural response (PR), indicated by the shaded region, beginning 100ms (PR1), 175ms (PR2), and 250ms (PR3) following perturbation, as well as one background time period. Ground reaction forces under the right foot as well as center of mass (CoM) position and acceleration are also shown.

CoM motion



**Figure 2.2** Center of mass (CoM) displacement during non-stepping (gray) and stepping (black) responses to perturbations, from 500ms before the perturbation until 150ms after the platform stopped moving. Shown are the mean and standard deviation for the 5 trials in each direction for one subject. The circle at the hook of each trace marks the point at which the platform stopped moving. In both conditions, the CoM was initially displaced 10-12 cm in the direction opposite the platform movement. In non-stepping responses, the CoM then moves back towards the starting position, whereas in stepping responses, the CoM continues moving away from the starting position as the subject took a step.

Likewise, following perturbations, EMG activity was initially similar in the two behaviors (PR1), but diverged at later time points depending upon which behavior was used (Figure 2.1). The latencies to muscle onset and initial muscle activation patterns (PR1) were similar in both non-stepping and stepping responses. The latency to step initiation ranged from 130-280ms after perturbation onset. Across all perturbation directions, muscles had the same tuning in both behaviors during PR1 (Figure 2.3). The tuning directions in non-stepping responses stayed the same throughout the postural response. However, in stepping responses, the muscle tunings were dramatically different by PR3. For example, during PR3, PERO was most active during stepping responses for rightward lateral perturbations, whereas it was most active for leftward lateral perturbations during non-stepping responses (Fig 3, PR3). Likewise, SOL was most active in stepping responses for leftward, forward perturbations, but in non-stepping responses it was most active for leftward, backward perturbations in PR3.



**Figure 2.3** Muscle tuning curves for all 16 muscles during non-stepping (gray) and stepping (black) responses during time windows PR1 and PR3 for a representative subject. Muscle tuning curves vary in magnitude over all perturbation directions, and their shapes vary from muscle to muscle, over time, and between non-stepping and stepping responses. Shown are the mean tuning curves  $\pm$  standard deviations for 5 trials in each perturbation direction, presented randomly.

#### 2.3.2 Muscle synergies were shared between non-stepping and stepping responses

In non-stepping postural responses, four to six muscle synergies per subject were

sufficient to account for >90% total variability and >75% variability in each muscle and

condition (all 4 time bins, 12 perturbation directions, and 5 trials of each) in the EMG data. These values are several confidence intervals higher than would be expected by chance. Confidence intervals for VAF of extracted muscle synergies did not overlap with VAF confidence intervals of muscle synergies extracted from shuffled data except for the case where only one muscle synergy was extracted (Figure 2.4A, Subject 1). Five muscle synergies were selected for subject 1, and the VAF CI confirmed this selection since this was the lowest number of muscle synergies required for the upper bound of the CI to exceed 90% VAF (Cheung et al. 2009) The lower bound of the VAF CI for 5 muscle synergies was 2.45 CIs above the VAF CI for 5 muscle synergies extracted from shuffled data (Figure 2.4A). Across subjects, the lower bound of the VAF CI for the selected number of muscle synergies (4-6 muscle synergies per subject) was  $2.51 \pm 0.79$  CIs above the same number of muscle synergies extracted from shuffled source data.

Several analyses demonstrated that muscle synergies used in the stance leg were shared between stepping and non-stepping responses. Figure 2.4B shows the results for one of the multiple comparisons performed between muscle synergy sets in a sample subject. Muscle synergies extracted from non-stepping data were shuffled 22,000 times and compared to muscle synergies extracted from stepping to generate a distribution of rvalues expected by chance (Figure 2.4B). Note that the r-values that result when comparing muscle synergies extracted from the non-stepping data to those extracted from the stepping data fall beyond the threshold of r-values expected by chance (r > 0.623corresponding to a Z-score > 2.409) (Figure 2.4B). Four of the five muscle synergies extracted from non-stepping in subject 1 were similar to four of the five muscle synergies extracted from stepping in the same subject (r > 0.74) (Figure 2.4B). The distribution of

Z-scores for the r-values between all muscle synergies extracted from stepping and nonstepping was bimodal, with the muscle synergies considered to be similar clustered toward the upper end of the distribution. Across subjects, in stepping responses, five to seven muscle synergies were required; 4-6 of the stepping muscle synergies were similar to those from non-stepping, and there was one additional muscle synergy used only during stepping responses. Furthermore, when muscle synergies were extracted from a data matrix containing both non-stepping and stepping trials, similar muscle synergies were identified (Figure 2.4C). Four muscle synergies were found to be similar across all four different extractions using different data pools (Figure 2.4C). To illustrate the range of fits, Figure 2.4C displays examples of a muscle synergy that was very similar across extractions ( $W_5$ ) and another muscle synergy which had relatively low r values, but was still considered similar ( $W_1$ ).



**Figure 2.4** Confidence intervals of reconstruction VAF and muscle synergy comparison. A) 95% confidence intervals (CI) of the reconstruction VAF estimated using bootstrapping (black lines) and 95% CIs of the reconstruction VAF when muscle synergies were extracted from a shuffled matrix of the same data (gray lines). For subject 1 (shown here), five muscle synergies were selected, and the lower bound of the VAF CI for 5 muscle synergies was 2.45 CIs above the VAF CI for 5 muscle synergies extracted from shuffled data. B) Demonstration of the criteria used to quantify muscle synergy similarity. Muscle synergies extracted from shuffled non-stepping data were compared to muscle synergies extracted from stepping to generate a distribution of Z-scores for how similar two muscle synergies are predicted to be based on chance (gray histogram). The Z-scores for the comparisons between the actual muscle synergies from non-stepping and

the muscle synergies from stepping are shown as black vertical lines. A pair of muscle synergies was considered "similar" if r > 0.623, corresponding to a Z-score > 2.409 (dotted vertical line). For subject 1, four of the five muscle synergies extracted from nonstepping were similar to four of the five muscle synergies extracted from stepping. C) Comparison of muscle synergies extracted from various combinations of data. Shown are two muscle synergies, W5 and W1, from a representative subject. Shared and specific: muscle synergies extracted from 60% of non-stepping trials and used to reconstruct the remaining non-stepping data as well as stepping responses. This was the final processing method selected and these are the muscle synergies shown in Figure 2.5. All other extracted muscle synergies are compared to these. Stepping and non-stepping: muscle synergies identified from all of the non-stepping and stepping data combined into one large data matrix. Shown are r values from comparing these vectors to these identified using the shared/specific algorithm. Non-stepping: muscle synergies extracted from all of the non-stepping data only. Stepping: muscle synergies extracted from all of the stepping data only. Extracted muscle synergies were similar regardless of the datasets used for analysis, suggesting that they are conserved across conditions.

Therefore, for the rest of our analyses, muscle synergies were extracted from 60% of non-stepping trials ("shared synergies") and used to reconstruct the remaining non-stepping trials (cross-validation) as well as the stepping data. The shared muscle synergies could account for  $93\pm1\%$  of the overall variability (VAF between EMG and reconstruction for the entire dataset) and  $79\pm7\%$  variability across muscles and conditions in the non-stepping behavior (average VAF for individual muscles and conditions, across all subjects). These shared muscle synergies also could account for  $85\pm3\%$  of the overall variability and  $72\pm7\%$  variability across muscles and conditions in the stepping behavior. With the addition of one extra "stepping-specific" muscle synergy, the overall variability accounted for was increased to  $91\pm2\%$  in stepping, and  $81\pm4\%$  variability across muscles and conditions. For all subjects, these muscle synergies were similar to those extracted from each behavior individually and together (r =  $0.83 \pm 0.10$ ; Figure 2.4C). The compositions of the shared muscle synergies were similar to those found previously during non-stepping postural responses (Torres-Oviedo

and Ting 2007) and were comprised of muscles spanning multiple joints (Figure 2.5). In each subject, there was an additional muscle synergy used in stepping that was not found in non-stepping responses which was typically composed of the vasti and RFEM, as well as GMED, a muscle important in walking. It was strongly activated for forward perturbations (in which the subject takes a step backwards), perhaps providing forces to stabilize the stance limb or push the swing leg backward.



**Figure 2.5** Muscle synergy vectors and recruitment coefficients for a representative subject. Muscle synergy vectors  $W_1$ - $W_5$  were extracted from EMG data during nonstepping responses and used to reconstruct stepping responses.  $W_6$  is an additional stepping-specific muscle synergy required to achieve a good reconstruction of stepping responses. Shown are the average muscle synergy recruitment coefficients for 5 trials in each perturbation direction for both non-stepping responses (gray) and stepping responses (color). Directional tuning of muscle synergies can be observed over the 3 response time bins, as well as differences in muscle synergy recruitment between non-stepping and stepping responses.

# 2.3.3 Muscle synergy recruitment tuning curves explain individual muscle differences in non-stepping and stepping responses

In all subjects, the muscle synergy tuning curves initially had similar tuning directions (PR1 and PR2), but later (PR3) changed tuning direction if a stepping behavior was selected. Similar to individual muscle tuning, muscle synergy tuning with respect to perturbation direction was maintained across all three time bins during non-stepping responses (Figure 2.5, gray curves), but changed by PR3 in stepping responses (Figure 2.5, colored curves). In this subject as well as the others, each muscle synergy had the same tuning in PR1 and PR2 in both non-stepping and stepping responses. In nonstepping responses, this same tuning was maintained in PR3, whereas for stepping responses, the tuning of some of the muscle synergies changed. For example,  $W_3$  (Figure 2.5, red), comprised mainly of TA and quadriceps muscles, was recruited in forward perturbations in PR1 and PR2 in both stepping and non-stepping responses, as well as PR3 in non-stepping, as the subject had fallen backward and was trying to pull their body forward to restore balance. In PR3 in stepping responses, however, W<sub>3</sub> was recruited much less, as the subject had switched behaviors and had begun to take a step backward. Instead, the subject used the stepping-specific muscle synergy,  $W_6$  (Figure 2.5, dark green), in forward perturbations during PR2 and PR3, when the switch had been made to a stepping behavior. During stepping responses, W<sub>4</sub> (Figure 2.5, blue) changed from being recruited in forward, leftward perturbations in PR1 to being recruited for backward, leftward perturbations by PR3. These trends were seen in multiple subjects.

The shifts in muscle synergy tuning direction could explain the patterns of muscle activity (and individual muscle tuning curves) observed in both non-stepping and stepping behaviors (comparison between real and reconstructed tuning curves in both non-stepping and stepping:  $r^2=0.77\pm0.24$ , VAF=94±6%; Figure 2.6). For example, BFLH changed tuning in PR3 in stepping responses, and it was activated by W<sub>4</sub> (Figure 2.6, blue). TA turned off during PR3 in stepping responses, and it was activated by W<sub>3</sub> (Figure 2.6, red). VLAT had similar tuning during PR3 in non-stepping and stepping, but was activated by different synergies. In non-stepping, W<sub>3</sub> (Figure 2.6, red) was responsible for activating VLAT, whereas in stepping, the stepping-specific muscle synergy W<sub>6</sub> (Figure 2.6, green) activated VLAT. Thus the muscle synergies were able to reproduce changes in muscle activation patterns with both perturbation direction and time.



**Figure 2.6** Reconstructions of the muscle tuning curves using the muscle synergies shown in Figure 2.5. Original data are shown by a dashed line and reconstructed data are shown by a solid line (non-stepping in gray and stepping in black). The contribution of each muscle synergy to the reconstruction is shown by the corresponding colored line, all of which are added to generate the total reconstruction. Average  $r^2$  between each muscle tuning curve and the muscle synergy reconstruction is  $0.77\pm0.24$ , and average variability accounted for (VAF) between each muscle tuning curve and the muscle synergy reconstruction is  $94\pm6\%$ .

# 2.3.4 Functional muscle synergies reveal correlations between muscle synergies and task-level goals

The composition and tuning of the muscle synergies within each subject were not changed by including force and CoM acceleration in the analysis, illustrating that force and CoM acceleration tuning curves were well correlated with muscle synergy tuning curves (Figure 2.7). For all subjects, the muscle synergy composition was preserved when muscle synergies were extracted from EMG and forces only, EMG and CoM acceleration only, as well as EMG, forces, and CoM acceleration together (r=0.83±0.12). Similarly, the muscle synergy tuning curves were conserved when the functional variables were included in the analysis. Because of the similarities in functional muscle synergies observed when extracting functional muscle synergies from non-stepping or stepping responses individually, we used the same approach here as we had used to identify muscle synergies: functional muscle synergies were extracted from the non-stepping data and used to reconstruct the stepping data.



Figure 2.7 Comparison of functional muscle synergies extracted from various combinations of data for a representative subject. Functional variables such as applied forces at the ground and center of mass (CoM) acceleration taken from time windows 60ms after the EMG time windows were included in the analysis and functional muscle synergies were identified. Including the functional variables did not change the composition or recruitment of the identified EMG muscle synergies (r values comparing the muscle synergy vectors are shown). A) Comparison of the muscle synergy vector  $W_5$ extracted from 1: EMG data only, 2: EMG and force data, 3: EMG and CoM acceleration data, and 4: EMG, force, and CoM data. Shown are the EMG portions of each of the functional muscle synergies, which were not changed by including the functional variables, as well as the force and CoM acceleration vectors identified from each extraction. B) Muscle synergy recruitment tuning curves from each of the aforementioned combinations of data. Including the functional variables did not affect the muscle synergy tuning, validating that those forces and CoM accelerations are consistently produced 60ms after that muscle synergy is recruited.

Each functional muscle synergy was composed of specific vectors of EMG, force

at the ground and CoM acceleration (Figure 2.8). Because the forces and CoM

acceleration values we included were delayed 60ms after the EMG values, we presumed

they were the result of recruiting that muscle synergy. For example, in 90° perturbations,

the body initially fell backward, and then in non-stepping responses, appropriate muscles were activated to produce a force forward ( $W_3$ , Figure 2.8, red) and accelerate the CoM forward ( $W_2$ , Figure 2.8, purple) to return the CoM above the feet. However, in stepping responses, in PR3,  $W_3$  (Figure 2.8, red) was turned off and  $W_6$  (Figure 2.8, dark green) was instead recruited, consistent with producing a force forward and accelerating the CoM backward as the subject stepped backward. One extra functional muscle synergy was required when CoM acceleration is included, comprised only of rightward CoM acceleration, tuned for rightward perturbations, presumably correlated to activity in the other leg, since no muscle synergies in the stance leg were activated for that perturbation direction.



**Figure 2.8** Functional muscle synergies for a representative subject. Functional variables such as applied forces at the ground and center of mass (CoM) acceleration taken from time windows 60ms after the EMG time windows were included in the analysis and functional muscle synergies were identified. Shown are the muscle synergies along with the force and CoM acceleration vector associated with each muscle synergy. The pink

CoM acceleration trace is a component identified by the functional muscle synergy analysis that is not attributable to muscle activity in the stance leg.

The functional muscle synergies containing EMGs and biomechanical variables explained variations in EMG, force direction, and CoM acceleration data in both behaviors. EMG and CoM accelerations were well reconstructed for both non-stepping and stepping responses in terms of both direction and magnitude using the functional muscle synergies ( $r^2=0.77\pm0.24$ , VAF=91±11%; Figure 2.9). The forces during stepping responses that were predicted by the functional muscle synergies from non-stepping were in the appropriate directions, but some of the magnitudes were underpredicted ( $r^2=0.70\pm0.12$ , VAF=68±2%), perhaps due to the much larger forces involved when the other leg was lifted off the ground. The  $r^2$  for force reconstructions is comparable to that of EMG and COM reconstructions, but the VAF for force reconstructions is much lower, indicating the force tuning curve shapes were well reconstructed by the muscle synergies, but the magnitudes were not predicted as well. Functional muscle synergies extracted from stepping alone contained larger forces in the same direction as in non-stepping, which may have been due to the different loading conditions in stepping.



**Figure 2.9** Reconstructions of the force and CoM tuning curves using the functional muscle synergies shown in Figure 2.8. Original data are shown by a dashed line and reconstructed data are shown by a solid line (non-stepping in gray and stepping in black). The contribution of each muscle synergy to the reconstruction is shown by the corresponding colored line, all of which are added to generate the total reconstruction. Goodness-of-fit is indicated by  $r^2$  and VAF between each force or CoM acceleration tuning curve and the muscle synergy reconstruction.

## 2.3.5 Similar muscle synergies were found across subjects

In general, the muscle synergies were robust across subjects. Different subjects

had different numbers of muscle synergies, but there were commonalities in composition

and tuning of muscle synergies across subjects.  $W_5$  was similar across all 8 subjects (r=0.74±0.07) and  $W_4$  was similar across 7 of 8 subjects (r=0.82±0.06). The muscle synergies also performed similar functions, as evidenced by the muscle synergy recruitment tuning curves (Figure 2.10). The subject without  $W_4$  used a different muscle synergy to respond to perturbations in the same direction as  $W_4$ , as illustrated by the similarity in the tuning curves of the subject's muscle synergy and that of  $W_4$  in the other subjects.  $W_3$  was another shared synergy similar across 6 subjects (r=0.75±0.05) and  $W_1$  was similar across 4 subjects (r=0.75±0.10); the remaining subject had different muscle synergies with similar directional tuning. A few other muscle synergy,  $W_6$ , found in 5 of the 8 subjects was similar across subjects (r=0.67±0.05) and was recruited for the same perturbation directions.



**Figure 2.10** Comparison of muscle synergy  $W_5$  and its corresponding force vector and CoM acceleration vector (A), as well as the corresponding recruitment tuning curve (B) across all subjects. One muscle synergy ( $W_5$ ) was very similar across all subjects, another was similar across 7 of the 8 subjects ( $W_4$ ), one was similar across 6 subjects ( $W_3$ ), one muscle synergy was similar across 4 subjects ( $W_1$ ) and the remaining muscle synergies were subject-specific. In some cases, subjects would use a different muscle synergy to produce a similar force or CoM acceleration, indicating the different strategies people have learned in order to maintain balance.

## 2.4 Discussion

Our results suggest that muscle synergies reflect the neural organization of the motor system, representing motor modules recruited to achieve a common biomechanical function across different postural behaviors. We observed that the same muscle synergies were recruited during postural behaviors with different movement dynamics (stepping

and non-stepping), but most importantly, their recruitment was determined by the desired direction of CoM motion and not by the perturbation direction. These results demonstrate that the identified muscle synergies do not simply reflect somatosensory patterns triggering the responses, but rather motor modules flexibly recruited to produce biomechanical functions required to stabilize the CoM. Therefore, our results suggest there are separate sensory and motor transformations used by the nervous system to interpret sensory inflow and to construct motor outputs. Consistent neural structures may thus be flexibly accessed and differentially recruited during different motor behaviors by breaking motor activities into their component tasks.

We observed diverse postural responses that became increasingly more complex over time, suggesting the involvement of higher neural centers. While the initial longlatency muscular activity (~100 ms) associated with the automatic postural response was similar in stepping and non-stepping responses, patterns of muscle activity diverged after about 200 ms when a stepping strategy was selected. This observation was consistent across multidirectional postural responses, despite the fact that step latencies varied by direction and step type (i.e., lateral versus crossover steps). We observed lateral and crossover steps in our study due to the constraint that subjects were required to step with the left leg, however, subjects may naturally choose to use crossover steps even when they are not prompted to do so (King and Horak 2008; Perry et al. 2000). Prior studies have also demonstrated similar muscle onset latencies in the same muscles for nonstepping and stepping responses (Burleigh et al. 1994; McIlroy and Maki 1993a), but the changes in the patterns of muscular activity over time were not investigated. Similarly, it has been suggested that stepping responses are triggered only after the failure of a non-

stepping postural response (Horak and Nashner 1986), but our data suggest that stepping muscle activity is initiated before significant destabilization of the body occurs (McIlroy and Maki 1993a). Moreover, the initial muscular response latency during stumbling has been shown to be the same (~50ms), even when later muscle activity (~120ms) corresponding to distinct corrective strategies differ (van der Linden et al. 2007). Long-latency postural response activity at about 100 ms has been demonstrated to be unaffected by cortical pathways (Woollacott and Shumway-Cook 2002) and the concurrent performance of voluntary motor tasks (Trivedi et al. 2010). Only later muscle activity (~150-350 ms) is modified by attentional factors (Woollacott and Shumway-Cook 2002) or secondary motor goals (Trivedi et al. 2010). Thus, the sequence of postural response events following a perturbation may reflect the sequential and increasingly complex influences of nested hierarchy of neural mechanisms (Ting et al. 2009).

Our results suggest muscle synergies represent a common underlying motor structure for postural responses that is independent of specific sensory patterns. We observed the same set of muscle synergies were recruited when the desired CoM acceleration to recover balance was the same in the stepping and non-stepping responses, but the perturbation directions triggering the responses were different. The differences in the timing and spatial organization of individual muscle activity in the stepping and nonstepping responses were largely explained by altering the recruitment of a common set of muscle synergies, with the addition of only a single muscle synergy specific to the stepping behavior. Shared and specific muscle synergies have also been demonstrated across different motor behaviors such as frog swimming, kicking, and jumping (Cheung

et al. 2009; Cheung et al. 2005; d'Avella and Bizzi 2005; Hart and Giszter 2004a; Kargo and Giszter 2000), human balance control (Torres-Oviedo and Ting 2010), and primate hand movements such as grasping (Acharya et al. 2008; Hamed et al. 2007; Overduin et al. 2008). In contrast, a few studies using principal components analysis (PCA) rather than NMF have shown that muscle synergies or m-modes are all reshaped under new conditions (task, time window, etc.) (Danna-Dos-Santos et al. 2007; Robert et al. 2008). The differences in the identified motor modules may reflect a limitation of the chosen decomposition method (Ting and Chvatal 2010; Tresch et al. 2006), or perhaps differences in the type of motor task. Deafferentation studies further support the idea that muscle synergy composition is largely conserved in the absence of somatosensory feedback (Cheung et al. 2005; Giszter et al. 2007; Kargo and Giszter 2000). Moreover, our results suggest muscle synergy recruitment for balance control is determined by task variables such as CoM motion rather than local sensory inputs. This idea is supported by previous studies showing that opposite somatosensory patterns during rotations and translations of the support-surface can elicit the same functional muscle synergies to restore balance (Torres-Oviedo et al. 2006). Although somatosensory feedback is essential for the timing of postural responses (Inglis et al. 1994; Stapley et al. 2002), the muscle activity in the initial postural response reflects task variables such as CoM motion (Gollhofer et al. 1989; Nashner and Mccollum 1985) rather than simple joint angle changes (Nashner 1977; Ting and Macpherson 2004). Task-level information can be derived from aggregate afferent information in the dorsal root ganglia (Weber et al. 2007), as well as in the dorso-spinal cerebellar tract (DSCT) (Bosco et al. 1996). Patterning of the initial postural response is also thought to involve brainstem pathways

(Deliagina et al. 2008; Macpherson et al. 1997). We demonstrated that similar initial patterns of sensory information could differentially recruit the same set of muscle synergies over time. These results are consistent with the fact that the same muscle synergies are also conserved across a wide range of different postural configurations in both humans (Torres-Oviedo and Ting 2010) and cats (Torres-Oviedo et al. 2006). Taken together, muscle synergies appear to be a feature of motor output organization, and are not simply emergent from patterns of sensory inputs alone.

Our results support the idea that muscle synergies are used to organize the musculoskeletal system to produce a predictable biomechanical function (Chiel et al. 2009; Ting and McKay 2007), even in different postural behaviors. We previously demonstrated a consistent relationship between muscle synergy recruitment and endpoint force production in cats across multiple postural configurations (Ting and Macpherson 2005; Torres-Oviedo et al. 2006). The stepping and non-stepping responses to the same support-surface perturbation direction elicited different muscle activity and accelerated the body in different directions. However, our functional muscle synergy analysis revealed common relationships between patterns of muscle activity and the desired biomechanical function across both behaviors. The different individual outputs observed in non-stepping and stepping responses – such as kinematics, forces, and EMGs – arise from recruiting the same muscle synergies in order to accelerate the CoM in an appropriate direction to maintain balance. We observed that during human balance control the functional muscle synergies in humans were aligned with anterior-posterior and medial-lateral directions, whereas in cats, more diagonal forces were observed, possibly due to differences in the upright stance adopted by humans as opposed to the

quadrupedal stance of cats (Dunbar et al. 1986). Muscle synergy recruitment in other motor behaviors has also been related to functional outputs (Ajiboye and Weir 2009; Clark et al. 2010; Krishnamoorthy et al. 2004; Weiss and Flanders 2004), suggesting that muscle synergies are organized according to function in a variety of contexts.

Because of the different mechanical dynamics of non-stepping and stepping responses, we only characterized the gross relationships between muscle activity and horizontal plane acceleration/force direction; however dynamic musculoskeletal simulations would be necessary to make a more quantitative assessment of the biomechanical functions of muscle synergies. Based on prior postural response studies (Jacobs and Macpherson 1996), we assumed that changes in force resulting from muscle activity could be measured at a fixed electromechanical delay of 60 ms following muscle activity. Typically this is a reasonable assumption in the early phases of the postural response because the subject begins by standing quietly, and forces change relatively little prior to the muscle onset latency. In certain perturbation directions evoking stepping responses, the perturbation caused passive loading and unloading that occurred prior to muscle activation changes. Therefore we chose to exclude vertical forces from our analysis and concentrate on the relationship between muscle synergy recruitment and horizontal force generation. Further, we concentrated on the force directions rather than magnitudes of the forces in stepping responses because changes in magnitude might be largely due to nonmuscular, passive dynamics of the body when falling before the step is taken. In some cases the dynamic forces may still have masked the direction of force produced by the muscle synergy. For example, in backward perturbations, the muscle synergies did not correctly predict the CoM acceleration direction during stepping

(Figure 2.9, CoMy–), presumably because the subject fell forward despite recruitment of a muscle synergy that would tend to accelerate the CoM backward. Although a dynamic model of stepping responses would be necessary to accurately differentiate active versus passive changes in force (Berniker et al. 2009; Kargo et al. 2010; Kautz and Hull 1993; McGowan et al. 2010; Neptune and Herzog 2000; Neptune et al. 2009b), a detailed and validated human model of muscle to force interactions during standing balance control is not currently available. Therefore, while not ideal, this analysis provides evidence of directional control of the CoM that results from the recruitment of muscle synergies, and is predictive if not mechanistic.

The decomposition of forces into positive and negative components was based on physiological and methodological reasons and allowed us to reveal possible physiological functions for muscle synergies. First, this separation of forces was made based on previous studies in postural control demonstrating that positive and negative changes in force generation are attributed to different groups of muscles (Jacobs and Macpherson 1996). This is further validated by the relationships previously found between muscle synergy activation and limb force outputs during the initial period of the postural responses in the cat (Ting and Macpherson 2005; Torres-Oviedo et al. 2006). Second, we explicitly separated the components into positive and negative vectors to allow the NNMF synergy extraction algorithm to separately identify correlations between positive and negative changes in forces and EMGs. This is particularly acceptable in postural responses since background levels of muscle activity and forces are low and opposite perturbation directions recruit antagonistic sets of muscles. Thus, we did not use alternative analyses that allow both negative and positive synergy recruitment – such as

PCA – because we believe they are not adequate to reveal physiological relationships between force and muscle activity in this behavior. For example, PCA would allow a muscle to have a negative activation to produce a force in a negative direction (Ting and Chvatal 2010). On the other hand, our analyses attributed positive and negative changes in forces to the recruitment of different muscle synergies – which describes better the antagonistic actions of muscle groups in balance control (Jacobs and Macpherson 1996).

Despite limitations of the analysis techniques, our data indicate that the addition of stance-limb forces or CoM acceleration did not alter the composition of the extracted muscle synergies, suggesting that there was a causal, linear relationship between muscle activity patterns and biomechanical outputs. Our analysis was also competent to reveal a component of CoM acceleration that was not attributable to muscle activity in the stance leg. For example, all subjects had one functional muscle synergy comprised only of CoM acceleration in the rightward and upward directions and no muscle activity tuned for rightward perturbations in non-stepping responses and the early portion of stepping responses (see Figure 2.8). This is consistent with our previous study showing a muscle synergy tuned to rightward perturbations is only revealed during one-legged balance control but not during two-legged balance control (Torres-Oviedo and Ting 2010). Presumably, during two-legged balance control, muscle activity in the left leg (not recorded here) is responsible for producing rightward CoM acceleration in response to rightward perturbations. Furthermore, our functional muscle synergy analysis was competent to decompose the stance-limb forces into components that were attributable to muscle activity in the stance limb versus other sources.
Muscle synergies may reflect spinal and brainstem structures mediating motor control across a variety of behaviors and contexts. Neurophysiological evidence suggests that initial postural responses in the limbs are not simply local reflexes, but rather an activation of a motor pattern to achieve a biomechanical goal (Carpenter et al. 1999; Dufosse et al. 1985). Neurons in the pontomedullary reticular formation (PMRF) are recruited during both reactive and anticipatory postural adjustments (Schepens et al. 2008); these firings are not correlated to individual muscle activity, but discharge in a manner consistent with the goal of restoring equilibrium (Stapley and Drew 2009). It is possible that there exist neural networks that specify the recruitment commands to a muscle synergy (C) which branch with different synaptic weights to the motoneurons of the muscles in the synergy (W) (Hart and Giszter 2010). Motoneuron synchronization has been observed in learning balance tasks (Boonstra et al. 2009), which is consistent with the fact that the recruitment, but not the structure of muscle synergies can be modulated to explain the variation in muscle activity across postural configurations (Torres-Oviedo et al. 2006; Torres-Oviedo and Ting 2010), walking speeds (Clark et al. 2010), as well as in hemi-paretic stroke subjects (Clark et al. 2010). While such modules have been hypothesized to be encoded in the spinal cord for some tasks (Hart and Giszter 2010; Saltiel et al. 2001), postural responses likely require brainstem involvement (Deliagina et al. 2008; Macpherson et al. 1997), possibly in addition to spinal centers (Drew 2008). It remains to be seen whether the same muscle synergies are used in both reactive and voluntary postural tasks, however, similar muscle tuning curves are generated during human whole body reaching tasks as in postural responses to

perturbation (Leonard et al. 2009), suggesting that motor modules may be accessible by voluntary and reactive postural tasks in humans.

# **CHAPTER 3**

# SELECTION AND MODULATION OF MUSCLE SYNERGIES DURING PERTURBATIONS TO WALKING

This chapter is in preparation for submission to the Journal of Neurophysiology.

Chvatal SA and Ting LH. Selection and modulation of muscle synergies during perturbations to walking. *J Neurophysiol* (in prep).

Our prior work has demonstrated that fixed sets of motor modules called muscle synergies underlie cycle-by-cycle variability in walking and trial-by-trial variability in multidirectional postural responses. Here, we examined whether muscle synergies extracted from walking can account for perturbation responses during walking. We also examined the effect of walking speed on muscle synergy composition and perturbation responses. In unperturbed walking trials, subjects walked along a straight 7.5m path, either at self-selected speed (~1.2 m/s) or slow speed (~0.7 m/s). Subjects stepped on a perturbation platform set flush with the floor at the midpoint of the path. In walking perturbation trials, the platform translated in one of 4 directions (anterior, posterior, medial, and lateral) in the horizontal plane when the subjects stepped on it with their right foot. EMGs of 16 lower-back and right leg muscles were measured. The number and composition of muscle synergies was similar across the two walking speeds. During

walking, perturbations in all four directions caused transient modulation in the activity of walking muscle synergies in the stance limb in most trials. Our results demonstrate that motor patterns used during walking can be recruited in a feedback manner to explain the additional variability caused by an unexpected perturbation during walking in most conditions.

#### **3.1 Introduction**

Prior work has demonstrated muscle synergies underlie cycle-by-cycle variability in cyclic behaviors such as pedaling and walking (Clark et al. 2010; Drew et al. 2008; Krouchev et al. 2006; Ting et al. 1999). This suggests the central pattern generator (CPG) for walking recruits muscle synergies in order to account for typical variations in walking, such as slight differences in foot placement, step timing, etc., from one cycle to the next. Here we challenge this hypothesis further by increasing the variability during walking using induced perturbations, to determine the effect of increased variability on muscle synergy recruitment. Afferent information from the periphery influences the central pattern (Dietz 2003), but it is not known if the sensory feedback from a perturbation will disrupt muscle coordination patterns for walking. Can an imposed perturbation during walking elicit differential recruitment of the same muscle synergies used during regular walking, or is a different neural strategy required for the greater variability imposed by a perturbation? Here we examine the muscle synergies underlying walking and the extent to which they are modified when a perturbation is encountered during walking.

Previous work suggests muscle synergy recruitment during locomotion is related to a particular phase of the gait cycle (Ivanenko et al. 2004), but we hypothesize that instead muscle synergy recruitment is related to a global biomechanical function, and that muscle synergies may be recruited at atypical times in the gait cycle depending on the task demands. Prior work suggests muscle synergies may be a mechanism the NS uses to coordinate muscles to produce specific biomechanical functions in order to achieve a behavioral goal (Chiel et al. 2009; Giszter et al. 2007; Ting and McKay 2007). In balance control, muscle synergies in the cat are recruited to produce specific force vectors at the ground that are robust across changes in postural configuration (Ting and Macpherson 2005; Torres-Oviedo et al. 2006). It has been hypothesized that in human standing balance control muscle synergies are recruited in order to control center of mass (CoM) kinematics by modulating end-point forces (McKay and Ting 2008; Torres-Oviedo et al. 2006).

Perhaps muscle synergies used during walking are also recruited to control the CoM. Even though walking is a dynamic condition in which the CoM is not usually located over the base of support of either stance foot (MacKinnon and Winter 1993), the CoM still needs to be controlled during walking to maintain forward momentum and lateral stability. Studying perturbations during walking allows us to investigate the neural control required when an unexpected center of mass (CoM) shift comes during a previously predictable CoM motion.

Here we investigated the neural mechanisms underlying responses to multidirectional perturbations encountered during walking by examining muscle synergies. Although phase and function are coupled in regular walking, here we use

perturbations to decouple them so that we can test whether muscle synergies are phasedependent or related to function. If muscle synergies are related to a global biomechanical function such as controlling the CoM, we expect to see the same muscle synergies used for walking and for perturbation responses during walking. If instead muscle synergies are phase-dependent, we would expect to see additional muscle synergies used for perturbation responses during walking. We studied perturbations to the stance leg during walking at two different speeds – self-selected and slow – to determine if walking speed affects perturbation responses or muscle synergy structure and recruitment. We studied multidirectional perturbations because the neural mechanisms underlying these responses are unknown. We hypothesized that the same muscle synergies used to control the CoM during walking would be recruited to recover from perturbations during walking. We demonstrate muscle synergies used during walking were recruited in a feedback manner in order to account for the perturbation response during walking for most muscles and perturbation directions.

# **3.2 Methods**

In order to determine whether the same muscle synergies are recruited during postural responses to perturbations in different dynamical contexts, we recorded postural responses to ramp and hold translations of the support surface during regular walking as well as translations during walking. Four perturbation directions were applied in the horizontal plane, and the presentation order was randomized. Muscle synergies were extracted from the unperturbed walking condition and used to reconstruct the perturbed walking trials.

#### **3.2.1 Data Collection**

Nine healthy subjects (4 male, 5 female) between the ages of 18 and 26 were exposed to support surface translations according to an experimental protocol that was approved by the Institutional Review Boards of GA Tech and Emory. In the walking only conditions, subjects walked overground slowly (0.6-0.7 m/s) or at a self-selected pace (1.2-1.5 m/s) for approximately 7.5 m, or 7 gait cycles. Subjects listened to a metronome beat 4 times before they began walking each trial and were instructed to try to maintain that pace as closely as possible without hearing a metronome while they were walking. Data collection began on the third step, to eliminate any variability associated with gait initiation. Eight trials of unperturbed walking at each speed were collected at the beginning of the experiment condition, in which the subject knew there would be no perturbation. In the perturbed walking conditions, subjects were told there may or may not be a perturbation while they were walking. As subjects crossed a force plate halfway through the path, the platform translated in one of 4 equally spaced directions in the horizontal plane – anterior, posterior, medial, and lateral (displacement 12.4cm, velocity 40 cm/sec, acceleration 0.7g). The perturbation was applied when the force under the right foot had reached 40% of body weight, occurring when the right leg was in early stance. Perturbation directions were randomized, and three trials of each direction for each speed were collected. For each speed, twelve trials of unperturbed walking were collected randomly in between perturbation trials in order to capture any anticipatory responses ("catch" trials). The walking trials collected for each speed were blocked: a

block of self-selected walking trials was collected and a block of slow walking trials was collected separately. The order of the conditions was randomized for each subject.

Since many muscles are required for the component analysis, surface EMG activity was recorded from sixteen lower-back and leg muscles on the subject's right side, which was the stance leg in perturbed walking. The muscles recorded include: vastus lateralis (VLAT), rectus femoris (RFEM), rectus abdominis (REAB), biceps femoris long head (BFLH), semitendinosus (SEMT), adductor magnus (ADMG), erector spinae (ERSP), abdominal external oblique (EXOB), vastus medialis (VMED), tibialis anterior (TA), medial gastrocnemius (MGAS), lateral gastrocnemius (LGAS), soleus (SOL), peroneus (PERO), tensor fasciae latae (TFL), and gluteus medius (GMED). EMG data were sampled at 1080 Hz, and then high pass filtered at 35 Hz, de-meaned, rectified, and low-pass filtered at 40 Hz, using custom MATLAB routines. Additionally, kinetic data was collected from force plates under the feet (AMTI, Watertown, MA) and kinematic data was collected using a motion capture system (Vicon, Centennial, CO) and a custom 25-marker set that included head-arms-trunk (HAT), thigh, shank, and foot segments.

## 3.2.2. Data Processing

In the walking conditions, in order to reduce computation time, EMG data were downsampled by averaging the data in 10-ms bins. At least three complete gait cycles for each trial were included in the analysis. Although 8 seconds of data were collected, only the first 4-5 seconds of each trial were included in the analysis, because often the subjects reached the end of the pathway before 8 seconds had passed. The precise endpoint used for each subject and walking speed was determined by including the same number of

steps after the perturbation that were collected before the perturbation, and was roughly twice the average perturbation onset time. Trials were concatenated to form the Data matrix; no time normalization was performed. In the walking only conditions, a Data matrix was formed consisting of 6-8 walking trials with no perturbation. For visualization, each row of each data matrix (each muscle) was normalized to the maximum activation of the unperturbed self-selected speed walking trials. Therefore, the self-selected speed unperturbed walking trials' muscle activations ranged from 0-1, and the slow walking trials as well as the perturbed walking trials were all normalized by the same scaling factors. Before extracting muscle synergies, each muscle is normalized to have unit variance (described later), so this 0-1 normalization was purely for visualization and comparison purposes.

## **3.2.3 Extraction of Muscle Synergies**

We extracted muscle synergies from the data matrix of EMG recordings using nonnegative matrix factorization (NNMF) described by Lee and Seung, 1999 (Lee and Seung 1999; Tresch et al. 1999), which has previously been used for muscle synergy analysis (Ting and Macpherson 2005; Torres-Oviedo and Ting 2007). This is a linear decomposition technique that assumes that a muscle activation pattern, M, in a given time period which was evoked by a perturbation in a particular direction is comprised of a linear combination of a few muscle synergies, W<sub>i</sub>, that are each recruited by a synergy recruitment coefficient, c<sub>i</sub>. Therefore, a particular muscle activation pattern at a particular time in response to a particular perturbation would be represented by:

$$M = c_1 W_1 + c_2 W_2 + c_3 W_3 + \dots$$

 $W_i$  specifies the muscles involved in synergy i and their relative contributions. Each component of  $W_i$  represents the contribution of one particular muscle to that synergy, and an individual muscle may contribute to multiple synergies. The muscle synergies do not change composition across conditions, and each one is multiplied by a scalar recruitment coefficient,  $c_i$ , which changes over time and across conditions. The recruitment coefficient,  $c_i$ , is hypothesized to represent the neural command that specifies how that synergy is modulated over time, and how much each synergy will contribute to a muscle's total activity pattern (Ting 2007).

To determine whether postural muscle synergies are recruited during perturbations to walking, first muscle synergies from unperturbed walking patterns were identified. Each row of the Data matrix (each muscle) was normalized to have unit variance before extracting muscle synergies, and then this normalization is un-done after extracting, to return the data and muscle synergies back to the previous scaling. To determine if bin size affects the muscle synergy structure, and to validate the identified muscle synergies underlying walking are robust, we extracted muscle synergies from data binned in 20ms bins, 50 ms bins, 100 ms bins, and 200ms bins. To determine if anticipation of a perturbation affected the walking pattern and which muscle synergies were recruited during this anticipation, muscle synergies were extracted separately from unperturbed walking trials in which the subjects knew there would be no perturbation, and from unperturbed walking "catch" trials. Furthermore, to determine if walking speed affects muscle synergy recruitment, muscle synergies were extracted separately from self-selected walking catch trials and slow walking catch trials. Similarity between muscle synergies extracted from each speed individually was quantified by calculating

the correlation coefficient (r) between the muscle synergy vectors. A pair of muscle synergies having r>0.623 were considered similar, which corresponds to the critical value of  $r^2$  for 16 muscles ( $r^2$ =0.388; p=0.01; see Chapter 2 for muscle synergy comparison details). When we were satisfied that similar muscle synergies are recruited during walking at different speeds, one set of muscle synergies was extracted from a Data matrix consisting of both self-selected walking catch trials and slow walking catch trials, and these muscle synergies were termed "walking" muscle synergies.

The number of muscle synergies required to explain any of these data sets was determined by selecting the least number of synergies that could adequately reconstruct the muscle responses during the unperturbed walking condition (Nsyn). The goodness of fit of the data reconstruction using the muscle synergies was quantified by variability accounted for (VAF), defined as 100 x uncentered Pearson's correlation coefficient (Torres-Oviedo et al. 2006; Zar 1999). Nsyn accounted for greater than 85% VAF overall. We added the further local criterion that muscle synergies also account for greater than 75% VAF in each muscle. This local fit criterion is more stringent and ensures that relevant features of the data set are reproduced. The number of muscle synergies is increased if local fits were improved. However, if an additional muscle synergy contributed evenly to the VAF across muscles and perturbation directions, it was not included because it likely represented noise in the data rather than variations due to trial or perturbation direction. Nsyn was also validated using factor analysis (FA): 1-12 factors were extracted and the log likelihood of each was plotted vs. number of factors. *Nsyn* was chosen by finding the point on the log-likelihood curve where curvature is greatest (Tresch et al. 2006).

## 3.2.4 Data Analysis

To investigate whether the ongoing walking muscle synergies were differentially recruited during perturbations to walking, the walking muscle synergies were used to reconstruct the perturbed walking trials. VAF and  $r^2$  correlations between measured EMG and reconstructed EMG were computed for a time window 100ms to 400ms after perturbation onset to determine how well the walking muscle synergies can explain the perturbation response.

To visualize which muscle synergies were recruited during postural responses in walking, we quantified the additional walking muscle synergy recruitment required during perturbation responses when compared with unperturbed walking. To this end, we found the area under the recruitment coefficient curve (Cmag) for each muscle synergy during the time window 100ms to 400ms following perturbation onset for each perturbation trial. Likewise, we found the area under the recruitment coefficient curves (Cmag) for the same time window in unperturbed walking catch trials, although instead of based on perturbation onset, this window was based on the vertical force under the right foot corresponding to the force under the foot when a perturbation was triggered in perturbation trials. We averaged Cmag for each muscle synergy across perturbation trials with perturbations in the same direction, and expressed these as percentages of the unperturbed walking Cmag, for each walking speed.

To quantify kinematic modifications in the perturbed gait cycle, we calculated left leg step length and step width, as well as right leg stance time. Left leg step length and width were found by subtracting the heel marker position of the right foot from the heel

marker position of the left foot at the beginning of left stance immediately following the perturbation. The anterior/posterior distance between the left heel and right heel was step length and the medial/lateral distance between the left heel and right heel was step width. These were averaged across trials of the same perturbation direction for each speed and compared to the left step length and width on unperturbed walking catch trials for the step in which the subject crossed the force plate. Additionally, right foot stance times were averaged across perturbed walking trials of the same direction for each speed and compared to unperturbed walking stance times. Stance phase for each foot was determined using heel marker positions.

To determine if the same functional walking muscle synergies are consistently used across subjects, we grouped muscle synergies and calculated the correlation coefficients (r) between all synergy vectors across all subjects. Similar muscle synergies were defined as those having r>0.623, which corresponds to the critical value of  $r^2$  for 16 muscles ( $r^2$ =0.388; p=0.01; see Chapter 2 for muscle synergy comparison details). To allow for individual differences when comparing across subjects, we also noted those muscle synergy pairs having r>0.497, which corresponds to the critical value of  $r^2$  for 16 muscles using p=0.05. This less stringent criterion was also imposed to determine if there were any additional similar muscle synergies across subjects while allowing for individual differences across subjects.

#### 3.3 Results

For all subjects, a few muscle synergies could reproduce walking patterns regardless of walking speed and subjects' anticipatory state. Furthermore, the same muscle synergies were differentially recruited in response to an unexpected perturbation encountered while walking, and could explain the majority of responses to anterior, posterior, medial, and lateral perturbations during walking.

# **3.3.1 EMG activity during walking**

EMG activity during walking was similar in all unperturbed walking trials, regardless of the subjects' anticipatory state. As has been described before, TA and PERO were active during swing and in early stance, quadriceps (VLAT, VMED, and RFEM) were active at the end of swing and in early stance, hamstrings (SEMT, BFLH) were active during early stance and again in late stance during slow walking, and gastrocnemius muscles were active during midstance and during swing in slow walking. These patterns were also observed during perturbation trials for the step cycles before and after the cycle which included the perturbation.

The magnitude of ongoing muscle activity and perturbation responses depended on walking speed. The magnitude of the ongoing walking EMG was greater in selfselected speed walking than was observed in slow walking (Figure 3.1A). However, the magnitude of the perturbation response relative to the ongoing walking muscle activity was greater in slow walking, as evidenced just after perturbation onset for perturbed walking trials. The muscles that responded to a perturbation during walking were different depending on the perturbation direction. For instance, anterior perturbations elicit posture responses in TA, PERO, and quadriceps, whereas lateral perturbations elicit posture responses in TFL, GMED, and PERO (Figure 3.1B). Although GMED activity

appears low, the posture response is quite high relative to the ongoing muscle activity, indicating it does play a role in medial/lateral stability as has been shown previously.



В



**Figure 3.1** Comparison of EMG across walking speeds and perturbation directions. A) EMG during perturbed self-selected speed and slow walking. Red vertical line indicates perturbation onset of an anterior perturbation. Gray shaded boxes indicate stance phase. The magnitude of the ongoing walking EMG was greater in self-selected speed walking than slow walking, but the magnitude of the perturbation response relative to the ongoing walking muscle activity was greater in slow walking. B) EMG during perturbed self-selected speed walking. Shown are one trial that contained an anterior perturbation and one with a lateral perturbation. Different muscles were activated during the perturbation response (time window 100-400ms following perturbation onset) depending on the perturbation direction.

# 3.3.2 Muscle synergies extracted from various conditions

The composition of muscle synergies underlying walking is not affected by the size of the time window used to smooth the data, validating the robustness of the walking muscle synergies (Figure 3.2). Muscle synergies extracted from walking data binned into 200ms bins, 100ms bins, 50ms bins, 25 ms bins, 10 ms bins, and no bins were similar ( $r = 0.93\pm0.08$ ). For bin sizes of 10ms, 25ms, and 50ms, all muscle synergies were similar to those extracted from data which had not been binned at all. For bin sizes of 100ms or 200ms, one muscle synergy was no longer similar to the one extracted from the other bin sizes (r=0.40), but all other muscle synergies were similar to those extracted from data all. Therefore, we selected a 10ms bin in order to reduce computation time and improve visualization while retaining small (and possibly important) variations in muscle activity. The muscle synergies extracted from data binned into 10ms bins were nearly identical to those extracted from data which had not been binned at all (r=0.98\pm0.02).



**Figure 3.2** Comparison of muscle synergies extracted from walking data binned into different time bins. Shown are the muscle synergies extracted from slow walking catch trials which have either been A) not binned, B) binned into 10ms bins, C) binned into 25ms bins, D) binned into 50ms bins, E) binned into 100ms bins, or F) binned into 200ms bins. Bin size did not affect muscle synergy composition until the bin is 100ms or larger, when only one muscle synergy composition was changed. Correlations between each muscle synergy vector and the corresponding muscle synergy from data that had not been binned at all are shown by r-values.

Muscle synergies were generally robust across walking speeds. 6-8 muscle synergies from self-selected and slow walking data combined were sufficient to explain the variability in the data. Muscle synergies extracted from self-selected speed walking alone were generally similar to those extracted from slow walking alone, and both were similar to muscle synergies extracted from self-selected speed walking and slow walking together (r= $0.90\pm0.07$ , Figure 3.3). Six subjects had one muscle synergy that was used in one walking speed but not used in the other walking speed, usually composed of hamstring or trunk muscles. In four of these subjects, this muscle synergy was identified in the muscle synergies extracted from the combined data consisting of both walking speeds, so the combined set of muscle synergies contain all muscle synergies used in both walking speeds. However, in two subjects, the muscle synergy used only in one walking speed was not identified in the set of muscle synergies extracted from combined data (Figure 3.3).

Muscle synergy composition was generally unaffected by anticipation of a perturbation. For six subjects, the same number of muscle synergies were identified from walking trials in which subjects knew there would be no perturbation as were identified from walking catch trials in which no perturbation was given but one was expected. The composition of the muscle synergies extracted from these two conditions was similar (r=0.93±0.07, Figure 3.4). For two other subjects, one additional muscle synergy was used in walking catch trials but not in regular walking trials. This additional muscle synergy involved hamstring and/or trunk muscles, depending on the subject. For the remaining subject, one additional muscle synergy with strong contribution from TFL was identified in regular walking trials that was not used in walking catch trials.



**Figure 3.3** Comparison of muscle synergies extracted from different walking speeds. A) Muscle synergies extracted from slow walking trials and self-selected speed walking trials combined; B) muscle synergies extracted from slow walking catch trials; and C) muscle synergies extracted from self-selected speed walking catch trials. Generally walking speed did not affect indentified muscle synergies. Correlations between each muscle synergy vector and the corresponding muscle synergy from self-selected and slow walking data combined are shown by r-values.



**Figure 3.4** Muscle synergies extracted from unperturbed self-selected speed walking with and without anticipation. A) Muscle synergies extracted from (A) walking catch trials (with anticipation) and (B) walking control trials (no anticipation) have similar composition and recruitment. Correlations between muscle synergy vectors are shown by r-values.

## **3.3.3 Muscle synergies from unperturbed walking can explain posture responses**

6-8 muscle synergies extracted from unperturbed self-selected and slow walking data combined for each subject were sufficient to explain 89±3% of the overall variability in the data, and 89±6% of the variability in each muscle across both walking speeds. Each muscle synergy was generally composed of muscles spanning one particular joint or muscles that have a similar function (Figure 3.5, W). For example, W1 had strong contributions from LGAS, MGAS, and SOL, all plantar flexors, and W2 had strong contributions from VLAT, VMED, and RFEM, all knee extensors. These trends in muscle synergy composition were observed in all subjects. Muscle synergies were generally recruited during particular phases of the gait cycle, such as W1 recruited during late stance, and W2 recruited during early stance. However, a few muscle synergies were recruited throughout the gait cycle, composed usually of trunk muscles, such as W4 (Figure 3.5).

Examining the recruitment coefficients of muscle synergies across time, trial, and perturbation direction reveals that the variability in the data is explained by recruiting the same muscle synergies for feed-forward walking, anticipation, and the feedback postural response. When subjects encountered a perturbation during walking, the muscle synergies from unperturbed walking were recruited to account for the perturbation response. In response to a forward perturbation during slow walking, W2, W5, and W6 were recruited strongly 100-400ms after the perturbation (Figure 3.5). Additionally, W2 was recruited even before the perturbation was presented, likely due to anticipation of the perturbation.



**Figure 3.5** Walking muscle synergies and recruitment coefficients for an anterior perturbation trial. Muscle synergies were extracted from self-selected and slow walking catch trials and used to reconstruct perturbed walking trials. Shown are the recruitment coefficients for an anterior perturbation trial at each walking speed.

Walking muscle synergies can explain most of the variability in perturbed walking data at both self-selected and slow speeds (Figure 3.6). For perturbations in the four cardinal directions (anterior, posterior, medial, and lateral), the ongoing walking muscle synergies were differentially recruited to account for the perturbation response. Most of the EMG activity resulting from the perturbation is observed 100-400ms following the perturbation. The muscle activity during this window predicted by recruiting ongoing walking muscle synergies is similar to the recorded EMG during this time window for the majority of all muscle responses, no matter the walking speed or perturbation direction (VAF=91±8.7%, individual muscle reconstructions, Figure 3.6).



**Figure 3.6** Reconstructions of EMG in several perturbed walking trials using the muscle synergies shown in Figure 5. Original data are shown by a dashed black line and reconstructed data are shown by a solid black line. The contribution of each muscle synergy to the reconstruction is shown by the corresponding colored line, all of which are added to generate the total reconstruction. Average VAF between each muscle activation

pattern and the muscle synergy reconstruction is  $91\pm8.7\%$ . A) posterior perturbation during slow walking, B) lateral perturbation during slow walking, C) medial perturbation during self-selected walking, and D) anterior perturbation during self-selected walking. Shown are VAF and r<sup>2</sup> between each EMG and the reconstruction using the walking muscle synergies.

Occasionally a muscle responded to a perturbation and this additional muscle activity was not well reconstructed using the muscle synergies from walking. Of the 8 subjects, 2 walking speeds, 16 muscles, 4 perturbation directions, and 3 trials in each direction (3456 total reconstructions), this was the case for 134 reconstructions (3.8% of all reconstructions). For example, in one lateral perturbation trial, the posture response in TA was overpredicted using the muscle synergies from unperturbed walking, although the responses in the other muscles are well reconstructed (Figure 3.7A). In another subject, the posture responses to an anterior perturbation during walking in VMED and TA were overpredicted using their walking muscle synergies, whereas the posture response in TFL in the same trial was underpredicted using their walking muscle synergies (Figure 3.7B).

# **3.3.4** Quantification of additional muscle synergy recruitment accounting for perturbation response

Specific muscle synergies were recruited to account for the perturbation response in specific perturbation directions (Figure 3.8). In self-selected speed walking, generally 2-3 muscle synergies were recruited additionally during the perturbation response for each perturbation direction. For example, in self-selected speed walking lateral perturbations, W5 was strongly recruited during the time window 100-400ms after perturbation onset, whereas W6 was recruited only slightly more than in unperturbed walking (Figure 3.8A). In anterior perturbations, W2 and W5 were strongly recruited during the time window 100-400ms after perturbation onset, relative to unperturbed walking (Figure 3.8B). In medial perturbation directions, W3 is recruited much more than in unperturbed walking, along with W2 and W5. The large additional recruitment of muscle synergies observed in anterior and medial perturbations may indicate greater instability in those directions. In slow walking, generally 1-2 muscle synergies were additionally recruited during perturbation responses. In slow walking, muscle synergy recruitment immediately following the perturbation was not much greater than in unperturbed walking, except W2 was very strongly recruited in anterior perturbations (Figure 3.8B).

# 3.3.5 Some compensations were made by the swing leg

Different perturbation directions resulted in differential placement of the swing leg following the perturbation (Figure 3.9). A longer step taken by the left leg was observed following posterior perturbations, and shorter steps followed anterior perturbations (Figure 3.9A). Lateral perturbations resulted in a wider step taken by the left leg just after the perturbation, whereas medial perturbations generally resulted in a cross-over step to maintain balance (Figure 3.9B). The right leg stance duration was increased in anterior perturbations, likely due to the additional time required to restore the CoM motion to a forward direction after the perturbation caused it to temporarily accelerate backward (Figure 3.9C). Right leg stance duration was decreased in posterior perturbations as subjects quickly stepped the left foot down to continue walking forward.



**Figure 3.7** Reconstructions of EMG using the walking muscle synergies for a few trials and muscles that were not well reconstructed. A) A lateral perturbation during walking in which the postural response in TA was overpredicted by the walking muscle synergies shown in Figure 5. Original data are shown by a dashed black line and reconstructed data are shown by a solid black line. The contribution of each muscle synergy to the reconstruction is shown by the corresponding colored line, all of which are added to generate the total reconstruction. B) Another subject; anterior perturbation during walking in which the postural response in TFL was underpredicated by their walking muscle synergies (not shown), and the postural responses in VMED and TA were overpredicted by the walking muscle synergies. Shown are VAF and  $r^2$  between each EMG and the reconstruction using the walking muscle synergies.



**Figure 3.8** Quantification of the additional muscle synergy recruitment that accounts for perturbation responses during walking. A) Two muscle synergies ( $W_5$  and  $W_6$ ) and their recruitment coefficients for one trial of unperturbed walking and one trial of walking with a lateral perturbation. In perturbation trials, the magnitude of the recruitment coefficient for each muscle synergy was averaged during the time window 100-400ms after

perturbation and expressed as a percentage of the magnitude of the coefficient during the same window in unperturbed walking. B) Average and standard deviation of the magnitudes of muscle synergy recruitment in perturbation responses during walking expressed as a percentage of unperturbed walking recruitment magnitudes across trials of the same perturbation direction. In self-selected speed walking, generally 2-3 muscle synergies were recruited extra during the perturbation response for each perturbation direction. In slow walking, generally 1-2 muscle synergies were additionally recruited during perturbation responses. Different muscle synergies were recruited during perturbation responses in different directions.



**Figure 3.9** Swing leg (left leg) step length (A) and width (B) for self-selected speed walking without perturbations and for each direction of perturbation, illustrating the differential placement of the swing leg used to recover from perturbations. Step lengths and widths are relative to the right foot. Shown are the mean and standard deviation for the left leg step length and width across trials for the one step immediately following the perturbation. C) Right leg stance times for the stance phase which includes the perturbation. Shown are the mean and standard deviation across trials of the same perturbation direction. Anterior perturbations cause a longer stance phase, whereas posterior perturbations shortened stance.

# 3.3.6 Similar muscle synergies were found across subjects

Different subjects used different numbers of muscle synergies during walking, but there were some commonalities in composition of muscle synergies across subjects (Figure 3.10). W1 and W2 were similar across all subjects ( $r=0.73\pm0.14$ , and  $r=0.78\pm0.12$ , respectively). The muscle synergies were recruited during similar phases of the gait cycle across subjects: W1 recruited during mid- to late stance, and W2 recruited during early stance. W3 was another shared muscle synergy similar across 8 subjects ( $r=0.86\pm0.15$ ) and used during late swing and early stance. Subject 2 used a different muscle synergy during late swing/early stance. W5 was similar across 7 subjects ( $r=0.77\pm0.14$ ), W6 was similar across 6 subjects ( $r=0.73\pm0.13$ ), and W4 was similar across 5 subjects ( $r=0.82\pm0.12$ ). A few other muscle synergies were unique to individual subjects, perhaps reflecting prior experience or training.



**Figure 3.10** Comparison of walking muscle synergies across subjects. Two muscle synergies were similar across all subjects (W1 and W2), and another was similar across 8 subjects (W3). One muscle synergy was similar across 7 subjects (W5), one was similar across 6 subjects (W6), and one was similar across 5 subjects (W4). Similar muscle synergies have r>0.623 (p=0.01) when compared with the corresponding muscle synergy found in Subject 1. Synergies indicated with a gray background have r>0.497 (p=0.05), but less than 0.623 when compared with Subject 1.

# **3.4 Discussion**

Our results demonstrate that muscles synergies used during walking can be recruited in a feedback manner to explain the additional variability caused by an unexpected perturbation during walking in most conditions. We examined whether muscle synergies could help us identify or distinguish feed-forward balance control associated with walking from feedback balance control required in light of an unexpected disturbance. In general, the same muscle synergies were used for both types of balance control, suggesting a common neural mechanism for different balance requirements during walking. Occasionally the walking muscle synergies could not explain the postural muscle activity following a perturbation, so other mechanisms may have been contributing in those instances.

The walking muscle synergies identified here are similar to those that have been described previously (Clark et al. 2010; Neptune et al. 2009a), although we identified a greater number of muscle synergies because we recorded a larger number of muscles. We recorded from 16 muscles as opposed to their 8, including many trunk and medial/lateral muscles which were not included in their study, so we identified 2 muscle synergies in addition to the 4 they identified. The two extra muscle synergies identified here,  $W_4$  and  $W_6$  (Figure 3.5), are composed predominantly of trunk muscles.  $W_4$  is recruited in early stance and throughout the gait cycle and  $W_6$  is recruited in late stance, acting to propel the trunk forward and then stabilize the trunk at the end of stance, respectively. The walking muscle synergy recruitment timings are also similar to those that have been previously identified (Ivanenko et al. 2004). The additional component

identified here (W<sub>4</sub>) has strong contributions from muscles REAB and EXOB, which were not recorded in the referenced previous study. It was recruited during early stance in some trials and minimally recruited throughout the entire gait cycle in other trials, possibly providing trunk stabilization during walking. Several muscle synergies were conserved across subjects (Figure 3.10), which may indicate an evolutionary advantage to using these muscle synergies, or may reflect the biomechanics of walking. Other muscle synergies were subject-specific, and may reflect individual differences in prior experiences, training, etc.

Walking muscle synergies were recruited extra on the step in which a perturbation was expected, even before the perturbation was initiated, illustrating the differential recruitment of muscle synergies in anticipation of a perturbation (see Figure 5, W2 recruitment increased before perturbation onset in slow walking). The increased cycleby-cycle variability induced by feed-forward anticipation was explained by recruiting the same muscle synergies used during unperturbed walking. Anticipation reflects cognitive influences, and this voluntary modification suggests the anticipatory recruitment of the same muscle synergies was possibly achieved via a different pathway from that which recruits muscle synergies in regular walking.

The walking muscle synergies were differentially recruited in a feedback manner in reactive responses to perturbations during walking, suggesting that the recruitment of muscle synergies is not strictly phase dependent, but perhaps instead is related to a biomechanical function, such as controlling the CoM. Walking muscle synergies were recruited in response to perturbations at phases in the gait cycle where they are not typically recruited. Within a single gait cycle we observed modifications in muscle

activity due to the perturbation that are not simply deletions or enhancements of bursts that are already there in walking. Rather than resetting or modifying the CPG pattern, the CPG was able to recruit muscles during a phase that is not typical (McCrea and Rybak 2008). Similarly, previous work in cycling has shown muscle activity during a nontypical phase, demonstrating no phase-resetting (Ting et al. 2000; Ting et al. 1998). This suggests two possibilities: 1) The CPG itself was modified to account for the perturbation, or 2) a postural loop was activated that recruited the same muscle synergies used for walking. It is possible that there exists a CPG controller and a postural controller which both have access to the same set of muscle synergies.

Here we showed the same muscle synergies are used for feed-forward walking (with feedback contributions) and feedback posture responses, as well as anticipation, suggesting that they must be broadly accessible. Walking patterns are thought to be generated spinally, but posture responses generally are considered initiated from higher centers such as brainstem (Honeycutt et al. 2009), due to the necessary integration of various sensory modalities. Current evidence suggests spinal circuits alone cannot generate the coordinated muscle activity required following postural perturbations (Pratt 1994). Our results suggest the muscle synergies themselves are implemented in the spinal cord, but accessible via numerous descending pathways, and their recruitment may be modifiable via cortical control (Drew et al. 2008). A previous study of perturbations to walking showed that responses to afferent input during walking are organized at the spinal level and modulated by supraspinal centers (Field-Fote and Dietz 2007).

As other studies have shown, here we observed that afferent input from the stance limb influenced control of the swing limb (Dietz and Duysens 2000; Dietz et al. 1989;

Reisman et al. 2005; Tang et al. 1998; Ting et al. 2000). Although we did not record EMG from the swing limb (left leg), the differential placement of the foot following perturbations in different directions suggests compensatory mechanisms are used in the NS in response to the afferent input from the perturbed stance limb. Another study supports this idea by finding that balance control during walking is achieved by preprogrammed muscle synergies that may be triggered by multiple sensory cues (Misiaszek 2003).

Here we have shown that postural responses during walking can be explained by walking muscle synergies in most instances, but there were a few muscles/perturbation directions in which the walking muscle synergies either under or over-predicted the perturbation response (Figure 3.7). It is possible that postural muscle synergies were recruited in addition to walking ones to account for the perturbation responses in these instances. Further study is required to expand our examination of perturbation responses during walking to see whether similar neural mechanisms are used for balance control in walking when compared with standing balance.

# **CHAPTER 4**

# COMMON MUSCLE SYNERGIES FOR WALKING AND BALANCE CONTROL

This chapter is in preparation for submission to the Journal of Neurophysiology.

Chvatal SA and Ting LH. Common muscle synergies for walking and balance control. *J Neurophysiol* (in prep).

Our previous work has demonstrated that fixed sets of motor modules called muscle synergies underlie cycle-by-cycle variability in walking and trial-by-trial variability in multidirectional postural responses. Here, we compared muscle synergies extracted from trials in which subjects encountered a postural perturbation during overground walking to those extracted from trials of either the walking or postural task alone. In walking control trials, subjects walked along a straight 7.5m path. At the midpoint of the path, subjects stepped on a perturbation platform that was flush with the floor. In walking perturbation trials, the platform translated in one of 12 directions in the horizontal plane when the subjects stepped on it with their right foot. In perturbation control trials, subjects maintained balance in response to the same perturbations while standing quietly on the platform. EMGs of 16 muscles in the lower-back and right leg were measured. Although the number of muscle synergies extracted using nonnegative matrix factorization was greater in walking (6-8 muscle synergies) than in postural perturbations (5-6 muscle synergies), their composition was similar. Muscle synergies extracted from standing balance perturbations and perturbations during walking had similar composition and were recruited for similar perturbation directions. Specific muscle synergies that were only used in one condition were robust across subjects. We have shown similar muscle synergies are used for walking and balance control, suggesting a common neural mechanism for not only balance control in various contexts, but for movement in general. The same muscle synergies appear to be accessible from multiple commands, such as feed-forward recruitment of muscle synergies during walking and feedback recruitment during a postural response.

#### **4.1 Introduction**

When two tasks are performed simultaneously, such as in a postural response during walking, it is unclear whether the necessary muscle activations for each task are simply superimposed. Very few studies have considered muscle coordination underlying a situation in which two tasks are performed at the same time. One study suggests that when a subject performs a voluntary task during walking, an additional activation component is simply superimposed on the walking activations to account for the additional voluntary task (Ivanenko et al. 2005). A different study found that when a reaction task (e.g. an arm pull) is performed while walking, the arm movement is not affected by the walking pattern (Haridas et al. 2005). These two studies suggest the two tasks are independent, and have independent control mechanisms that are both activated. However, other studies involving more than one task have shown that typically the
dynamics of the two tasks are not simply juxtaposed (Yiou and Schneider 2007). Instead, it seems that one task will take precedence over another. For example, when subjects perform a voluntary task during a postural perturbation, the posture response takes priority and is expressed (Muller et al. 2007), which suggests the two control mechanisms are not activated simultaneously.

Walking and balance control are two distinct tasks that are hypothesized to be differentially organized, yet have a common goal of controlling the center of mass (CoM). Generally, walking is thought to be achieved via the activation of a spinal CPG with modifications from higher neural centers. However, evidence suggests spinal circuits alone cannot generate the coordinated muscle activity required following postural perturbations (Macpherson and Fung 1999; Pratt et al. 1994), so balance control likely requires involvement from brainstem structures (Deliagina et al. 2008; Macpherson et al. 1997). Are the same neural strategies used for walking used for reactive posture responses? In chapter 2, we showed that muscle synergies are recruited in order to direct the movement of the center of mass (CoM) in standing balance tasks. In a response to a perturbation during walking, the ongoing CoM movements as well as the desired CoM movement are different than in a standing balance perturbation. Even so, EMG responses to perturbations during walking have been observed at a latency of 90-120ms following perturbation onset (Misiaszek 2003; Tang et al. 1998), consistent with the timing of standing postural responses. Therefore, it is possible that similar muscle synergies are recruited to direct the CoM for both walking and reactive posture responses

Although muscle synergies used during walking and standing balance control have been studied in isolation, limited work has been done examining the neural

mechanisms mediating balance control during walking. Walking naturally requires balance control, but it is unknown whether the same neural mechanisms responsible for walking are also controlling balance during walking. When an unexpected disturbance is encountered during walking, are the muscle synergies that underlie a postural response superimposed with the ongoing walking pattern? Here we investigate muscle synergies used to respond to multidirectional perturbations during walking. Previously we have demonstrated that muscle synergies can explain cycle-by-cycle variability in cyclic behaviors such as pedaling and walking (Clark et al. 2010; Ting et al. 1999), as well as trial-by-trial variability in multidirectional postural responses (Torres-Oviedo and Ting 2007). The generality of muscle synergies across cyclic motor tasks has been shown in human walking and running (Cappellini et al. 2006; Raasch and Zajac 1999; Ting et al. 1999) and in forward and backward pedaling (Raasch and Zajac 1999; Ting et al. 1999). In chapter 3, we showed that in most cases, muscle synergies used during walking are recruited differently to account for perturbation responses during walking. We studied four perturbation directions and examined the effect of perturbations on the ongoing walking patterns by using walking muscle synergies to reconstruct perturbation responses.

It is possible that the muscle synergies used during walking are actually the same ones recruited for balance tasks. The generality of muscle synergies across balance tasks has been shown in human stepping and non-stepping responses to standing balance perturbations (Chapter 2). In Chapter 3 we examined walking muscle synergies and whether they could explain perturbation responses during walking. Here we explicitly compared the muscle synergies used for standing balance control with those used for

walking and for perturbation responses during walking. We focused on the perturbation response during walking (rather than the entire walking trial as examined in study 3), and compared muscle synergies used for balance control during standing and walking to determine whether muscle synergies are robustly used across both walking and balance tasks. We studied walking and postural responses to perturbations to the stance leg in 12 directions during standing and during walking at two different speeds – self-selected and slow. We hypothesized that the same muscle synergies are recruited to control the CoM during walking as are used to control the CoM in standing postural responses. We demonstrate muscle synergies used during walking were also used during perturbations to walking and in standing balance perturbations.

# 4.2 Methods

In order to determine whether common muscle synergies are recruited during postural responses to perturbations in different dynamical contexts, we recorded postural responses to ramp and hold translations of the support surface during standing balance as well as during walking at both self-selected and slow walking speeds. Perturbations in twelve directions in the horizontal plane were delivered in random order in each condition. Muscle synergies were extracted from both the standing balance and walking conditions, as well as from additional trials of unperturbed walking. Muscle synergies and recruitment coefficients from each condition were compared to give insight into neural mechanisms underlying each condition.

### 4.2.1 Data Collection

Eight healthy subjects (4 male, 4 female) between the ages of 19 and 26 responded to support surface translations according to an experimental protocol that was approved by the Institutional Review Boards of Georgia Institute of Technology and Emory University. All subjects participated in each of the three experimental conditions (standing balance, self-selected speed walking, and slow walking). The order in which the conditions were presented was randomized for each subject.

In the standing balance condition, subjects stood on an instrumented platform that translated in 12 equally spaced directions in the horizontal plane (see Figure 4.1). Subjects were instructed to maintain balance without stepping if possible. A block of ramp-and-hold perturbations in each of 12 directions evenly spaced in the horizontal plane was presented. The platform's displacement was 12.4 cm, velocity was 35 cm/s, and acceleration was 0.5 g. The perturbation directions were randomized within the block of perturbations to minimize subject anticipatory adjustments and increase variability. Five trials of each of the 12 directions of perturbation were collected. All subjects were able to maintain balance without taking a step.

In the walking conditions, subjects walked overground slowly (0.6-0.7m/s) or at a self-selected pace (1.2-1.5 m/s) for approximately 7.5 m, or 7 gait cycles. Subjects listened to a metronome beat 4 times before they began walking during each trial and were instructed to maintain that pace as closely as possible while walking after the metronome was silenced. In slow trials the metronome was set at 60 bpm, and in self-selected trials the metronome pace was determined by having the subject walk at their own pace when they first arrived. Subjects began walking with their right foot, and data

collection began on the third step, to eliminate any variability associated with gait initiation. A single block of walking trials was collected for each walking speed. Eight trials of unperturbed walking were collected at the beginning of each block, in which the subject knew there would be no perturbation. In the remaining trials, subjects were told that there may or may not be a perturbation. Twelve trials of unperturbed walking were collected randomly in between the perturbation trials in order to capture any anticipatory responses. In perturbed trials, perturbations (displacement 12.4 cm, velocity 40 cm/sec, acceleration 0.7g) were applied as subjects crossed the instrumented platform halfway along the path, during early stance phase of the right leg. The platform was instrumented with force plates (AMTI, Watertown, MA), and the perturbation was applied when the ground reaction force at the right foot had reached 40% of body weight. The timing of the perturbation during gait was important - it is possible to have inhibition of sensory feedback at different times depending on the task conditions. Preliminary work showed a perturbation had a lesser effect on the ongoing walking pattern if encountered during late stance. Perturbation direction was randomized, and three trials of each direction for each walking speed were collected.

Surface EMG activity was recorded from sixteen muscles of the lower-back and leg on the subject's right side, the side of the stance leg in perturbed walking. Muscles recorded included: vastus lateralis (VLAT), rectus femoris (RFEM), rectus abdominis (REAB), biceps femoris long head (BFLH), semitendinosus (SEMT), adductor magnus (ADMG), erector spinae (ERSP), abdominal external oblique (EXOB), vastus medialis (VMED), tibialis anterior (TA), medial gastrocnemius (MGAS), lateral gastrocnemius (LGAS), soleus (SOL), peroneus (PERO), tensor fasciae latae (TFL), and gluteus medius (GMED). EMG data were sampled at 1080 Hz, high pass filtered at 35 Hz, de-meaned, rectified, and low-pass filtered at 40 Hz, using custom MATLAB routines. Additionally, kinetic data was collected from force plates under the feet, and kinematic data was collected using a motion capture system (Vicon, Centennial, CO) and a custom 25-marker set that included head-arms-trunk (HAT), thigh, shank, and foot segments.

### **4.2.2 Data Processing**

In the unperturbed walking conditions, at least three complete gait cycles for each trial were included in the analysis. In order to reduce computation time, EMG data were downsampled by averaging the data in 10-ms bins. Each trial consisted of 4-5 seconds of walking data that was analyzed. The precise endpoint used for each subject and walking speed was determined by including the same number of steps after the perturbation as were collected before the perturbation. Time-courses of EMG from unperturbed walking trials of each subject were concatenated to form the data matrix used for subsequent muscle synergy analysis; no time normalization was performed. The activation of each muscle in each subject was normalized to the maximum activation observed during the unperturbed walking trials at the self-selected walking speed. The elements of each row of the data matrix (each muscle) constructed from unperturbed walking trials at the selfselected speed therefore ranged from 0-1. Identical normalization factors from the unperturbed self-selected walking conditions were used for all other conditions of each subject (see below). Before extracting muscle synergies, each muscle was normalized to have unit variance.

In the standing balance condition, in order to account for temporal variations in muscle activity, three time bins during the automatic postural response were analyzed. The automatic postural response (APR) has been well-characterized and occurs ~100ms following the perturbation (Horak and Macpherson 1996). Due to variations in muscle activity during this APR, we further divided it into three 75 ms time bins beginning 100 ms (PR1), 175 ms (PR2) and 250 ms (PR3) after perturbation onset (Figure 4.1A gray shaded areas). Mean muscle activity for each muscle during each time bin was calculated for each trial. These numbers were assembled to form the data matrix used for subsequent muscle synergy analysis, which consisted of 3 time bins x 12 directions x 5 trials = 180 points for each of the 16 each muscles. For display purposes, each muscle's EMG values were normalized to the same scaling factors as were using in self-selected speed unperturbed walking.

In the perturbed walking conditions, a small time window following the perturbation containing postural response activity was analyzed similarly to the standing balance condition. Mean muscle activity was calculated during three time bins beginning 100 ms, 175 ms, and 250 ms after the perturbation, and assembled to form the Data matrix (Figure 4.1B gray shaded areas). For perturbed walking, the Data matrix consists of 3 time bins x 12 directions x 3 trials = 108 points for each of the 16 each muscles. Each muscle's EMG values were normalized to the same scaling factors as were used in self-selected speed unperturbed walking, to permit data inspection and comparison.





Figure 4.1 Examples of EMG during a standing balance posture response and a walking posture response. A) Example of postural responses to a forward and leftward perturbation of the support surface. Standing balance perturbations were induced by ramp-and-hold perturbations in 12 evenly spaced directions in the horizontal plane. Platform displacement and acceleration profiles used to induce responses are shown. EMG responses occur 100-ms after the onset of platform motion (vertical dashed line). Shown here are tibialis anterior (TA), rectus femoris (RFEM), peroneus (PERO), and biceps femoris (BFLH) EMG responses. Mean EMG activity was calculated for 3 time bins during the automatic postural response (PR), indicated by the shaded region, beginning 100ms (PR1), 175ms (PR2), and 250ms (PR3) following perturbation. B) Example of EMG during self-selected walking and the response to a forward perturbation administered during walking. Ramp-and-hold perturbations in 12 evenly spaced directions were administered during early stance while subjects walked at either selfselected or slow speeds. Shown here are TA, RFEM, PERO, and BFLH EMG during

walking and the postural response. Mean EMG activity was calculated for 3 time bins during the walking postural response (PR), indicated by the shaded region, beginning 100ms (PR1), 175ms (PR2), and 250ms (PR3) following perturbation.

# 4.2.3 Extraction of Muscle Synergies

Prior to extracting muscle synergies, each muscle vector in the Data matrix was normalized to have unit variance to ensure equal weighting in the muscle synergy extraction. We extracted muscle synergies from each data matrix of EMG recordings using nonnegative matrix factorization (NNMF) (Lee and Seung 1999; Tresch et al. 1999), which has previously been used for muscle synergy analysis (Ting and Macpherson 2005; Torres-Oviedo and Ting 2007). NNMF is a linear decomposition technique that assumes that a muscle activation pattern, M, in a given time period is comprised of a linear combination of a few muscle synergies, W<sub>i</sub>, that are each recruited by a synergy recruitment coefficient, c<sub>i</sub>. Therefore, a particular muscle activation pattern, M, at a particular time in response to a particular perturbation would be represented by:

$$M = c_1 W_1 + c_2 W_2 + c_3 W_3 + \dots$$

where  $W_i$  specifies the relative contributions of the muscles involved in synergy i. Each component of  $W_i$  represents the contribution of one particular muscle to that synergy, and an individual muscle may contribute to multiple synergies. The muscle synergies do not change composition across conditions, and each one is multiplied by a scalar recruitment coefficient,  $c_i$ , which changes over time and across conditions. The recruitment coefficient,  $c_i$ , is hypothesized to represent the neural command that specifies how that synergy is modulated over time, and how much each synergy will contribute to a muscle's total activity pattern (Ting 2007). After extracting muscle synergies, the unit variance scaling was removed from data so that each muscle's data was returned to the scale where 1 is the maximum activation during self-selected speed unperturbed walking, in order to permit comparison of responses and muscle synergies across conditions.

First muscle synergies were extracted from unperturbed walking patterns in order to later compare with muscle synergies used during postural responses. Since we previously showed that the similar muscle synergies are identified when each walking speed is analyzed individually (see Chapter 3), one set of muscle synergies was extracted from a data matrix consisting of both self-selected speed unperturbed walking catch trials and slow unperturbed walking catch trials, and these muscle synergies were termed "walking" muscle synergies. The goodness of fit of the data reconstruction using the muscle synergies was quantified by variability accounted for (VAF), defined as 100 x uncentered Pearson's correlation coefficient (Torres-Oviedo et al. 2006; Zar 1999). The number of muscle synergies selected (Nsvn) was determined by choosing the least number of synergies that could account for greater than 90% of the overall VAF. We added the further local criterion that muscle synergies also accounted for greater than 75% VAF in each muscle. This local fit criterion was more stringent and ensured that relevant features of the data set are reproduced. Nsyn was also validated using factor analysis (FA): 1-12 factors were extracted and the log likelihood of each was plotted vs. number of factors. *Nsyn* was chosen by finding the point on the log-likelihood curve where curvature is greatest (Tresch et al. 2006).

Next, muscle synergies were extracted from the postural responses in each of the remaining three perturbed conditions: standing balance, slow walking, and self-selected walking. For each dataset, we selected the least number of muscle synergies (*Nsyn*) that

satisfied both the global criterion of reconstructing at least 90% of the overall variance  $(VAF \ge 90\%)$  as well as the local criterion of reconstructing at least 75% of the variability in each muscle and each perturbation direction. VAF for each muscle quantified the extent to which the muscle synergies accounted for variability in the activity of individual muscles across all time bins, perturbation directions, and trials. VAF for each perturbation direction quantified the extent to which the muscle activation patterns formed by the response of all 16 muscles to a single perturbation direction during one time bin across all trials.

# 4.2.4 Data Analysis and Muscle Synergy Comparison

Once *Nsyn* was selected for each condition, the muscle synergies were used to reconstruct the EMG patterns, and measured and reconstructed data were compared for a particular muscle, time bin, and perturbation direction for each trial to examine the ability of the muscle synergies to account for inter-trial variations. Similarities between measured and reconstructed data were quantified using  $r^2$  and VAF (Torres-Oviedo et al. 2006; Zar 1999). To determine similarity in muscle synergies used for walking and balance control, the muscle synergies were compared across conditions. When comparing two sets of muscle synergies, we calculated correlation coefficients (r) between each muscle synergy vector in the first set and each in the second set. A pair of muscle synergies were considered "similar" if they had r > 0.623, which corresponds to the critical value of  $r^2$  for 16 muscles ( $r^2=0.388$ ; p=0.01; see Chapter 2 for muscle synergy comparison details). To determine if similar neural mechanisms are used for walking and balance control, we compared walking muscle synergies with muscle

synergies extracted from standing balance perturbations and walking perturbations. Across perturbation conditions, we compared the tuning curves of similar synergies to determine if they were recruited for similar perturbation directions in different contexts. We examined the composition and tuning of any condition-specific muscle synergies to determine their potential functions.

# 4.3 Results

For all subjects, a few muscle synergies reproduced both walking patterns and responses to multidirectional balance perturbations, accounting for temporal, spatial, and inter-trial variability in muscle activation patterns in walking, balance, and combined walking and balance tasks. The majority of muscle synergies extracted from standing balance perturbations and perturbations during walking had similar composition and were recruited for similar perturbation directions. Any identified muscle synergies that were only used in one condition were robust across subjects.

#### 4.3.1 Individual muscle activation differs across perturbation conditions

Muscle tuning curves demonstrate that muscle activation was different during the postural response in standing balance perturbations than during postural responses while walking slowly or at a self-selected speed (Figure 4.2). For example, ERSP was activated for the same perturbation directions in all conditions (forward and leftward), but was activated much more strongly in walking perturbation responses than in standing perturbation responses. TFL was recruited during forward/leftward standing postural responses, but was recruited following rightward perturbations during walking. Other

muscles were recruited for the same perturbation directions, and roughly the same magnitudes, in both standing and walking conditions. For example, MGAS was recruited strongly for backward perturbations in both standing and walking conditions.



**Figure 4.2** Muscle tuning curves from standing balance perturbations and perturbations during slow and self-selected walking. Shown are the tuning curves for seven muscles (ERSP, GMED, TFL, BFLH, MGAS, PERO, and TA) during time window PR1 for a representative subject. Shown are the mean tuning curves  $\pm$  standard deviations for 5 trials in each perturbation direction, presented randomly. Muscle tuning curves vary in magnitude across perturbation directions, and their shapes vary from muscle to muscle. Some muscles have consistent tuning across perturbation conditions (standing, slow walking, self-selected walking), while other muscles have different tuning across conditions.

# 4.3.2 Similar muscle synergies were used in standing balance and unperturbed walking

Although unperturbed walking generally required a greater number of muscle synergies than standing postural responses, the compositions of the muscle synergies used for walking and standing postural control were similar (Figure 4.3). In unperturbed walking, six to eight muscle synergies from walking data from both walking speeds were sufficient to explain the variability in the EMG data (VAF overall=89±3%, muscle VAF=88±6%). In postural responses to standing balance perturbations, five to six muscle synergies per subject were sufficient to account for >90% total variability and >75% variability in each muscle and condition (all 3 time bins, 12 perturbation directions, across 5 trials of each) in the EMG data. For three of seven subjects, all of the muscle synergies used in standing postural responses were also used in walking. For the remaining four subjects, all but one to two postural muscle synergies were also used in walking. The postural muscle synergies used in standing balance but not in walking usually either had large contributions from TFL and were active for medial/lateral perturbations, or had large contributions from TA and PERO and were active for anterior perturbations. Muscle synergies used in unperturbed walking that were not used in standing balance postural responses were only weakly recruited during slow walking (Ww6, Figure 4.4). These muscle synergies were comprised of hip/trunk muscles and were recruited throughout various phases of the gait cycle in both slow and self-selected walking (unlike the other walking muscle synergies that are recruited at particular phases), suggesting they may play a role in trunk stabilization during walking.



**Figure 4.3** Comparison of standing postural muscle synergies and unperturbed walking muscle synergies. A pair of muscle synergies having r > 0.623 was considered similar. Muscle synergies extracted from standing balance perturbation responses were similar to those extracted from the entire timecourse of many trials of unperturbed walking. In this subject, one additional muscle synergy was identified from walking that is not used in standing postural responses. Correlations between muscle synergy vectors are shown by r-values.



**Figure 4.4** Muscle synergy recruitment coefficients for muscle synergies that were specific to regular walking. Ww6 was recruited during walking but not during postural responses in any condition. Shown are the recruitment coefficients for the trials containing: a backward perturbation during self-selected walking, a lateral perturbation during self-selected walking. Ww6 is weakly recruited in slow walking and recruited throughout the gait cycle in self-selected walking, suggesting it plays a trunk stabilization role during walking.

### 4.3.3 Similar muscle synergies were used during standing balance and perturbed

# walking

Muscle synergies extracted from perturbed walking postural responses were also similar to the muscle synergies from standing postural responses (Figure 4.5). For five of seven subjects, all but one of the muscle synergies extracted from slow walking perturbation responses were identified in standing perturbation responses. For the other two subjects, two muscle synergies were identified in slow walking posture responses that were not used in standing posture responses. Furthermore, all but one of the muscle synergies extracted from self-selected walking perturbation responses were used in the other perturbation response conditions. There were generally two muscle synergies extracted from self-selected speed walking perturbation responses that were not used in standing perturbation responses, one of which was similar to the muscle synergy specific to slow walking perturbation responses (Figure 4.5). The other self-selected speed walking postural response muscle synergy that was not used in standing balance was similar to a walking muscle synergy for most subjects.

# 4.3.4 Muscle synergy tuning reveals the function of muscle synergies across conditions

Many similar muscle synergies were identified across all perturbation conditions (standing, slow walking, and self-selected walking) and most were recruited for the same perturbation directions in all conditions (Figure 4.6). W1, W2, and W3 were used in standing perturbation responses as well as postural responses during both slow and self-selected walking. W2 was recruited for backward perturbations in all conditions, and W3 was recruited during postural responses to medial/lateral perturbations in all conditions. Some muscle synergies were recruited for different perturbation directions in the different conditions. For example, W1, comprised of strong contributions from TA and PERO, was recruited for forward and backward perturbations in standing postural responses, but was instead recruited for lateral and forward perturbations in slow walking postural responses and self-selected postural responses. Although differentially recruited, the same muscle synergies could account for perturbation responses in standing and walking conditions.



**Figure 4.5** Comparison of muscle synergies extracted from perturbation responses in the 3 conditions studied here (standing balance, slow walking, and self-selected walking). Muscle synergies were extracted from the 3 PR time periods (100-325 ms following perturbation) in each condition. All but one of the muscle synergies used in slow walking postural responses was similar to those used in standing balance postural responses. All but one of the muscle synergies used in standing and/or slow walking postural responses. Correlations between each muscle synergy vector and the corresponding muscle synergy from standing balance are shown by r-values.



**Figure 4.6** Muscle synergy recruitment tuning curves for similar muscle synergies across standing and walking perturbation responses. W1, W2, and W3 were used in standing perturbation responses as well as postural responses during slow and self-selected walking. W2 was recruited for backward perturbations in all conditions, whereas W3 was recruited for medial/lateral perturbations. W1 was recruited for anterior/posterior perturbations in standing postural responses, and for anterior and lateral perturbations in walking postural responses.

The muscle synergies specific to walking perturbation responses were strongly recruited for medial/lateral perturbations. One muscle synergy used in slow and self-selected walking perturbation responses (Wsl5 and Wss5 see Figure 4.5) had strong contributions from hamstring muscles and TA, and was recruited following medial perturbations during walking (Figure 4.7A). An additional muscle synergy identified during self-selected postural responses (Wss4), was similar to a muscle synergy used in unperturbed walking (Ww6, Figure 4.3, r=0.86), and was not strongly recruited in any perturbation direction, so it possibly instead was playing a trunk stabilization role. In another subject, the additional muscle synergy used in walking postural responses that

was not used in standing postural responses had strong contributions from PERO and TFL and was recruited in response to lateral perturbations during slow and self-selected walking (Figure 4.7B). Several subjects used a muscle synergy with similar composition and tuning to this one, which resembles a muscle synergy previously identified that emerges in postural responses when a subject is standing on one leg (Torres-Oviedo and Ting 2010).

The muscle synergies specific to standing perturbation responses were usually recruited for forward and backward perturbations. W4 was recruited for both forward and backward perturbations in PR2 and strongly recruited for backward perturbations in PR3 in standing postural responses, but was not used in walking postural responses (Figure 4.8A). Interestingly, W4 was used during regular walking (see Figure 4.3). Four subjects had a muscle synergy tuned for backward perturbations in standing that was not used in walking perturbation responses. Another subject had a muscle synergy with strong contributions from REAB, EXOB, and TA, which was strongly recruited following forward perturbations in standing but was not used in walking postural responses (Figure 4.8B). A separate set of four subjects had a muscle synergy tuned for forward perturbations in standing that was not used in walking perturbations in standing that was not used in walking perturbations in standing that was not used in walking perturbations in standing that was not used in walking perturbations in standing that was not used in walking perturbations in standing that was not used in walking perturbations in standing that was not used in walking perturbation responses.



**Figure 4.7** Muscle synergy recruitment tuning curves for muscle synergies that were specific to walking postural responses. A) Wsl5 and Wss5, tuned for medial perturbation directions, were used during walking postural responses but not standing postural responses. Wss4 was used during self-selected walking postural responses and regular walking, but not during slow walking or standing postural responses. B) A muscle synergy used during walking postural responses but not standing postural responses for another subject, tuned for lateral perturbations during walking. Muscle synergies used in walking postural responses that were not used in standing postural responses were recruited for medial or lateral perturbation directions.



**Figure 4.8** Muscle synergy recruitment tuning curves for muscle synergies that were specific to standing postural responses. A) W4, tuned for backwards perturbations, was used during standing postural responses but not walking postural responses. B) A muscle synergy used during standing postural responses but not walking postural responses for another subject, tuned for forward perturbations while standing. Muscle synergies used in standing postural responses that were not used in walking postural responses were recruited for forward perturbation directions.

# **4.4 Discussion**

We have shown that similar muscle synergies are used for walking and balance control, suggesting a common neural mechanism for not only balance control in various contexts, but for movement in general. Our results demonstrate that muscle synergies are recruited from a common pool to generate walking patterns as well as respond to perturbations during standing and walking. The same muscle synergies appear to be accessible from multiple commands, such as feed-forward recruitment of muscle synergies during walking and feedback recruitment during a postural response. The CNS appears to be using an integrated motor program built from shared (and some more specialized) motor modules in a variety of motor tasks.

Differences between muscle synergies used in the various conditions studied here reflect differences in the functional demands of the tasks in the different contexts of each condition. For instance, the extra muscle synergies identified from walking perturbation responses that were not used in standing perturbation responses were tuned for medial/lateral perturbation directions (Figure 4.7). Their composition and tuning was similar to the task-specific muscle synergy identified previously that emerged when a subject responded to standing balance perturbations while standing on one leg (Torres-Oviedo and Ting 2010). The perturbation here was administered during early stance while the subject was standing on one leg only, so these additional muscle synergies needed to be recruited. In standing postural responses it is likely that the left leg contributed largely to maintaining balance in the medial/lateral directions. Perhaps these muscle synergies would also be used in different walking situations that require greater medial/lateral corrections, such as turning or walking in a circle.

Likewise, most of the muscle synergies found in standing perturbation responses that were not used in walking perturbation responses (usually only one muscle synergy per subject) were tuned for anterior/posterior perturbations (Figure 4.8). Presumably during walking the forward momentum of the body moves the body forward so an extra muscle synergy is not needed to pull the body forward. Similarly, in walking the overall goal is to continue progressing forward, so an additional muscle synergy that would pull the body backward is not needed either. Any extra muscle synergies used in unperturbed walking that were not used in perturbation responses tended to have very low recruitment

during slow walking and were active throughout different portions of the gait cycle in self-selected walking (Figure 4.4). These muscle synergies (usually one per subject) were comprised of hip/trunk muscles, suggesting they may be playing a role in trunk stabilization during walking. Despite these differences in muscle synergies recruited in each condition, generally the muscle synergies identified here were robustly used across distinct motor tasks of balance and locomotion.

Several biomechanical functions are common across walking and postural control, and may explain why similar muscle coordination patterns are used in both tasks. In balance control, the CoM must be maintained above the base of support (BoS) to prevent falling. Even though walking is a dynamic condition in which the CoM is not usually located over the base of support of either stance foot (MacKinnon and Winter 1993), the CoM still needs to be controlled to maintain a certain speed during walking. Additionally, both walking and balance control require additional functions such as body support and trunk stabilization. In addition to these shared functions, other functions are performed during walking, such as limb propulsion and deceleration each gait cycle, trunk propulsion, and foot placement. Nevertheless, the muscle synergies used during balance control tasks were also used during walking, and thus were able to account for all of these various functions.

Our results suggest these muscle synergies are encoded in the CNS and accessible via multiple pathways. Walking patterns are thought to originate from activation of a spinal CPG, but can be modified by higher centers (McCrea and Rybak 2008). Here the walking patterns likely had some involvement from the cortex due to the instructions given to the subjects. There was an aspect of intentionality to their walking because they

were instructed to try to match a specific walking speed, which they heard in advance via a metronome. Perhaps the muscle synergies themselves are implemented in the spinal cord, but accessible via numerous descending pathways, and their recruitment may be modifiable via cortical control (Drew et al. 2008). A previous study of perturbations to walking showed that responses to afferent input during walking are organized at the spinal level and modulated by supraspinal centers (Field-Fote and Dietz 2007). Although walking patterns are generally considered to be feedforward, the posture response is considered to be reactive, and likely requires modulation from brainstem or other higher centers due to the multiple sensory modalities which are integrated to generate a coordinated responses (Deliagina et al. 2008; Macpherson et al. 1997). Nevertheless, the same muscle synergies were recruited for these reactive postural responses, during both walking and standing still. Therefore, it appears that multiple pathways in the CNS can and do recruit the same modules to achieve different tasks.

# CHAPTER 5 CONCLUSIONS

### 5.1 Significance

Complications resulting from falls are a leading cause of death among the elderly (Anderson et al. 2004). Thus, it is important to better understand and improve balance and postural control. Here we have identified the muscle coordination underlying postural control in healthy, young subjects, as a first step toward our eventual goal of applying our knowledge to adults with deficits. This is a necessary precursor that permits a better understanding of the underlying causes of impairments that are associated with walking and maintaining balance. Once we can determine a mechanism underlying balance control problems in neuromuscular disease or deficit, it would be possible to develop appropriate, targeted therapies to address it, including training programs to develop the desired muscle synergy structure and activation patterns, thereby improving patients' ambulation and independence.

Here we have shown that the same muscle synergies are used for balance control in a variety of tasks, such as standing, stepping, and walking, which could be useful for clinical tests of synergy structure, diagnosing impairments, and proposing better treatment strategies. Clinicians could measure a patient's responses to perturbations in only one condition, such as standing, and have information concerning their underlying muscle synergies without having to measure responses in multiple conditions. Alternatively, patients may have proper coordination in one behavior, but disrupted coordination in another behavior, which could be identified using muscle synergies.

Knowing the typical muscle coordination patterns should aid in identification of disrupted muscle coordination, as has been demonstrated in the muscle synergies of stroke patients (Clark et al. 2010). The robust muscle coordination we identified here may be of interest to a variety of fields such as rehabilitation science, prosthetics, and robotics.

### 5.2 Robust muscle synergies for CoM control across multiple motor tasks

We conclude that muscle synergies represent a mechanism for simplifying muscle coordination in a variety of motor tasks and contexts. Muscle synergies were robustly used across static and dynamic postural tasks, as well as for muscle coordination during walking. Here we showed similar muscle synergies used during reactive non-stepping postural responses, reactive stepping responses, walking, and postural responses during walking (Figure 5.1), behaviors that had previously been studied separately. Furthermore, the muscle synergies were related to task-level goals, rather than local variables. For example, the same muscle synergies were recruited to produce a backward CoM acceleration in both a non-stepping response to a forward perturbation and in a backward step elicited in response to a backward perturbation. Therefore the NS may only need to compute the desired CoM motion or force at the ground and recruit the appropriate muscle synergies to achieve that desired motion.

	Forward Perturbation			<b>Backward Perturbation</b>		
		Initial CoM direction	Desired CoM direction		Initial CoM direction	Desired CoM direction
Non-stepping		BACK	FWD		FWD	BACK
Reactive stepping		BACK	BACK		FWD	FWD
Response during walking		BACK	FWD		FWD	FWD

**Figure 5.1** Overall study design. We studied three postural tasks which have similarities and differences in both initial CoM movement resulting from a perturbation and desired CoM motion required to maintain balance depending on the response strategy selected and task goals. The same muscle synergies were recruited according to desired direction of CoM motion across postural behaviors and walking.

Here we demonstrated that similar muscle synergies are used for walking and balance control, suggesting a common mechanism for not only balance control in various contexts, but for movement in general. The differences in the timing and spatial organization of individual muscle activity standing, stepping, and walking postural responses were largely explained by altering the recruitment of a common set of muscle synergies, with the addition of only a single muscle synergy specific to each behavior. The timing and amount of muscle synergy recruitment varied across these behaviors to account for the differences in individual muscle activity we observed. This is consistent with previous results demonstrating shared and specific muscle synergies across different motor behaviors such as frog swimming, kicking, and jumping (Cheung et al. 2009; Cheung et al. 2005; d'Avella and Bizzi 2005; Hart and Giszter 2004a; Kargo and Giszter 2000). Furthermore, the muscle synergies identified here can explain both proactive and reactive balance strategies, accounting for both feed-forward and feedback balance control during walking as well as feedback balance control in response to unexpected disturbances.

Our results support the idea that muscle synergies are used to organize the musculoskeletal system to produce a predictable biomechanical function (Chiel et al. 2009; Ting and McKay 2007), even in different postural behaviors. We previously demonstrated a consistent relationship between muscle synergy recruitment and endpoint force production in cats across multiple postural configurations (Ting and Macpherson 2005; Torres-Oviedo et al. 2006). Here we showed not only that the same muscle synergies were recruited during behaviors with different movement dynamics, but more importantly, their recruitment was determined by the desired direction of CoM motion (Figure 5.1). In non-stepping postural responses, a forward perturbation thrusts the body backward, and muscles are activated to return the CoM forward to the initial position. In stepping postural responses, a forward perturbation thrusts the body backward, and the appropriate muscles are activated in order to take a step backward, moving the CoM further away from the starting position. In backward perturbations, the body is thrust forward, and in non-stepping responses the CoM is returned backward to the initial position, whereas in stepping responses the CoM is moved further away as a forward step

is taken. In both the non-stepping response to a forward perturbation, and the stepping response to a backward perturbation, the desired CoM direction is forward. In these two contexts, the perturbation direction is different, resulting in different sensory input, the body is oriented differently, and the overall motion is different, but the goal of moving the CoM forward is the same. Similarly, in walking conditions, the CoM is already moving at perturbation onset, whereas in standing postural responses it is initially stationary, and the goal following any perturbation direction is to regain balance and continue moving the CoM forward. Despite the differences in sensory, biomechanical, and neural conditions in these three behaviors (standing, stepping, and walking), similar muscle synergies were recruited to achieve the desired CoM movement.

These muscle synergies were recruited to produce a consistent force at the ground and CoM acceleration in different postural behaviors as well as walking, rather than being recruited consistently according to perturbation direction across behaviors. This is consistent with previous results showing the muscle activity in the initial postural response reflects task variables such as CoM motion (Gollhofer et al. 1989; Nashner and Mccollum 1985) rather than simple joint angle changes (Nashner 1977; Ting and Macpherson 2004). These results demonstrate that the identified muscle synergies do not simply reflect somatosensory patterns triggering the responses, but rather motor modules flexibly recruited to produce biomechanical functions required to stabilize the CoM. Muscle synergy recruitment in other motor behaviors has also been related to functional outputs (Ajiboye and Weir 2009; Clark et al. 2010; Krishnamoorthy et al. 2004; Weiss and Flanders 2004), suggesting that muscle synergies are organized according to function in a variety of contexts.

The idea that muscle synergies are recruited in order to accomplish behavioral goals is consistent with previous work in postural sway showing muscle components, called m-modes, that correspond to the direction of center of pressure changes used to stabilize the body (Aruin et al. 1998, Krishnamoorthy et al. 2004). However, these m-modes we identified using PCA, and their composition changed as the number of postural conditions increased (Krishnamoorthy et al. 2004). Although we believe muscle synergy composition may change over long time scales as a result of individual experience, training, and adaptation, here we have shown that muscle synergy composition is consistent across a variety of postural behaviors. Nevertheless, this work supports hypotheses suggesting muscle synergies are organized in order to achieve task-level goals.

Muscle synergy recruitment during walking also appears to be related to function rather than a specific phase of the gait cycle. Even though walking is a dynamic condition in which the CoM is not usually located over the base of support of either stance foot (MacKinnon and Winter 1993), the CoM still needs to be directed during walking, perhaps explaining why the muscle synergies used during balance control tasks were also used during walking. Previous studies suggest temporally fixed patterns of muscle recruitment occurring at specific times in the gait cycle that are coupled to spatially varying muscle weightings (Cappellini et al. 2006; Ivanenko et al. 2005; Ivanenko et al. 2004). In this organization, the CNS chooses from a set of predefined temporal recruitment patterns to produce a rhythmic behavior in a feedforward manner. The fixed neural commands have access to all of the musculature, and the specific muscles activated can vary across trials and contexts. It is unlikely that a temporally

fixed modular organization such as this would be able to explain EMG activity of involuntary or reactive tasks that rely more heavily on feedback control. Here we studied perturbations during walking in order to determine whether the modularity in walking is organized according to fixed temporal recruitments or instead to fixed muscle groups. We saw muscle synergies recruited during different phases of a single gait cycle in response to a perturbation (such as one synergy recruited during swing as it is during regular walking and recruited again during stance following the perturbation where it is not usually recruited), demonstrating that fixed temporal components would not be sufficient to explain the additional posture response during walking. Instead, fixed muscle synergies with varying temporal recruitment were able to explain both feedforward walking and feedback posture responses during walking, suggesting their recruitment is more likely related to a task-level function such as controlling the CoM.

#### 5.3 Central neural control of balance and locomotion

Our results in combination with the literature suggest these muscle synergies may be encoded in the CNS and accessible via multiple pathways. It is possible that there are neural networks that specify the recruitment commands to a muscle synergy (C) which branch with different synaptic weights to the motor neurons of the muscles in the synergy (W) (Hart and Giszter 2010). While such modules have been hypothesized to be encoded in the spinal cord for some tasks (Hart and Giszter 2010; Saltiel et al. 2001), postural responses likely require brainstem involvement (Deliagina et al. 2008; Honeycutt et al. 2009; Macpherson et al. 1997), possibly in addition to spinal centers (Schepens et al. 2008). Walking patterns are thought to originate from activation of a spinal CPG, but

also can be modified by higher centers (McCrea and Rybak 2008). Perhaps the muscle synergies themselves are implemented in the spinal cord, but accessible via numerous descending pathways, and their recruitment may be modifiable via cortical control (Drew et al. 2008). This organization is consistent with previous work suggesting fixed motor modules encoded in the spinal cord that might also contribute to voluntary movements (Kargo et al. 2010)

Muscle synergies may reflect neural structures mediating motor control across a variety of behaviors and contexts. Neurophysiological evidence suggests that postural responses in the limbs are not simply local reflexes, but rather an activation of a motor pattern to achieve a biomechanical goal (Carpenter et al. 1999; Dufosse et al. 1985). Current evidence suggests spinal circuits alone cannot generate the coordinated muscle activity required following postural perturbations (Macpherson and Fung 1999; Pratt et al. 1994). Neurons in the pontomedullary reticular formation (PMRF) are recruited during both reactive and anticipatory postural adjustments (Schepens et al. 2008), and these firings are not correlated to individual muscle activity, but discharge in a manner consistent with the goal of restoring equilibrium (Stapley and Drew 2009). Additionally, task-level information can be derived from aggregate afferent information in the dorsal root ganglia (Weber et al. 2007), as well as in the dorso-spinal cerebellar tract (DSCT) (Bosco et al. 1996). Therefore, it can be concluded that consistent neural structures may be flexibly accessed and differentially recruited during different motor behaviors by breaking motor activities into their component tasks.

It appears that multiple pathways in the NS may recruit the same modules to achieve different tasks. The same muscle synergies were recruited for walking and

reactive postural responses in different contexts. It is possible that separate controllers exist for each task – a CPG controller and a postural controller – which both have access to the same set of muscle synergies. It remains to be seen whether the same muscle synergies are used in both reactive and voluntary postural tasks, however, similar muscle tuning curves are generated during human whole body reaching tasks as in postural responses to perturbation (Leonard et al. 2009), suggesting that motor modules may be accessible by voluntary and reactive postural tasks in humans.

# 5.4 Limitations and Future studies

### 5.4.1 Different perturbation strengths/types/terrains

In Chapter 3 we showed that balance control during walking can be explained by modulating walking muscle synergies in most instances, but there are a few muscles/perturbation directions in which the walking muscle synergies either under or over-predict the perturbation response. This suggests other studies that examine various perturbation strengths, directions, walking speeds, etc. to find the breaking point after which walking muscle synergies are no longer sufficient. Perhaps postural muscle synergies are recruited in addition to walking ones to account for the perturbation responses in these instances.

It would be interesting to examine muscle synergies used while subjects walk on unfamiliar terrains, such as foam or rocks. Perhaps they might initially use a different strategy or different muscle synergies as they are initially cautious, but as they become familiar with the terrain, they may continue to use the same "preferred" muscle synergies

that were used during regular overground walking. If subjects do use some different muscle synergies or strategies initially and then return to their preferred walking muscle synergies when walking on different terrains, that would open the door to a variety of short-term adaptation studies as well, that would examine how long it takes for subjects to return to their preferred patterns.

### 5.4.2 Role of the other leg

In this work, we examined muscle synergies and forces at the ground in the stance leg only. Although we did relate this muscle activity to CoM acceleration, which is a whole-body measure that accounts for contributions from both limbs, it would be interesting to characterize the muscle synergies and forces produced in the other leg to gain a better understanding of the bilateral coordination involved in these postural and locomotor behaviors. In chapter 2, we identified a component of CoM acceleration not associated with muscle activity in the stance leg, which we presumed was due to muscle activity in the other leg, but in the future it would be useful to quantify the left leg muscle activity and correlations to task-level variables. Our lab is now equipped to record 32 muscles as opposed to 16; future studies will examine muscle synergies in each limb individually for comparison, as well as bilateral muscle synergies and their relationships to task-level goals.

### 5.4.3 Other task-level goals

Here we quantified relationships between muscle synergy recruitment and tasklevel goals of forces at the ground and CoM acceleration. In feline standing balance

control, it has been hypothesized that several muscle synergies are recruited in order to control center of mass (CoM) kinematics by modulating end-point forces (McKay and Ting 2008; Torres-Oviedo et al. 2006), therefore here we investigated correlations between muscle synergy recruitment and forces at the ground to see if similar relationships exist in human balance control. The CoM is a likely control variable, because although several strategies may be used to maintain balance in various contexts, in any variation of the standing balance task, maintaining balance requires keeping the CoM above the base of support (BoS) (Massion 1992; Scholz et al. 2007; Ting et al. 2009). Also, previous work has shown that during non-stepping postural responses, the muscles recruited for postural stabilization depend upon the direction of CoM motion, rather than the local changes in joint angle displacements (Carpenter et al. 1999; Gollhofer et al. 1989; Ting and Macpherson 2004). Therefore we do not believe that muscle synergies are recruited in order to modulate joint angles, or other local variables.

However, other global variables may also be controlled in balance behaviors and locomotion, such as head stabilization or trunk orientation. Alternatively the goal may be to expand the limits of stability. We did not explicitly test whether muscle synergy recruitment is correlated with any of these other task-level variables. In future analyses, we could examine whether recruiting muscle synergies stab ilizes other global variables such as these across various behaviors. Also, we chose to use a 60-ms delay between muscle activity and force/CoM acceleration due to previously reported electromechanical delays (Jacobs and Macpherson 1996). Future work might include testing different, possibly longer delays, such as 100ms, to determine if the chosen delay changes the results.
# 5.4.4 Voluntary stepping

In Chapter 2 we demonstrated the same muscle synergies were recruited in voluntary postural tasks to direct the motion of the CoM to maintain balance. In Chapter 4 we demonstrated the same muscle synergies are also used during walking, which is a more voluntary task yet still considered automatic. It will be interesting to investigate the muscle synergies used during a voluntary stepping task.

Studying voluntary stepping alongside reactive stepping allows the comparison of two tasks that have the same kinematics and CoM movement, but the command to activate the synergies comes from different levels of the nervous system. The command in a voluntary step comes from motor cortex, but in a reactive step it comes from a lower level, perhaps brainstem, in response to a combination of sensory inputs that provide information about the body orientation and CoM position. Additionally, the displacement of the CoM is achieved slightly different in these two conditions. In reactive stepping, the CoM is displaced initially due to the platform motion, and then further displaced via generation of forces at the ground to cause a step. In voluntary stepping, the initial destabilization and entire CoM displacement results from forces generated by the stance leg. Even so, I predict that the same muscle synergies will be used in the stance leg in the voluntary stepping condition as were used in the reactive non-stepping and stepping tasks. We hypothesize that muscle synergies are activated to perform a specific biomechanical function (such as generate forces at the ground) in order to control the movement of the CoM. Since both of these tasks require control of CoM, I expect to see the same muscle synergies used in both tasks, and only the

recruitment of the muscle synergies will need to change in order to produce observed differences in individual muscle patterns and ground reaction forces. Preliminary results from voluntary stepping are shown in Appendix B.

# 5.4.5 Other motor tasks

Here we examined muscle synergies in postural strategies and locomotion. Perhaps similar muscle synergies were identified because walking and standing are similar tasks. Much of walking is standing and falling, and although we analyzed the entire gait cycle in chapter 3, in chapter 4 our analysis of perturbed walking was limited to the small time window immediately following the perturbation during stance. It would be interesting to examine the muscle synergies underlying other motor tasks, such as running, turning, backward walking, etc. Since all of these tasks still require control of the CoM, we expect at least some of the same muscle synergies will be used in these tasks as we observed during the walking and postural tasks studied here. As motor tasks become increasingly complex, more areas of the CNS are required for successful execution. It is unknown whether the CNS can still access the same muscle synergies robustly used to direct the CoM in walking and balance tasks during more complex tasks such as these.

# 5.4.6 Studies of skill and deficit

So far we have examined muscle synergies in healthy, young adults, in order to better understand normal muscle coordination in ideal circumstances. However, the eventual goal is to use what we have learned in healthy subjects to better understand

neuromuscular and functional deficits in impaired populations, in order to develop better treatments and rehabilitation strategies that try to achieve the desired muscle coordination, thereby improving people's motor control and daily functioning. Improved muscle coordination could hopefully lead to improved control of the CoM, which may increase a person's limits of stability, thereby decreasing falls. Previous work has shown stroke patients use fewer muscle synergies in the paretic leg compared to the non-paretic leg and healthy controls (Clark et al. 2010). It appears that these impaired modules represent a merging of normal modules, suggesting that the appropriate neural structures may be intact, yet inaccessible. Muscle synergy structure in other pathological conditions as well as normal aging has not been thoroughly explored. We propose the number of muscle synergies available to accomplish motor tasks will be reduced with pathologies.

Conversely, muscle synergy structure in highly skilled populations has not been thoroughly examined either. We might expect to see Tai Chi masters or highly skilled dancers recruit a greater number of muscle synergies during postural tasks, because they have learned and practiced fine motor movements for many years. We observe young, healthy subjects using anywhere from 5-7 muscle synergies during postural tasks; perhaps this discrepancy in number across individuals is due to their prior experiences and training. It would be interesting to compare the number, structure, and recruitment of muscle synergies across a wide range of populations, ranging from highly skilled all the way to balance impaired.

# 5.4.7 Changes in muscle synergies over time

We hypothesize that on short time scales (days), muscle synergy composition is invariant, and only the recruitment of the muscle synergies vary. Preliminary work has shown the same muscle synergies are used from one consecutive experiment day to the next. However, it is unclear how muscle synergies change over longer time periods (years). Individual experience, training, and adaptation all may affect muscle synergy composition over time. Acquiring specialized skills may reveal additional muscle synergies, or new muscle coordination patterns may result during the course of normal development (from infancy to adulthood) or aging. As muscles are consistently activated together, perhaps new networks are formed or reinforced that branch to the motoneurons of the coordinated muscle groups. As people age, muscle synergies may merge or become less accessible, resulting in decreased flexibility of movements and decreased or delayed control over the CoM. These could be investigated by comparing the muscle synergies used by specialized populations (as discussed above), or by a longitudinal study following the same population over time, such as following a group of children for a number of years until they are adults.

#### 5.4.8 Translating our methods into a clinical setting

Currently, muscle synergies are identified after subjects perform a variety of postural or locomotor tasks over the course of a 3-hour experiment. In order to obtain enough data for the analysis, subjects perform hundreds of trials. The perturbation platform we use in the lab is large and expensive. It is unrealistic to expect these perturbation platforms will ever be widely available and cost-effective, and elderly or

impaired populations will be unable to withstand such long and tedious experimental protocols. Additionally, the NNMF analysis we use to identify muscle synergies is difficult, and probably not appealing to clinicians. Therefore, a more practical means of assessing a person's muscle synergy structure is needed, one that can be performed quickly and efficiently. This would include a perturbation system that still delivers relevant perturbations mimicking those experienced in daily living, but is portable and inexpensive, as well as a user-friendly method of analyzing EMG and identifying muscle synergies.

In conclusion, the robust muscle coordination we identified here in healthy adults will be useful to a variety of fields such as rehabilitation science, prosthetics, and robotics. It provides a framework with which to compare altered muscle coordination as a result of skill, adaptation, or deficit. These results will provide a baseline for future studies to develop targeted rehabilitation therapies or more realistic prostheses.

# APPENDIX A

# **DECOMPOSING MUSCLE ACTIVITY IN MOTOR TASKS**

This chapter was originally published in *Motor Control* 

Ting LH and Chvatal SA. Decomposing muscle activity in motor tasks: methods and interpretation. In: *Motor Control*, edited by Danion F, and Latash, Mark L. Oxford, 2010.

Used with permission by Oxford University Press.

In this chapter, we examine methodologies for dimensional analysis and linear decomposition of multivariate data sets and discuss their implicit hypotheses and interpretations for muscle coordination of movement. We present tutorials (available for download at http://neuro.gatech.edu/groups/ting/PMCtutorial.html) to compare how two common methods, principal components analysis (PCA) and non-negative matrix factorization (NMF), decompose electromyographic signals into underlying components. To facilitate the integration of such mathematical techniques with physiological hypothesis testing, we focus on developing an intuitive understanding to the two techniques. A simple two-dimensional tutorial is provided, focusing on how orthogonality constraints in PCA and non-negativity constraints in NMF impact the resulting data decomposition and physiological relevance. Examples are presented using real data sets from human balance control and locomotion, examining the structure of the resulting components, their robustness across tasks, and their implications for various

muscle synergy hypotheses. We address practical issues and caveats in organizing datasets, the selection of the appropriate number of components, and considerations and pitfalls of experimental design and analysis, as well as suggestions and cautions for interpreting results. Based on these comparisons, and on the work in the visual system over the last decade, we present evidence for the increased neurophysiological relevance of the factors derived from NMF compared to PCA.

#### A.1 Introduction

How do humans and animals move so elegantly through unpredictable and dynamic environments? Why does this question continue to pose such a challenge? During any motor task, many physiological elements throughout the body must be coordinated, such as limbs, muscles, neurons, etc. A major question in motor control is: How do the overall functions and characteristics of movements arise from the functional arrangement and coordination of both neuromuscular elements and environmental interactions? Although modern technology allows us to collect an unprecedented amount of data on the activity of neurons, muscles, and limbs during a wide variety of behaviors, we still lack an understanding of how individual elements of the body interact to produce the many movements we perform, let alone characteristics such as grace or clumsiness.

Interpreting both structure and variability in the motor system and relating it to the resulting biomechanical and behavioral outputs remains a grand challenge in understanding how we move. Nikolai Bernstein noted the fact that motor behaviors never repeat themselves exactly, even when the same task is performed in succession (Bernstein 1967). On the other hand, he also noted that characteristic output patterns

occur even when a motor task is performed by different sets of muscles, such as when drawing shapes or letters on a piece of paper versus on a blackboard, or with a different appendage. Similarly, more recent studies also demonstrate that the performance of a motor task, such as reaching to a target, can occur quite consistently even when there is a great deal of variability in the underlying joint motions or torques contributing to that task (Newell and Carlton 1988; Latash et al. 2002; Ko et al. 2003; Reisman and Scholz 2006). These findings highlight the fact that the our bodies have a large number of degrees of freedom in the joints, muscles, and neurons that allow them to be flexible and functionally reconfigured to perform the same task, as well as different tasks (see Kelso, Sternad, this volume). During any so-called coordinated movement, synchrony and similarity are observed across many different kinematic, kinetic, electromyographic, and neural signals (Bernstein 1967; Macpherson 1991). But, when looking across a wide behavioral repertoire, the synchrony and coordination observed in one movement may be abolished in another, such that fluctuations in the spatiotemporal dynamics of the multiple measures may appear coordinated in one instance and independent in another (Bernstein 1967; Macpherson 1991). Such differences are potentially due to both changes in the neural control of muscles, as well as to changing interactions of the body with the environment under various conditions.

Controlling movements requires not only organizing physiological processes for movement, but also requires consideration of the complex interactions of forces acting between the organism and the environment. Bernstein defined the coordination of movement as: "the process of mastering redundant degrees of freedom of the moving organ, in other words, its conversion to a controllable system" (Bernstein 1967). By

"controllable" Bernstein meant that coordinated motor activity causes predictable biomechanical events, such as force generation and motion, that allow us to reliably perform a motor task. Thus, understanding movement requires characterizing the degrees of freedom of the physiological system that are used in the performance of any particular movement, the reconfiguration of such degrees of freedom in the performance of divergent movements (see Latash, this volume), and the relationships of these degrees of freedom to the biomechanical interactions that ultimately generate the movement (see Prilutsky, this volume). Gathering large sets of data during natural movements is becoming increasingly easier, thus allowing us to characterize coordination across many variables at different levels of the motor system; however, interpreting such large data sets and analyzing them to test motor control hypotheses remains a challenge.

Computational methods for analyzing large set of data are now easily accessible and available; however, the utility of such methods for providing insight into motor control is debated. Can such techniques help us to understand increasingly large data sets? Can quantitative analysis provide further insight than that which scientists have gathered from observation? Are automated pattern-recognition techniques able to reveal that which an experienced scientist can see when examining raw data? What are the potential benefits and pitfalls of using such techniques? These questions will be addressed in this chapter.

Here, our goal is to provide instructive tutorials to provide an intuitive guide to the similarities and differences between two primary techniques used for the analysis and decomposition of multiple signals in motor control and neuroscience, as well as in engineering fields: principal components analysis (PCA) and non-negative matrix

factorization (NMF) (Lee and Seung 1999). Although comprehensive texts on the quantitative aspects of these techniques are readily available (Ramsay and Silverman 2005), we present methods for understanding how the properties of each technique affect the decomposition and physiological interpretation of muscle activation patterns in a simple example and in actual data from postural control and walking. We have chosen two commonly used linear decomposition techniques that render the most divergent results; however, similar principles could be used as a basis for comparing other decomposition techniques, such as independent components analysis (ICA) or k-means analysis (Tresch et al. 2006). We will discuss the interpretations and implications of the results and how such techniques might be used to understand principles of motor coordination, as well as give insight into the function of the nervous system in translating goal-level intentions into specific muscle activation patterns for movement.

#### A.2 Basic Properties and Differences Between PCA and NMF: A Simple Example

Although PCA and NMF are similar in their underlying concept and mathematical representations, there are key differences in their implementation and in the resulting components. Both PCA and NMF are linear decomposition techniques that assume that the set of measured data is composed of linear combinations of a smaller number of underlying elements (Fig. A.1A). That is, given a number of simultaneous observations of multiple data channels, any particular observation could be represented as:

$$M_j = c_{1j} W_1 + c_{2j} W_2 + \dots + c_{nj} W_n + error$$
 (Eq. 1)

Here,  $M_j$  is a vector that represents measurements of multiple channels of data (Fig. A.1B); for example, the activity of *m* muscles at a given time point, arranged in a column.

On the right side of the equation, the components or basis functions  $W_i$  are vectors, also of length *m*, that represent invariant patterns of activity across those different channels. The pattern of muscle activity can be described by n scalar values  $c_{ij}$ , each of which specifies the contributions of each component to the measured muscle activation pattern  $M_{i}$ . If there are *m* muscles and *n* < *m* components, then the representation of  $M_{i}$  in terms of the components  $W_i$  and the weight or scaling factors  $c_{ij}$  is lower-dimensional than simply stating the value of each element of M<sub>i</sub>. Such linear decomposition techniques therefore test the hypothesis that, over a large number of observations of M<sub>i</sub>, the components W<sub>i</sub> remain fixed, but the scaling factors c<sub>ij</sub> are allowed to change and are sufficient to account for all of the variations of the data measured across different conditions. When analyzing muscle activation patterns, the modules W<sub>i</sub> are often referred to as muscle synergies (Tresch et al. 1999; Cheung et al. 2005; Ting and Macpherson 2005; Torres-Oviedo and Ting 2007) or M-modes (Danion et al. 2003; Krishnamoorthy et al. 2004; Latash et al. 2007). In this context, the hypothesis is that muscle synergies remain fixed, but activation of these synergies can vary, resulting in observed variations in individual muscle activity.



**Figure A.1** Electromyograph (EMG) data decomposition schematic and muscle synergy concept. A: Any pattern of multiple muscle activation can be represented as a linear combination of the activations of that muscle by each muscle synergy component. In this example, there are n = 2 components and m = 3 muscles, thus M(q) can be represented in terms of the lower-dimensional combination of muscle synergies (components, W<sub>i</sub>) and activation commands (c<sub>i</sub>(q)). B: Organization of the data matrix and the structure of the W and c matrices.

Although similar in concept, in practice, PCA and NMF are quite different; each method decomposes the variability with a given data set in very different ways. PCA is an analytical technique, meaning that the components are found through a straightforward set of computations. Therefore, it is easy to use and there are readily available algorithms included in most data processing software packages. This is possible because PCA requires that the components be orthogonal (e.g., perpendicular) to each other, creating a unique solution to any decomposition. Furthermore, it is relatively straightforward to select the appropriate number of components needed to explain a given data set based on a cutoff value for the variance accounted for. In contrast, NMF is found using a search algorithm, which means that it has to start with a set of random components and iteratively improve on them until an adequate proportion of the variability in the dataset is accounted for. Components generated by repeated searches will not be numerically identical but will be similar. Because NMF constrains both the weights c<sub>i</sub> as well as all of the elements of the components,  $W_i$  to be non-negative, the problem is what is called convex. That is, there are no local minima for the search to be "stuck" in, therefore components from multiple searches are numerically similar. In a non-negative space, it is not possible for the components to be orthogonal; however, they must be independent, meaning that no component can be defined as a linear combination of the other components. The iterative technique also requires that the number of components be specified in advance, so that multiple searches must be done to determine the right number

In the following set of tutorials, we use a simple two-dimensional example of a simulated dataset to illustrate the differences in how PCA and NMF decompose

variability in the dataset. For all three examples, simulated muscle activity data are fabricated by assuming that there are two underlying components, which can be interpreted as muscle synergies,  $W_1$  and  $W_2$  that each define a different ratio between the activity of two muscles (Fig. A.2A, *gray bars*). These components can also be drawn as vectors on a two-dimensional plot (Fig. A.2A, *gray arrows*). A set of data, M, is created by randomly assigning the activation level of each component ( $c_1$  and  $c_2$ ) from a uniform distribution between 0 and 1. Each data point, or observation  $M_j$ , can be represented as a vector [ $m_{1j}m_{2j}$ ], and plotted as a single point on a set of axes representing the level of activation of muscle 1 versus muscle 2 (Fig. A.2A). The tutorials are available for download as part of the supplementary materials, at

http://neuro.gatech.edu/groups/ting/PMCtutorial.html.

#### A.2.1 Orthogonality Versus Independence

The constraints of orthogonality and independence in PCA, and independence without orthogonality in NMF, account for the large differences between the components extracted by each technique. In this example, the activity of each component was equally weighted, so that the data is scattered evenly between the two vectors,  $W_1$  and  $W_2$ , used to create the data (Fig. A.2A). When PCA is applied to the data, two components are extracted (Fig. A.2B). The first aligns with the center of the long axis of the data and accounts for 87% of the variability. Because the scaling factors can be positive or negative, the direction that  $W_1$  points does not matter, only the line it defines. The second component must be at a right angle to the first component to satisfy orthogonality. It accounts for a much smaller portion of the variability, only 13%. Neither PCA

component looks like the original components used to generate the data. Using NMF, the extracted components are similar to the original components,  $W_1$  and  $W_2$ , used to generate the data, appearing at the edges of the data points (Fig. A.2C). The variability accounted for by each component is similar, 49% and 51%, respectively. Although the components are not orthogonal, the addition of a second component nonetheless increases the set of possible patterns of muscle activation between muscles 1 and 2.

#### A.2.2 PCA Is Descriptive; NMF Is Prescriptive

PCA, much like a multiple regression, describes the mean and residual variance from the mean in successive principal components. Before identifying the components, the original dataset is typically demeaned; if this is not done, then the first principal component represents the mean value of each variable across the dataset. Otherwise, as in this example, the first principal component in PCA describes the largest deviation from that mean in each muscle across a given dataset. Each additional component describes the orthogonal direction containing the next largest deviations from that mean. In our twodimensional example, it means that, if the first component changes, then the second component must also change. The percentage of variability accounted for by each component decreases monotonically, describing the degree to which the dataset varies in the corresponding direction. Because PCA allows for both negative and positive values for the scaling factors, it is possible to describe any point on the plane with two independent components derived from data in that plane, regardless of the direction that they point (Fig. A.2B). Data with multiple dimensions can be restricted to a plane by choosing only the first two principal components.



**Figure A.2** A 2-D example illustrating differences between components identified using principal components analysis (PCA) and non-negative matrix factorization (NMF). A: Data is constructed using two components specifying fixed ratios of muscle activation between two muscles,  $W_1$  ( $m_1=0.5*m_2$ ) and  $W_2$  ( $m_1=2*m_2$ ). The contribution of each component for a given observation, or data point, is found by multiplying each component by a scaling factor ( $c_1$  and  $c_2$ ) selected from a uniform distribution ranging from 0–1. B: Components identified using PCA to decompose the data from A. The percentage of total data variability that each component accounts for is shown beside each vector. The first component is directed along the long axis of the data cloud, and the second is constrained to be in the orthogonal direction. C: Components identified using NMF to decompose the data from A. Components are found near the edges of the data cloud. Note the similarity to the original components ( $W_1$  and  $W_2$ ) used to generate the data. D: Data is constructed using the same two components as in A, except now it is

weighted towards using  $W_1$ . In order to generate this data,  $c_1$  was taken from a uniform distribution between 0 and 1, whereas  $c_2$  was taken from a uniform distribution between 0 and 0.3. E: Components identified using PCA to decompose the data from D.  $W_{1nca}$ looks similar to  $W_1$ , reflecting the bias towards  $W_1$  in the generation of the data set, but  $W_{2pca}$  is different from  $W_2$ . F: Components identified using NMF to decompose the data from D. Despite the bias in the generation of the data set, these components are similar to those used to generate the data, as well as the components identified in C. G: Data is constructed using the same two components as in A and D, except now part of the data is weighted towards using  $W_1$  and part is weighted towards using  $W_2$ . To generate this data,  $c_1$  was taken from a uniform distribution between 0 and 0.3, whereas  $c_2$  was taken from a uniform distribution between 0 and 1, and this was included along with the data from D. H: Components identified using PCA to decompose the data from G.  $W_{1pca}$ passes between the two "clouds" of data where the mean values of m<sub>1</sub> and m<sub>2</sub> lie, and the components look similar to those identified in B. I: Components identified using NMF to decompose the data from G. Again the components are similar to those used to generate the data.

In NMF, the components prescribe a subspace within which all data points must lie. Because of the non-negativity constraints, only the points lying between the two components can be described (e.g., Fig. A.2A). Thus, components from NMF tend to identify the edges of the dataset and define a convex hull, or polygon, within which all of the feasible data points lie (e.g., Fig. A.2C). The condition of independence requires that each additional component increase the allowable subspace, as no two components can be represented as a linear combination of other components. Because there is no constraint on orthogonality, it is also possible for one component to change and the others to remain the same.

Therefore, the non-negativity constraints within NMF make it more restrictive than PCA, delimiting regions of the low-dimensional space that cannot be reached. Although dimension reduction can be achieved in both techniques by examining only the first few components, NMF imposes further restrictions. Components derived from PCA tend to *describe* the major direction of the data without imposing restrictions within the space defined by those components. In contrast, NMF *prescribes* a subspace in which possible combinations of muscle activity lie, restricting the expressible data points using those components.

Consider an example using the same components, W<sub>1</sub> and W<sub>2</sub>, as in the previous tutorial, except this time the data are preferentially weighted toward using  $W_1$  (Fig. A.2D, data construction). This dataset was created from sampling the same muscle activation components as in the prior example, but with a higher activation of W<sub>1</sub> over W<sub>2</sub>. Using PCA, both components changed direction compared to the previous tutorial (compare Fig. A.2E and 2B). The first PCA component (W<sub>1pca</sub>) rotated closer to the mean of the observed pattern of muscle activity and now looks qualitatively similar to the original W<sub>1</sub> used to construct the data (Fig. A.2A), accounting for 97% of the variance. The second component must rotate a similar amount to maintain orthogonality (compare Fig. A.2B and 2E). Both components identified in this case look different from those identified using PCA in the previous example. Thus, PCA describes the data in a similar sense to a mean and standard deviation. In contrast, both components found using NMF (Fig. A.2F) were similar to the components  $W_1$  and  $W_2$  used to generate the data (Fig. A.2D) and to those identified in the previous tutorial (Fig. A.2C). There was a slight shift in the second component simply because there is less variance in that direction, and therefore a larger confidence interval. Thus, the components obtained from NMF identify vectors that prescribe the same space of possible solutions using those two components as in the prior tutorial, even when one component is more heavily weighted than the other.

# A.2.3 Physiological Interpretability of PCA Versus NMF Components

In PCA, a component, W<sub>i</sub>, can contain positive and negative numbers representing relative muscle activation levels, as well as positive and negative weightings, c<sub>i</sub>. This means that positive and negative relationships can be inverted easily by negative weighting values. In the context of muscle activation patterns, this equal relationship between positive and negative activation is inconsistent with the transformation between motorneuron action potentials and muscle activity. Although motoneurons no doubt receive inhibitory as well as excitatory neural activity, the inhibitory effect can only be seen on motor output if there is also a high background level of muscle activity. That is, if inhibition occurs when muscles are quiescent, they have no effect on muscle activity due to the rectifying properties of neural transmission. Moreover, excitatory pathways and effects cannot be made inhibitory, and vice versa, so that there is no reason to think that an excitatory pattern would be identical to an inhibitory one. In contrast, in NMF, the components are constrained to be non-negative, which is physiological for neural and muscle output, since neurons are either firing action potentials (positive signal) or else in a resting state (zero signal).

One interesting result of the non-negativity constraint in NMF is that the underlying components resemble a "parts-based" decomposition, in which a series of parts are summed to create a whole. Since each component, or part, that is added cannot be subtracted out through the contributions of another component, the parts must resemble identifiable features of the output. In contrast, allowing negative numbers in PCA means that a given data point is created by addition and subtraction of contributions from different components to a given muscle's activity. The first component describes

the mean, and the next components can add or subtract activity from that mean. Therefore, the resulting data point may bear no resemblance to the identified principal components.

Here, we demonstrate the different ways in which PCA and NMF deal with data that are not evenly distributed. Consider an example using data constructed from the same components,  $W_1$  and  $W_2$ , from the first two tutorials, except now part of the data is skewed toward using  $W_1$  and part skewed toward using  $W_2$  (Fig. A.2G). The components identified using PCA are similar to those found in the first tutorial: The first component passes between the two main "clouds" of data, and the second is orthogonal to the first (compare Fig. A.2H to 2B). In contrast, components extracted using NMF look very similar to the original  $W_1$  and  $W_2$  used to generate the data, as well as to those identified in the first two tutorials (compare Fig. A.2I to 2F and 2C). The components lie along the edges of the data "clouds," and therefore can be used to describe any data points between them.

In this example, the components from PCA are directed in similar directions as in first example, with the first component aligned along the mean values of  $m_1$  and  $m_2$ across the dataset (Fig. A.2H). Most of the data points are reached by scaling the contribution of the first component and adding or subtracting a contribution of the second component. However, these components do not resemble the two-armed "parts" of the dataset. In contrast, the components from NMF are again similar to those used to generate the data, and similar to the components found from the two other data sets (Fig. A.2I). Here, the two components from NMF clearly identify two of the underlying "parts" that are obvious in the dataset (similar results can also be achieved through independent

components analysis [ICA] in combination with PCA (Hyvärinen 2001; Tresch et al. 2006).

Similarly, in the original paper describing differences between PCA and NMF, the components underlying decomposition of an image of a face were compared (Lee and Seung 1999). All of the PCA components look like entire faces, which are then added and subtracted together to generate a given face. To generate a face with a medium nose, large eyes, and small mouth, one might imagine starting with the mean face expressed by the first principal component and adding a component with a large nose, large eyes, and medium mouth, then subtracting another component with a small nose, medium eyes, and small mouth. The NMF components, however, are characterized by face parts such as the nose, eyes, and mouth. A face would be generated by selecting a component nose, scaling it by a medium number, selecting a component eyes and scaling it by a larger number, and selecting a component mouth and scaling it by a smaller number. Interestingly, this kind of parts-based decomposition is similar to the type of neural representations observed in the visual and other sensory encoding systems (Olshausen and Field 2004). Accordingly, there has been a shift from the use of PCA to NMF in visual system research (Simoncelli and Olshausen 2001).

## A.3 Identifying Components Using PCA and NMF: A Postural Control Example

Taken together, these three tutorials illustrate key differences in how PCA and NMF describe and partition the variability in a given data set, which are relevant to how they can be used to test motor control hypotheses. Although all of the data were generated from the same set of underlying components, the components identified by PCA changed when the mean levels of muscle activation changed, and all of the components changed simultaneously. NMF has the ability to identify components that are stable across different conditions, but combined differently. This demonstrates how different conclusions regarding the robustness and generality of components might be drawn depending on which decomposition algorithm is used.

In the literature, both PCA and NMF have been used to examine whether stable motor modules are used for generating movements. Several studies have addressed muscle coordination in standing balance control, because muscles in various regions of the body tend to act synchronously, and patterns of muscle activation can be easily related to a direction of body motion. During postural body sway, PCA has been used to identify components, called *M-modes*, that correspond to the direction of center of pressure changes used to stabilize the body (Aruin et al. 1998; Krishnamoorthy et al. 2003a). Similarly, in responses to different directions of perturbation during standing balance control, components from NMF, referred to as *muscle synergies*, have been identified that correspond to the direction of force applied at the ground to stabilize the body (Ting and Macpherson 2005; Torres-Oviedo et al. 2006). However, as the number of postural conditions is increased, the underlying M-modes from PCA are found to change (Krishnamoorthy et al. 2004), whereas the muscle synergies from NMF remain consistent (Torres-Oviedo et al. 2006; Torres-Oviedo and Ting 2010).

Rarely are both techniques used in the same study, so that it is difficult to know whether the differences in the literature reflect the techniques used, the experimental design, or the particular motor tasks tested. Moreover, since NMF requires several decisions on the part of the investigator, choosing the right number of muscle synergies is

not necessarily straightforward, which may also lead to different conclusions being drawn. Here, we provide examples where both PCA and NMF are performed on actual data from one subject during postural responses to multidirectional perturbations.

#### A.3.1 Introduction to Postural Responses

In order to maintain balance in light of an unexpected perturbation of the support surface, humans and animals must keep the projection of their center of mass (CoM) within the limits of their base of support. Various strategies may be used when balance is disrupted, requiring the activation of different muscles, such as taking a step, grabbing a handrail, or maintaining the feet in place to restore balance. When standing balance is disturbed with a discrete perturbation, first the direction of falling is sensed, and then the appropriate muscles are activated to restore balance. The initial change in muscle activity in the lower limbs does not occur until approximately 100 ms following the onset of a perturbation, and this initial muscle activity is called the *automatic postural response* (APR). Variations are observed even in responses to the same perturbation direction due to attention, expectation, and the like (Woollacott and Shumway-Cook 2002). When many trials and many perturbation directions are examined, the differences observed in individual muscle activations are difficult to interpret (Henry et al. 1998; Horak and Macpherson 1996). One hypothesis is that the nervous system activates these muscles in groups, and decomposition techniques such as PCA and NMF can be used to identify such groups and the relationships between the muscle activations (Krishnamoorthy et al. 2003a; Krishnamoorthy et al. 2003b; Torres-Oviedo and Ting 2007).

To generate the postural data examined here, subjects stood on a platform, which was suddenly moved in one of 12 different directions in the horizontal plane. Electromyographic (EMG) signals were collected from 16 lower trunk and leg muscles from the right side. For each trial, mean muscle activity during three time windows during the APR was calculated: 100-175 ms following perturbation onset (PR1), 175-250 ms (PR2), and 250–325ms (PR3), as well as one background time window before the perturbation began (Fig. A.3A). Therefore, this data set consisted of 16 muscles and 240 conditions (4 time windows  $\times$  12 perturbation directions  $\times$  5 trials in each direction). All of the data were arranged in a matrix in which each of the 16 rows contains the 240 observed values for a single muscle. The values in each row were normalized to the maximum value in that row, corresponding to the maximum level of muscle activity observed for that muscle across all conditions. Therefore, for each muscle all values ranged from 0 to 1. Before components are extracted using NMF, each muscle was also normalized to have unit variance, meaning that the sum of the squared values in the row equals 1. This allows the variations in each muscle to be considered with equal importance by the algorithm. One practical consideration is that, for NMF, the data should always be presented in the format N muscles × M conditions. However, PCA requires the data be transposed, in the format N conditions  $\times$  M muscles.



**Figure A.3** Example of postural responses to a backward and leftward perturbation of the support surface. A: Platform displacement during the ramp-and-hold perturbation. Electromyograph (EMG) responses occur 100 ms after the onset of platform motion (*vertical dashed line*). Shown here are tibialis anterior (TA), medial gastrocnemius (MGAS), rectus femoris (RFEM), and rectus abdominus (REAB) EMG responses. Mean EMG activity was calculated for three time bins during the APR (*shaded region*), beginning 100 ms (PR1), 175 ms (PR2), and 250 ms (PR3) following perturbation, as well as one background time period. Ground reaction forces under the right foot are also shown. B: Muscle tuning curves generated from 12 evenly spaced perturbation directions, taken from time window PR2. Muscle tuning curves vary in magnitude over all perturbation directions, and their shapes vary from muscle to muscle. In addition to the four muscles shown in A, tensor fasciae latae (TFL), semimembranosus (SEMB),

semitendinosus (SEMT), biceps femoris long head (BFLH), peroneus (PERO), lateral gastrocnemius (LGAS), erector spinae (ERSP), abdominal external oblique (EXOB), gluteus medius (GLUT), vastus lateralis (VLAT), vastus medialis (VMED), and soleus (SOL) were also collected. Shown are the mean tuning curves  $\pm$  standard deviations for five trials in each perturbation direction, presented randomly.

In response to horizontal plane disturbances, each muscle was preferentially activated for particular perturbation directions (Fig. A.3B). The muscle "tuning curves" demonstrate the directional sensitivity of the muscles. Each muscle is active maximally in a given direction, and less so for other directions. Some muscles have a single preferred direction (e.g., vastus medialis, VMED), whereas others have multiple tuning directions (e.g., rectus abdominus, REAB). The muscle tuning curves demonstrate that each direction of perturbation evokes a different combination of muscle activity. The error bars on the muscle tuning curves also illustrate trial-to-trial variations observed in postural responses. Therefore, across perturbation directions, and even within a perturbation direction, different patterns of muscle activity are evoked. Does this mean that each muscle must have an independent neural command specifying its level of activation (Macpherson 1991)? Using NMF and PCA, we can test the hypothesis that the observed variations can be explained by the activation of a few muscle synergies (Fig. A.1). In the following section, we will compare how NMF and PCA describe postural response data, and include practical issues of selecting the appropriate number of components, and examine the robustness of the components across different postural tasks, specifically, two-legged versus one-legged perturbation responses.

# A.3.2 Components of Postural Responses Identified by PCA and NMF

Here, we compare five components selected by NMF and PCA to describe the postural response data for normal, two-legged stance (the procedure for selecting the number of components will be described in a later section).

The components identified by PCA are composed of muscle contributions that are both positive and negative, and are activated by weighting coefficients (or scaling factors) that may also be positive or negative (Fig. A.4A). This example illustrates again that the components are identified in order of the percentage of variance that each explains. The first component describes the mean level of activity of the muscles across all conditions, and therefore has positive contributions from all of the measured muscles, with strong contributions from TA and PERO (Fig. A.4A, W<sub>1pca</sub>). The first component is also strongly activated for forward (90-degree) and backward (270-degree) perturbation directions, which evoke much more muscle activity than lateral perturbation (Henry et al. 1998). The subsequent components have contributions from fewer muscles, and these contributions are both positive and negative. Additionally, the activation coefficients may be positive or negative for different perturbation directions, and the magnitude of activation decreases with each subsequent component.

The way in which PCA decomposes data can best be illustrated by examining how the components contribute to an individual muscle tuning curve. Due to the positive and negative values taken both by the components and the activation coefficients in PCA, contributions from different components can be added and subtracted to obtain the total predicted muscle activity. An example of this can be seen in the reconstruction of the VMED tuning curve from the individual contributions from each component (Fig. A.4B),

which are found by multiplying the height of the VMED bar in each component with the activation coefficient for a given direction. Thus, each of the contributions resembles a scaled and possibly inverted version of the activation coefficient tuning curves of each component (Fig. A.4A). The resulting tuning curve for VMED is generated by adding all five curves together (Fig. A.4B, *bottom*). Although the peaks of the various contributions can vary, the resulting VMED tuning curve peaks near 90 degrees, and is roughly zero between 180 and 360 degrees. The response of the VMED to the 90-degree perturbation is high, and is due to positive contributions from W<sub>1pca</sub>, W<sub>2pca</sub>, W<sub>4pca</sub>, and W<sub>5pca</sub> and a negative contribution from W<sub>3pca</sub> (Fig. A.4B, *bars*). Similarly, in the region between 180 and 360 degrees, negative and positive contributions from all the components cancel each other out, so that the resulting tuning curve is near zero. To reconstruct the tuning curve of MGAS, the same curves are scaled differently and added together. The near-zero activity of MGAS in the 90-degree perturbation direction results from the cancellation of positive and negative contributions, primarily from  $W_{1pca}$  and  $W_{2pca}$ . In general, when using components identified by PCA, the reconstructions tend to underpredict the recorded muscle activity.

In contrast to PCA, the components and activation coefficients identified by NMF contain only positive values, as constrained by the algorithm. They are identified in no particular order, as evidenced by the percentage of total variance accounted for by each component (Fig. A.4C). Each component has large contributions from a few muscles, and smaller contributions from several other muscles, illustrating the multijoint coordination required for postural control. Each component has a corresponding activation coefficient

that is tuned for a particular range of perturbation directions. These activations are also positive, and the magnitude of activation is similar across all five of the components.



**Figure A.4** Components and activation coefficients identified from postural response data using principal components analysis (PCA) and non-negative matrix factorization (NMF). A: Components identified using PCA may have positive and/or negative muscle contributions and activation coefficients. Each bar represents the contribution of that muscle to that component. Percentages indicate the amount of total data variability accounted for by each component. Activation coefficient tuning curves from PR2 are

shown as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation of five trials. B: Tuning curves created from a single trial in each direction for two muscles reconstructed using the components identified in A. The contribution from each component is added or subtracted to form the reconstructed muscle tuning curve. The original data are shown with a dashed black line and the reconstructed data are shown with a solid black line. The variability accounted for (VAF) by the reconstruction as well as r<sup>2</sup> values are shown for each muscle tuning curve. C: Components identified using NMF have only positive muscle contributions and activation coefficients. Percentages indicate the amount of total data variability accounted for by each component. Activation coefficient tuning curves from PR2 are shown here as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation of 5 trials. D: Two muscle tuning curves reconstructed using the components identified in C. The contribution from each component is added to form the reconstructed muscle tuning curve. The original data are shown with a dashed black line and the reconstructed data are shown with a solid black line. The variability accounted to form the reconstructed muscle tuning curve. The original data are shown with a dashed black line and the reconstructed data are shown with a solid black line. The variability accounted for (VAF) by the reconstruction as well as r<sup>2</sup> values are shown for each muscle tuning curve.

The reconstruction of the individual muscle tuning curves illustrates the differences between PCA and NMF in the way the components are combined to predict the recorded data. As with PCA, the height of the VMED bar in each NMF component is used to scale the contribution of each component's tuning curve. In this case, since VMED is virtually zero in  $W_{2nmf}$  and  $W_{3nmf}$ , these components make essentially no contribution to the VMED tuning curve. In contrast to the case with PCA decomposition, the activity of VMED at 90 degrees is due to the additive contributions of three components  $W_{1nmf}$ ,  $W_{4nmf}$ , and  $W_{5nmf}$  (Fig. A.4D).

Using NMF, there is no cancellation of features (Fig. A.4D). Each muscle's activity is reconstructed by adding the contributions from each muscle synergy, all of which are positive. Once a feature of the tuning curves is expressed in the contribution of a given component, it cannot be subtracted out. For MGAS, the tuning curve consists primarily of contributions from  $W_{3nmf}$ , which causes high activity of MGAS between 180 and 360 degrees, and  $W_{5nmf}$ , which is responsible for a low level of activity of MGAS between 0 and 180 degrees.

The separation of the contributions from each component makes it possible to use the patterns of muscle activity within each component to make predictions about the activity of other muscles. In this case, the activity of MGAS between 180 and 360 degrees can be attributed to  $W_{3nmf}$ , which coactivates high MGAS activity with high extensor activity in the LGAS, GLUT, and SOL. When MGAS is active between 0 and 90 degrees, its activity is due to  $W_{5nmf}$ , which coactivates small MGAS activity with high flexor and hamstring activity in SEMB, TA, and SEMT. This demonstrates that MGAS activity in different perturbation directions results from fundamentally different muscle coordination patterns. It may be a prime mover in 180- to 360-degree perturbations, and a stabilizer in 0- to 90-degree perturbations. The analysis demonstrated that MGAS is strictly covaried with SOL from 180 to 360 degrees, and strictly covaried with TA from 0 to 90 degrees. A traditional correlation analysis would reveal MGAS to be strongly correlated to SOL, and weakly correlated to TA, but it would not be able to decompose the different portions of MGAS activity to one or the other.

Here, the coefficient of determination ( $r^2$ ) and variability accounted for (VAF), which are measures of goodness-of-fit between the predicted and recorded EMG signals, demonstrate that NMF components can explain the recorded muscle responses more closely than PCA components (NMF average  $r^2$  for all muscles: 0.84, average VAF: 95.5%; PCA average  $r^2$  for all muscles: 0.81, average VAF: 58.9%). Both  $r^2$  and VAF are defined as the coefficient of determination, or percent variability accounted for in the dataset (1 – sum of squares error/total sum of squares). The Pearson correlation coefficient, r, is based on a linear regression with an offset and thus compares only shapes of two curves, allowing for their actual values to differ. VAF is based on a linear

regression that must pass through the origin, and therefore requires that the actual values of the measurements be equal to have a high percent of variability accounted for. In the standard Pearson correlation coefficient ( $r^2$ ), the sum of squares is taken with respect to the mean, whereas in the uncentered case (VAF), it is taken with respect to zero. In this postural example, PCA reconstructs the shape of the tuning curve well, but not the offset; as expressed by the reasonably high  $r^2$  values, but much lower VAF. In contrast, NMF reconstructs the level of activity well, and allows for more differences in the shape of the curve, which is evidenced in the high VAF values.

#### A.3.3 Selecting the Appropriate Number of Components Using NMF

In both NMF and PCA, the investigator must determine the number of components required to sufficiently explain the data. With PCA, a cutoff of the total percent variability explained is typically chosen, and the components with the largest contributions are chosen to meet that criterion. A similar criterion can be used in NMF, in which the analysis is run multiple times, each with a different number of components, and VAF can be plotted as a function of component number (Fig. A.5A). In this postural data example, a cutoff of 90% VAF selects four components. Note, however, that the VAF due to one component is very high, so that high VAF values can be misleading in the overall variability because generally they represent a small portion of the data having a large amplitude that contributes the most to the overall data variability.

Whether using PCA or NMF, using the overall variability accounted for to select the number of components may not generate adequate reconstructions of data, particularly when there are certain conditions in which generally less activity occurs, but

which nonetheless are an important feature of the dataset. In the postural control example, the overall level of muscle activity is higher in forward and backward directions. When choosing a smaller number of components, the muscle activity in forward and backward directions tends to be well-explained, whereas activity in lateral directions may not be well-reconstructed. Because muscle activity in lateral directions represents a small fraction of the total variability, it is difficult to discern from the overall VAF scree plot when such variations are accounted for. In both analyses, large differences in the magnitude of the variability across conditions always poses a problem when selecting components.

A number of additional criteria can be imposed to ensure that desired features of the dataset are reconstructed. For our postural control example, we further examined the variability accounted for within subsets of the data. We examined the VAF of each muscle, which ensures that each muscle's tuning curve is well-reconstructed. In certain cases, when a muscle's contribution to the overall variability is low, the features of its tuning curve may not be well reconstructed by the selected number of components, requiring additional components to be added. We then examined the data by perturbation direction, ensuring that the differences in the relative levels of activity by direction do not cause muscle activity in certain directions to be ignored. In these cases, rather than having a smooth increase in VAF as components are added, there tend to be jumps when the salient features are accounted for. Therefore, we specify a minimum %VAF that should be accounted for in all muscles and all perturbation directions, as well as require that the addition of the next component should not drastically improve the VAFs. Ultimately, however, only an experienced researcher examining the reconstructions of the

original raw data traces can determine whether the features accounted for are physiological or are artifacts.



**Figure A.5** Scree plots showing variability accounted for (VAF) between the original data and the reconstruction using non-negative matrix factorization (NMF) components for the data shown in Figure A.3. A: VAF for increasing number of components over the entire data set. B: VAF for increasing number of components for four individual muscles: REAB, TFL, GLUT, VMED. One component accounts for variability in GLUT relatively well, three components can explain VMED variability, but five is better at explaining variability in TFL and REAB. C: VAF for increasing number of components across individual perturbation directions. Shown here are the four cardinal directions, but the number of components needed was selected by looking at these types of plots for all muscles and all perturbation directions.

The scree plots from the postural response example demonstrate how five components were selected in this case (Fig. A.5). Examining the overall VAF (Fig. A.5A) reveals that one component seems sufficient to explain the variability in the data, using a 75% VAF criterion. However, examining the scree plots for individual muscles reveals that five components are necessary in order for each of the muscles to achieve >75% VAF (Fig. A.5B). These curves demonstrate that the activity of GLUT is well accounted for by the first component, but that activity of the other muscles is not. Three components are necessary for VMED to pass the 75% threshold. However, the addition of the second and third components does not change the VAF of TFL and REAB, as illustrated by the flat part of the lines. The fourth and fifth synergies account for the variability in TLF and REAB, respectively. Note that the addition of a sixth component does not drastically improve the VAF in any muscle. Therefore, five muscle synergies were chosen. Examining the variability accounted for across the various perturbation directions leads to a similar conclusion (Fig. A.5C). Most directions have >75% VAF using only one or two components, but there is a sizeable improvement from four to five components for backward perturbations (270 degrees).

Finally, the composition of the components should be examined as additional components are added. The sharp jumps in the scree plots of VAF by muscle and by perturbation direction suggest that including an additional component may cause a previous component to split (Fig. A.5B, sharp jump in REAB VAF from four to five components). The number of components selected as sufficient to explain the data should be high enough such that the components have stabilized, and the addition of new components does not significantly change the previous components. In this example, the composition of the components when six components (not shown) were used was compared with the five components identified here and shown not to alter the composition of the five components. Additionally, the reconstructions of the data and the activation coefficients of the sixth component can be used to deduce its contribution to features in the data. If the additional component accounts for a feature, such as a particular burst of muscle activity or tuning direction, that is unaccounted for by the other components, then it may be important; the investigator must decide whether this is a critical and/or physiological feature. If the activation coefficients appear to be evenly distributed across all perturbation directions, it is unlikely to account for a feature associated with muscle activation in a given direction, but is more likely noise.

# A.4 Using NMF Versus PCA to Test Motor Control Hypotheses: Standing and Walking

Although it is possible to apply either PCA or NMF to any data matrix, the results may not necessarily provide insight into the underlying physiological mechanisms. It is important to ensure that the results are not artifacts of data collection or experimental design. Both techniques allow the dimension of the dataset to be identified. However, the maximum dimension is limited by the number of muscle signals analyzed, as well as by the number of disparate conditions examined. Therefore, it is critical that the data matrix itself be of high enough dimension such that a reduction in dimension is meaningful. The extraction of components relies on muscles being coordinated in different patterns. Therefore, the number of muscles recorded must be adequately high to capture different patterns of covariation, and the number of experimental conditions or possible variations observed must be of high enough dimension to capture different coordination patterns among the muscles. If muscle activation patterns are truly independent, this will also be reflected in the component analysis.

For example, the early studies of postural responses examined only two directions of perturbation (forward and backward). It was suggested that there were only two muscles synergies necessary, one active for forward perturbations, and another for backward perturbations (Nashner 1977; Horak and Macpherson 1996). However, these finding revealed experimental rather than physiological constraints. If NMF or PCA were applied only to forward and backward perturbations, they would arrive at a similar conclusion because the data only represent two conditions. By examining multiple
perturbation directions, it becomes clear that more than two muscle synergies are needed to describe the full repertoire of postural responses (Macpherson 1988; Macpherson 1991; Henry et al. 1998), but a new muscle synergy is not necessary for each perturbation direction (Torres-Oviedo et al. 2006; Torres-Oviedo and Ting 2007). Similarly, the total number of components that can be extracted is limited by the number of muscles that are recorded. It also depends upon muscles being coactivated during certain conditions and not others. Therefore, if only a few muscles are recorded, it is possible that they would each comprise a single synergy if they are independently activated. Conversely, if they are always coactivated, then they will comprise only a single muscle synergy. Again, sufficient experimental conditions must be tested to demonstrate that the muscles could be coactive or independent, depending upon the condition. Such manipulations in pedaling revealed that certain muscles that are always coactive during forward pedaling may have different patterns of activation in backward pedaling (Ting et al. 1999).

Once it is established that the number of muscles and conditions is appropriate and can provide enough variability to extract a smaller number of components, the robustness of such components can then be tested across tasks (Krishnamoorthy et al. 2004; Cheung et al. 2005; d'Avella and Bizzi 2005; Torres-Oviedo et al. 2006). The generality of muscle synergies has been shown in a few studies in which synergies were shared between multiple tasks, such as frog kicking, jumping, and swimming, and in human walking/running, and pedaling forward and backward (Raasch and Zajac 1999; Ting et al. 1999; Cheung et al. 2005; d'Avella and Bizzi 2005; Cappellini et al. 2006; Torres-Oviedo et al. 2006). Although some synergies are used in multiple tasks, sometimes new synergies emerge when a new motor task is presented (Ivanenko et al. 2005) or the

activation of the synergies may be adjusted (Cappellini et al. 2006).

Here, we provide two examples of the differences between NMF and PCA when applied to test the robustness of muscle synergies (a) across postural tasks, and (b) during walking.

#### A.4.1 Are Muscle Synergies Stable or Artifact? Shared Versus Specific Components

Here, we used PCA and NMF to test whether muscle synergies are stable across postural tasks by comparing the components extracted from perturbations in two-legged stance extracted above (Fig. A.4) to those from perturbations during one-legged stance. Subjects stood on their right leg and were subject to 12 directions of perturbations of smaller velocity and amplitude than in two-legged stance. One- and two-leg data were recorded in the same session, so that the activity of the 16 lower trunk and leg muscles from the stance side could be directly compared.

When PCA was applied to the one-leg data set to identify muscle synergies, two of the components extracted were similar to those identified from the two-leg postural responses (Fig. A.6A). The first component (W'<sub>1pca</sub>) is comprised of small contributions from all of the muscles, representing the average responses, so these would be expected to remain the same. Because the similarity between components from one- and two-legged stance are mainly based on the mean level of muscle activity, the VAF provides a better representation of the similarity than  $r^2 (r^2=0.0291, VAF = 82\%)$ . The third component from one-leg responses, W'<sub>3pca</sub> (Fig. A.6A, *gray bars*), looks similar to the second one identified from two-leg responses. The other components, most of which

account for a smaller percentage of variance, are quite different in the one-leg task compared to the two-leg task (max  $r^2 = 0.176$ , max VAF=17.5%). Therefore, if PCA were used to identify muscle synergies, the conclusion would be that different muscle synergies are used for one- and two-leg postural responses.

When NMF was applied to the one-leg data set to identify muscle synergies, however, four of the five components were very similar to those used during the two-leg balance responses ( $r^2=0.27 - 0.76$ , VAF=51%-85%, Fig. A.6B). The muscle contributions to each of these four components was similar, and the activation coefficient tunings shifted slightly to account for differences in individual muscle tuning curves. The fifth component from two-leg stance ( $W_{2nmf}$ ) had a large contribution from REAB, a hip flexor, whereas the fifth component in one-leg stance (W'<sub>5nmf</sub>) has primarily SOL activity, an ankle extensor. This is likely because subjects were more likely to use a hip strategy in two-leg stance compared to one-leg stance. Further, the component used in one-leg stance (W'<sub>5nmf</sub>) was strongly activated for rightward (0 degree) perturbations. Note that, in the two-leg stance, none of the five components were tuned for rightward perturbation directions (Fig. A.6B). This suggests that when both legs can be used to respond to a rightward perturbation, subjects use muscles in the left leg to restore their balance, but when the left leg is not available, an additional component in the right leg must be activated to compensate for the loss of stability provided by the left leg. These results show that there are similar components that are used across postural tasks, suggesting that the muscle synergies derived from NMF are physiological constraints that the nervous system uses for muscle coordination, and not simply artifacts of the experiment or analysis.

A. PCA



Figure A.6 Comparison between components identified from one-leg postural responses compared to those identified from two-leg postural responses. A: Comparison of components and activation components identified using principal components analysis (PCA). Black bars and lines are two-leg responses (same as in Figure A.4), and gray bars and lines are one-leg responses. Percentages on the left-hand side of each component represent the percent total variability that each component accounts for. Numbers to the right of each component are indicators of how closely the component from one-leg responses matches the one from two-leg responses. Both  $r^2$  and uncentered  $r^2$  (variability accounted for; VAF) are shown. The first component from one-leg (W'<sub>1pca</sub>) and two-leg responses (W<sub>1nca</sub>) matches fairly well, and the third component from one-leg responses  $(W'_{3pca})$  matches the second component from two-leg responses  $(W_{2pca})$ . Subsequent components do not match; due to the orthogonality constraint of PCA, when one component changed, subsequent components changed also. B: Comparison of components and activation coefficients identified using non-negative matrix factorization (NMF). The same components are used in one-leg and two-leg responses, with the exception of one component that is specific to either condition. The additional component used in one-leg responses is tuned for 0-degree perturbations, which presumably are accounted for by the left leg in two-leg responses. The same components, or muscle synergies, can explain the different individual muscle activations observed between these two tasks, by only changing the activation of the muscle synergies.

Although the example demonstrates the possibility of stable components across tasks, thorough cross-validation tests should be performed to ensure that the components are indeed stable across tasks. Therefore, to draw stronger conclusions about the physiological basis of the components, the results of analyses across different subsets and combinations of the data should be compared (e.g Torres-Oveido and Ting 2010). Apart from extracting components independently from control (e.g., two-leg) and test (e.g., one-leg) tasks, the components from the control condition can be used to reconstruct the test data. If they do not explain a sufficient percentage of the variability, then condition-specific components may be extracted from the remaining variability of the data (Cheung et al. 2005). Additionally, components extracted from the control and test data pooled into one large data set should render similar results. If the same components are identified

in all of these cases, it is more likely that the technique has identified underlying physiological features of the data. In our example using NMF, the same components are identified in one-leg and two-leg stance using all these different combinations (not shown). In contrast, PCA generates different components depending on which data combination is used.

# A.4.2 Using Time As a Condition: Muscle Synergies During Walking

When applying PCA and NMF to a continuous motor task, such as locomotion, time can be considered to be a condition. Similar to the different directions of postural perturbations, different coordination patterns across muscles are observed across different time points in the locomotor cycle. However, if muscles are activated in a similar pattern across time, such as in an isometric task, the use of time as a condition may not provide enough variability in the data to allow for meaningful interpretation. In this example, subjects walked freely at a slow (0.7 m/s) pace for at least ten steps each trial. Data were recorded beginning at heel strike of the third to fourth step, so that subjects had already reached a steady-state gait, and each trial includes at least three full stride cycles. Seven trials were included in the data matrix. Sixteen EMG signals were recorded in one leg (Fig. A.7).



**Figure A.7** Example of muscle activity during a forward walking trial. Shown are eight muscles of the 16 recorded. The subject was walking at a speed of approximately 0.7 m/s. The shaded gray boxes indicate stance phase.

To create the data matrix, the mean activity was computed in 10 ms bins over the three steps in each trial. *Binning* has the advantages of smoothing the data, reducing the total number of conditions, thus reducing computation time, while maintaining much of the detail in the variations of the EMG within and across cycles. Note that the muscle activation patterns do not resemble the idealized sinusoidal EMG patterns often found due to smoothing or averaging. Additionally, the pattern of muscle activity and the duration of the stance phase vary from step to step, as does the number of bins. There is no need to stretch or shorten the data across time to obtain a consistent number of data

points per stride. When creating the data matrix, different trials are simply concatenated end to end.

It is important to distinguish between two mutually exclusive hypotheses that can be tested by decomposing walking data into muscle synergies. For both PCA and NMF, the components W<sub>i</sub> are assumed to be fixed, whereas the activation coefficients or scaling factors c<sub>i</sub> are allowed to vary (Clark et al. 2010). Here we choose W's to refer to fixed muscle activation patterns, whereas we allow c's to vary across time. The data must be structured such that the muscles are the observations (rows for NMF, columns for PCA) and the time windows are the conditions (columns for NMF, rows for PCA). Conversely, it is possible to hypothesize that the timing patterns are stereotypical across cycles, and that the muscle coordination patterns vary (Ivanenko et al. 2004; Cappellini et al. 2006). Fixed timing patterns might be generated by a central pattern-generating neural circuit, with their muscle targets changing with phase. In this case, it is necessary to stretch the cycles in time so that they all have the same number of points. In this case, the data should be transposed, such that the time points are the observations, and the muscles are the conditions, with repeated trials or cycles concatenated. However, in neither analysis can both the components and the timing patterns vary. Either muscular coactivation patterns or timing patterns must be assumed to be the same across all conditions.

Here, we compare six components extracted from one subject's walking data using PCA and NMF (Fig. A.8).

#### B. TA reconstruction using PCA A. PCA components Synergy Coefficients (C) Walking Muscle Synergies (W) W<sub>1pca</sub> contribution stance stance stance 26% 0.5 0.5 W<sub>1pca</sub> 0 W<sub>2pca</sub> contribution -0.5 21% -0.5 W<sub>2pca</sub> W<sub>3pca</sub> contribution 11% + w W<sub>3pcə</sub> contribution + W<sub>₅pca</sub> contribution $W_{_{4pca}}$ + W<sub>6pca</sub> contribution $W_{_{5pca}}$ = 0.94 VAF = 48.6% 0.5 hin. 5% W<sub>6pca</sub> -0.5 3000 4000 5000 6000 time (ms) ----- measured 1000 2000 3000 4000 5000 0 6000 stance stance predicted time (ms) ₽₹ stance stance stance C. NMF components D. TA reconstruction using NMF Walking Muscle Synergies (W) Synergy Coefficients (C) W<sub>1nmf</sub> contribution 18% stance stance stance W<sub>1nmf</sub> W contribution 14% W<sub>2nmf</sub> + W contribution 22% + ₩<sub>4nmf</sub> contribution W., + W<sub>5nmf</sub> contribution 16% **W**<sub>4nm</sub> + W<sub>6nmf</sub> contribution 15% W<sub>5nmf</sub> r<sup>2</sup> = 0.91 VAF = 95.4% 15% hm. W<sub>6nmf</sub> 0 3000 4000 5000 6000 time (ms) measured 1000 2000 3000 4000 5000 6000 stance 0 stance predicted time (ms) stance stance stance

**Figure A.8** Components and activation coefficients identified from walking data using principal components analysis (PCA) and non-negative matrix factorization (NMF). A: Components identified using PCA may have positive and/or negative muscle contributions and activation coefficients. Percentages indicate the amount of total data variability accounted for by each component. The shaded gray boxes indicate stance phase. Activation coefficients from one trial of walking (the same trial as in Figure A.7)

are shown. Components from PCA have contributions from many muscles. The first few components have activation patterns that are aligned with particular phases of the gait cycle, whereas the last few have less identifiable patterns. B: TA muscle activity from a single trial reconstructed using the PCA components identified in A. The original data are shown with a dashed black line and the reconstructed data are shown with a solid Variability accounted for (VAF) and  $r^2$  indicate goodness-of-fit. black line. **C**: Components identified using NMF have only positive muscle contributions and activation coefficients. Components from NMF tend to have strong contributions from only a few muscles. Activations coefficients for some components (W<sub>1nmf</sub>, W<sub>2nmf</sub>, W<sub>3nmf</sub>, and  $W_{6nmf}$ ) are aligned with particular phases of the gait cycle, whereas others may be stabilizing components since they are active throughout the entire trial (W<sub>4nmf</sub> and W<sub>5nmf</sub>). D: TA muscle activity from a single trial reconstructed using the NMF components identified in C. The original data are shown with a dashed black line and the reconstructed data are shown with a solid black line. VAF and  $r^2$  indicate goodness-offit.

Similar to the postural response example, the first component identified using PCA primarily describes the mean level of muscle activity, and the later ones described deviations from that mean. The first two components contained primarily positive contributions from nearly all of the muscles. The first component was activated positively at the beginning and end of stance and activated negatively in swing, whereas the second component was positively activated in swing but negatively activated in stance. The subsequent components all had both negative and positive contributions from different muscles, and their activation coefficients over time decreased in amplitude, but increased in frequency. Although the first three components had peaks that corresponded to identifiable events in the gait cycle and various EMG activity (Fig. A.7), the last three had high-frequency oscillations that were not localized to a particular phase in the locomotor cycle. Reconstructing the TA EMG signal reveals that the activity during swing phase is composed of contributions from two components primarily, although there are small contributions from all components (Fig. A.8B). Both components contribute to the large peak in TA activity. However, the smaller, secondary burst is due to a positive

contribution from  $W_{2pca}$  that is largely cancelled by a negative contribution from  $W_{3pca}$ . (Fig. A.8B). Note that the r<sup>2</sup> value is quite high, indicating a good match of shape, whereas the VAF level is low, indicating that the predicted EMG amplitudes do not match measured values.

The six components extracted using NMF were quite different from those found using PCA. Each component consists of large contributions from a small number of muscles, and the muscles tend to be grouped according to joint or function. Some of the components were activated at specific points during the gait cycle, such as  $W_{3nmf}$  being activated at early stance and again at late stance,  $W_{1nmf}$  activated during early swing, and  $W_{6nmf}$  during late swing. Other muscle synergies were activated throughout both stance and swing, suggesting that they may be used for stabilization ( $W_{4nmf}$  and  $W_{5nmf}$ ). As in the postural example, the bursts of activity appearing in the activation coefficients resemble the bursts observed in the original EMG data (Fig. A.7). Only two NMF components contribute to TA EMG activity (Fig. A.8D).  $W_{1nmf}$  contributes most of the TA activity, including the large burst in early swing phase. The contribution from  $W_{6nmf}$ adds a small secondary burst.

Again, the components extracted during walking must also be cross-validated over a number of different test extractions to be sure that they are stable and not artifacts of the way the data are represented. In our NMF analyses, we find components to be stable across time bins sizes of 10 to 100 ms during walking. Components are also stable if fewer trials are analyzed, or if faster walking speeds are analyzed. Moreover, the components extracted from one speed can account for variations in EMG occurring with changes in walking speed (Clark et al. 2010). However, the components change if EMGs

are averaged across strides, and less of the variability from stride to stride is accounted for by components extracted from averaged data.

## **A.5** Conclusion

Are linear decomposition techniques useful for understanding motor control (Macpherson 1991; Tresch and Jarc 2009)? Ultimately, no decomposition technique is perfect, and much discretion and interpretation must be exercised on the part of the investigator when drawing conclusions from any such analysis. Computational analyses cannot replace the judgment and intuition of the researcher, and ultimately the results must make sense in a physiological context. Therefore, it is critical that the implicit hypotheses, assumptions, and constraints inherent in any technique be understood in order to use it usefully in motor control or other scientific research. In the best-case scenario, a linear decomposition can be a tool that can formally test a hypothesis that the researcher formulates by looking at the raw data and observing the synchrony and variability across multiple EMG signals. It allows different periods of activity within a muscle to be attributed to different underlying components. In the end, the relationship between the derived components and the original data may potentially allow a researcher to draw conclusions about the underlying neural mechanisms if the components do not represent limitations of the recordings, experimental conditions, or other data artifact. Ultimately, to make any sort of physiological conclusion, the extracted components must be interpreted in terms of the known underlying physiological mechanisms and biomechanical outputs. The examples presented here demonstrate intuitively the workings of NMF and PCA, with the aim of informing and aiding in the interpretation of

data. Such exercises can be performed to better understand any kind of decomposition technique, each with its own advantages and disadvantages (Tresch et al. 2006).

Is the added computation useful for understanding motor tasks? In some cases, the answer may be "no," particularly for any kind of initial analysis of a motor task or experimental condition. The technique must appropriately match the hypothesis. Component decompositions can be useful when examining the detailed workings of complex multimuscle coordination. It is useful for comparing complex muscle coordination across different tasks or trials in which muscle activity changes, but the underlying coordination principles may be the same, as we have shown in fast and slow walking (Clark et al. 2010), or one- and two-legged postural control (Torres-Oviedo and Ting 2010). In cases in which repeated measures are not possible, such as in patient populations, highly variable motor patterns are difficult to analyze from traditional techniques that rely on averaging. In this case, a component decomposition can identify whether common underlying elements are being activated across different trials or tasks (Clark et al. 2010). Similarly, the underlying components may provide a better measure of similarity or differences across individuals than the comparison of individual EMG traces (Ting 2007; Ting and McKay 2007). It is possible to identify whether individuals with different EMG patterns have similar underlying components but activate them differently, or if instead they have different numbers or composition of underlying components (Torres-Oviedo and Ting 2007; Clark et al. 2010)

Decomposition can also be useful for understanding the function of the underlying components. These analyses are difficult and do not always work. They require many practical considerations to accommodate limitations of the analysis techniques, and

require the investigator to guess at the correct variables that are being controlled. But if a relationship is not found, it does not mean that there is no functional role for that component. Previous work in postural control has shown in cats that muscle synergies are recruited to control forces at the ground (Ting and Macpherson 2005; Torres-Oviedo et al. 2006). Such an analysis includes biomechanical variables as additional observations (rows) in the data matrix and extracts functional muscle synergies, which are composed of both muscles and functional variables (Torres-Oviedo et al. 2006). However, the application of NMF to biomechanical variables poses a challenge because negative and positive changes in forces necessarily result from different muscle groups requiring them to be partitioned physiologically (Ting and Macpherson 2005; Torres-Oviedo et al. 2006; Valero-Cuevas 2009). Because changes in velocity and position require the integration of forces, the relationship between muscle activity and kinematics is highly redundant, and also difficult to predict without explicit models (Gottlieb et al. 1995; Lockhart and Ting 2007). This redundancy is evident in studies relating the activation of components found using PCA to center-of-pressure shifts in human balance control using the uncontrolled manifold hypothesis (Latash et al. 2002; Krishnamoorthy et al. 2003a; Ting and Macpherson 2005). These studies demonstrate that, although functional roles of individual components may be identified, the variability in their activation may not be reflected in the variability of the output because they are precisely coordinated by higher mechanisms in the nervous system to reduce variations in the desired motor task. Alternately, biomechanical simulation and analysis techniques allow the functional role of the muscle coordination patterns identified by the extracted components to be explicitly tested (Raasch et al. 1997; Berniker et al. 2009; Neptune et al. 2009).

Additionally, the feasibility of robustly using such components to coordinate a repertoire of movement can also be explored (Kargo and Giszter 2008; McKay and Ting 2008; Raasch and Zajac 1999; Valero-Cuevas 2000; Valero-Cuevas et al. 2003). However, it is difficult to build appropriate dynamics models and to record from all of the muscles involved in a movement to use such techniques. Moreover, models of the neural control mechanisms that shape and use the components effectively need to be explored (Berniker et al. 2009). Again, in order for any of these techniques to be useful in relating muscle activity to functional variables, the investigator must have a good understanding of their raw data and the underlying physiological and biomechanical mechanisms in order to interpret the results of the component analysis appropriately.

Do the identified components extracted using computational techniques reflect the organization of neural circuits for movement? One of the attractive features of components from NMF is that they generate a part-based type of representation that appears similar to both neurophysiological observations, as well as to predictions from "sparse-coding" algorithms in sensory systems (Olshausen and Field 2004). The idea is that in a retinotopic, somatotopic, or other sort of spatial sensory map in the nervous system, only a small region is activated for any given stimulus, such as a location in space, or a part of the body. This "sparse" coding means that a minimum of neurons is used to encode a particular feature from among all of the information contained in that map. But, as in PCA, it is also possible to imagine a system in which neurons in the entire map are activated given a particular stimulus. The sparseness property has also been proposed for motor system and is proposed to improve energetic expenditure by reducing the number

of neurons involved in any given behavior, as well as improving computational efficiency, thus reducing the total number of elements that need to be modified during motor adaptation (Olshausen and Field 2004; Fiete et al. 2007; Ting and McKay 2007). Accordingly, localized regions of motor cortex are activated to perform a given movement, and muscle synergies for reaching have been proposed to result from cortico-motoneuronal cells that project to multiple muscles (Graziano and Aflalo 2007; Scott and Kalaska 1997). Similarly, reticulospinal neurons active during postural control (Schepens and Drew 2006; 2004; Schepens et al. 2008; Stapley and Drew 2009) also project to multiple muscles in the limbs and trunk, and interneurons in the spinal cord may facilitate coordination of muscles within and between the limbs during locomotion (Drew et al. 2008; McCrea 2001; Quevedo et al. 2000).

Although, NMF components may provide one computational tool among the many needed to understand the sensorimotor transformations involved in determining how we move, much research is warranted before any of the questions about the utility and interpretability of the resulting components can be resolved. Component decompositions allows large datasets of EMG data and other variables to be decomposed into components that must be interpreted and compared to the organization of neural control systems upstream, and their functional biomechanical outputs downstream. NMF is especially useful for examining neural and muscle activity signals that are inherently non-negative. PCA may prove more useful for analyzing biomechanical variables that take on both positive and negative values without consideration for muscle activity. The continued development of physiologically relevant decomposition techniques combined

with experimental and computational studies may eventually allow us to better understand how learning, adaptation, and rehabilitation occurs in the motor system.

# **APPENDIX B**

# VOLUNTARY STEPPING

#### **B.1 Introduction**

Previous studies have shown differences in muscle activity and step latency between a reactive step in response to a perturbation and a voluntary step. In voluntary steps (pre-planned steps in which a perturbation is the cue), the muscles were not activated as much as in reactive stepping, and the latency to step is longer due to the presence of an anticipatory postural adjustment (APA) when a step is pre-planned (Horak and Macpherson 1996; Maki and McIlroy 1997; McIlroy and Maki 1993a). The APA which has been observed in voluntary steps consists of initial vertical loading of the stepping foot before lift off, which serves to move the center of mass (CoM) toward the stance foot, ensuring that the body is supported during the movement (Maki and McIlroy 1997). This anticipatory behavior is absent in reactive steps taken in response to a perturbation (McIlroy and Maki 1993a). Even so, I predict that the same muscle synergies will be used in the stance leg in the voluntary stepping condition as were used in the reactive non-stepping and stepping tasks (see Chapter 2). The kinematics and CoM movement will be the same for reactive and voluntary stepping tasks, but the command to activate the synergies will come from different levels of the nervous system. The command in a voluntary step comes from motor cortex, but in a reactive step it comes from a lower level, perhaps brainstem, in response to a combination of sensory inputs that provide information about the body orientation and CoM position.

Additionally, the displacement of the CoM is achieved slightly different in these two conditions. In reactive stepping, the CoM is displaced initially due to the platform motion, then further displaced via generation of forces at the ground to cause a step. In voluntary stepping, the entire CoM displacement results from forces generated by the stance leg. We hypothesize the muscle synergies are activated to perform a specific biomechanical function (such as generate forces at the ground) in order to control the movement of the CoM. Since both of these tasks require control of CoM, I expect to see the same muscle synergies used in both tasks, and only the commands to the synergies will need to change in order to produce the differences in individual muscle patterns that have been observed and required ground reaction forces.

In this study, I plan to identify muscle synergies underlying both reactive and voluntary steps. Thus the biomechanics of the tasks will be identical but the command to the muscles will originate from different levels of the nervous system, giving us an indication of how accessible the muscle synergies are and the role sensory feedback plays in their activation. As a first step, I examined the kinetics, kinematics, and EMG underlying reactive and voluntary stepping in different directions. While a few studies have examined reactive stepping in multiple directions (Maki and McIlroy 1997; Zettel et al. 2002), multidirectional voluntary stepping has not been studied nor compared to reactive stepping.

Here we examined whether the presence of APAs in voluntary steps and absence in reactive steps generalizes to other directions of stepping. The biomechanics of stepping are different depending on the direction of the step; in order to execute the step, muscles are activated differently over different directions. What is the nature and

function of the APA and under what conditions is it necessary? Studies of whole-body reaching have shown that APAs do not necessarily oppose a focal movement, but instead may vary to set up the desired task dynamics (Stapley et al. 1999). Here examined the sequence of events that occured during reactive and voluntary stepping, focusing on the presence or absence of an APA. Furthermore, we investigated the origin and function of the APA by examining its timing relative to muscle activity.

#### **B.2 Methods**

First subjects were asked to maintain standing balance as the support surface translated in any of 12 directions in the horizontal plane; they were instructed to step with their left foot if necessary. Next, subjects were asked to voluntarily step with their left foot in the same 12 directions as quickly as possible following the onset of a visual cue. EMG activity was measured from 16 muscles of the right (stance) leg and lower trunk. Mean EMG levels were calculated just before and after step initiation, and EMG tuning curves across directions were examined.

#### **B.2.1 Data Collection**

Eight healthy subjects between the ages of 19 and 26 were exposed to two sets of support-surface translations according to an experimental protocol that was approved by the Institutional Review Boards of Georgia Tech and Emory. Subjects stood on a platform that translated in 12 equally spaced directions in the horizontal plane (see Figure 1). They were instructed to maintain balance without stepping if possible, but if a step was necessary, to step with their left foot. This was done to ensure steps would be

reactive and not voluntary, intentional steps. Two blocks of ramp-and-hold perturbations in each of these 12 directions were presented. In the reactive stepping block, the platform's displacement was 23 cm, velocity was 45 cm/s and acceleration was 0.75g. In the non-stepping block, the platform's displacement was 12.4 cm, velocity was 35 cm/s, and acceleration was 0.5g. The perturbation directions were randomized during each block of perturbations to minimize anticipatory adjustments and increase response variability. Due to the influence of prior trials on a subject's response (Horak and Nashner 1986), we first collected the stepping block of trials and then the non-stepping block of trials. Five trials of each condition (stepping and non-stepping) in each of the 12 directions of perturbations in all directions. Occasionally subjects stepped with their right foot and these trials were excluded from the analysis. In the non-stepping condition, all subjects maintained balance without taking a step.

For some subjects, the parameters used to induce stepping in the reactive stepping condition actually did not cause the subjects to step, particularly in lateral directions. Increasing the input velocity caused an increase in platform acceleration in cardinal directions, but in diagonal directions caused a curved trajectory. We attempted to get a consistent stepping response in all directions; therefore, the parameter set used during the reactive stepping condition had increased velocity input values for directions 0 and 180, which resulted in a platform acceleration of ~0.95g. A previous study used different displacements for medial perturbations compared with anterior/posterior perturbations due to differences in stability when perturbed in those directions (Macpherson 1988),

confirming this is a reasonable approach to ensure consistent responses across all directions.

Subjects also performed two sets of voluntary steps in multiple directions. A screen in front of the subjects showed empty circles in the same 12 directions as the reactive conditions. In each trial, one of the circles would light up, indicating to the subject which direction they should step. In the voluntary step out and back condition, subjects were instructed to step as quickly as possible towards the direction of the indicator light, using their left foot, and were told the light would turn off once they had shifted their weight to the stepping leg. They were instructed to immediately step back to the starting position when the light turned off. The reason for them to quickly return to the starting position was because in reactive stepping responses, subjects tended to step very quickly, just long enough to catch themselves before falling, and then immediately returned their feet to the center. They shifted  $\sim 75\%$  of their weight onto the stepping leg before stepping back to the center. Therefore the weight shift required to turn the light back off in the voluntary step out and back condition matched as closely as possible the weight shift observed in reactive stepping responses. There were no markers on the floor indicating where exactly they should step to; they were simply told to step towards the direction indicated by the light while looking straight ahead. The kinematics of this voluntary stepping task seem to match closely the kinematics of the reactive step, ensuring that any differences we see in muscle activity/synergies are due to the different commands rather than a different movement. Note that if subjects were not instructed to step quickly, the motion of the step looked completely different, so any differences observed could be due to a different movement rather than a different command. This

condition mimicked the reactive stepping in that the subject knows their end goal is to return the CoM to the center.

Subjects also performed a second set of voluntary steps in the voluntary step out and hold condition. In this condition, again subjects stepped quickly towards the direction of the indicator light with their left foot, but this time they were instructed to shift their weight onto the stepping leg (without lifting the right foot) and hold it there. Thus the end goal in this condition was to push the CoM away, similar to a gait initiation step.

Surface EMG activity was recorded from sixteen lower back and leg muscles on the subject's right side, which was the stance leg in all stepping conditions. The muscles recorded included: vastus lateralis (VLAT), rectus femoris (RFEM), rectus abdominis (REAB), biceps femoris, long head (BFLH), semitendinosus (SEMT), adductor magnus (ADMG), erector spinae (ERSP), abdominal external oblique (EXOB), vastus medialis (VMED), tibialis anterior (TA), medial gastrocnemius (MGAS), lateral gastrocnemius (LGAS), soleus (SOL), peroneus (PERO), tensor fasciae latae (TFL), and gluteus medius (GMED). EMG data were high pass filtered at 35 Hz, de-meaned, rectified, and low-pass filtered at 40 Hz, using custom MATLAB routines. Additionally, kinetic data were collected at 1080 Hz from force plates under the feet (AMTI, Watertown, MA) and kinematic data were collected at 120 Hz using a motion capture system (Vicon, Centennial, CO) and a custom 25-marker set that included head-arms-trunk (HAT), and bilateral thigh, shank, and foot segments (Winter 1990). CoM acceleration was calculated from ground reaction forces (F=ma), and CoM position was calculated using kinematic data and the Vicon Plug-in-Gait model.

#### **B.2.2 Data Processing**

To distinguish any anticipatory muscle activation from the actual stepping movement, two time bins were analyzed: one prior to step initiation and one following step initiation. Step initiation and APA onset were defined by divergences in GRF. Step initiation was defined as the time when the right foot began rapidly loading while the left foot began unloading, and APA onset was the time when the left foot began loading while the right foot started unloading. To analyze forces, two time bins were defined: the APA period which lasted from APA onset to step initiation, and the Step period which last from step initiation until 200ms after step initiation (Figure B.1, gray shaded regions). To analyze EMG patterns that would have been responsible for generating these force shifts, each time bin was shifted back by 60ms to account for electromechanical delays. Therefore, for EMG analysis, the APA period was from 60ms before APA onset until 60ms before step initiation, and the Step period was from 60ms before step initiation until 140ms after step initiation. Mean muscle activity for each muscle during each time bin was calculated for each trial. These numbers were assembled to form a data matrix, which consisted of 2 time bins x 12 directions x 5 trials = 120 points for each of the 16 each muscles. For display purposes, each muscle's EMG values were initially normalized to the maximum value across all time periods, perturbation directions, and conditions so that each value was between 0 and 1. Tuning curves were generated with respect to step direction in order to examine muscle activity across all 12 perturbation directions in each condition and time bin.



**Figure B.1** Example of EMG and GRF during a rightward voluntary step. Vertical dashed line indicates the onset of the light cue, and EMG responses generally occur ~300-400ms after the cue. Shown here are tibialis anterior (TA) and vastus medialis (VMED) from the right (stance) leg. Ground reaction forces under the feet are also shown. EMG activity was averaged during two time periods, the APA period and step period, to generate tuning curves. For EMG analysis, the APA period begins 60ms before APA onset (yellow vertical line) and lasts until 60ms before step initiation (green vertical line). These windows are 60ms earlier than time windows used to analyze forces, to allow for electromechanical delays.

### **B.3 Results**

Voluntary steps in response to a visual cue were initiated later than reactive steps in response to a perturbation, as expected (Figure B.2). Nevertheless, reactive and voluntary steps had similar kinematics. Voluntary steps were slightly longer duration and slightly longer step length than reactive steps, but generally the voluntary steps from the voluntary step out and back condition matched the reactive steps fairly well. The variability in step locations observed in voluntary steps was similar to that observed in reactive steps.



**Figure B.2** Step kinematics for reactive and voluntary steps. Shown are the left asis, knee, and heel marker for a leftward step and a forward step in each condition. Although reactive steps are slightly quicker and slightly shorter than voluntary steps, generally the steps are quite similar in distance and duration.

For steps toward the front, back, and right, APAs were present in voluntary steps, as expected (Figure B.3). In rightward voluntary steps, muscle activity preceding the APA onset can be seen during the APA period. TA activation that presumably generates the weight shift characterizing the APA was observed during the APA period in forward and rightward steps, whereas BFLH was active during the APA period in backward steps (Figure B.3). However, for voluntary steps with a leftward component, no APA was observed. Therefore in voluntary leftward steps, subjects were able to push with the stance leg without prior preparatory weight shift or muscle activity.



**Figure B.3** GRF and EMG during voluntary steps in all 12 directions. The APA period is indicated by light gray shaded box and the step period is indicated by darker gray shaded box. APAs were present in voluntary steps towards the right, front, and back, along with associated muscle activity during the APA period that generates the APA. No APA was observed in leftward voluntary steps.

Conversely, in reactive steps towards the front, back, and right, no APAs were observed, as expected (Figure B.4). However, in reactive leftward steps, the swing limb was loaded due to the perturbation and was unloaded prior to the step, resulting in an "APA-like" weight shift and associated muscle activity. No muscle activity was observed during the APA period for most reactive stepping directions, indicating that APA-like weight shifts are passive and due to the perturbation rather than active control. All muscle activity in reactive stepping responses began after the APA onset, and the timing of this muscle activity was consistent with a postural response. The automatic postural response (APR) has been well-characterized and occurs ~100 ms following the perturbation (Horak and Macpherson 1996), which is consistent with what we observed in reactive stepping responses.



**Figure B.4** GRF and EMG during reactive steps in all 12 directions. The APA period is indicated by light gray shaded box and the step period is indicated by darker gray shaded box. No APAs were present in voluntary steps towards the right, front, and back. An "APA-like" weight shift was observed in leftward voluntary steps, due to the platform motion, without associated muscle activity.

Further, differences in the function of the stance leg in the generation of reactive and voluntary steps were evident in the different muscle tuning curves associated with stepping. During the APA period, different muscles are used in reactive and voluntary steps (Figure B.5). In voluntary stepping, muscle activity during the APA period generates an APA. However, in reactive stepping, muscle activity in the APA period represents a postural response, since it occurs after APA onset. During the step period, opposite muscles were activated during voluntary and reactive steps for steps in the anterior/posterior directions. For example, VMED was activated for forward voluntary steps and backward reactive steps (Figure B.5). In voluntary steps, the stance leg generates the propulsion needed for the step, whereas in reactive steps, the stance leg acts as a brake to stop the momentum caused by the perturbation. But, in medial/lateral directions, the same muscles were activated during voluntary and reactive steps, because the stance leg generates propulsion in both of these conditions.

#### **B.4 Discussion**

We propose a new role for the APA to set the state of the system to perform a movement. In rightward voluntary steps, the APA is necessary to shift the CoM toward the stance leg, supporting the CoM during the step. This suggests that the APA functions to change the initial state of the system. By contrast, in leftward steps, there is no need to shift the CoM rightward towards the stance leg because the overall goal is to step leftward. For leftward voluntary steps, APAs may not be necessary because the body is in the correct state to perform the movement.



**Figure B.5** Muscle tuning curves during reactive stepping (black) and voluntary stepping (gray) during the APA period and step period. Shown are the mean tuning curves  $\pm$  standard deviations for 5 trials of each perturbation direction for each condition.

Therefore the presence or absence of APAs may not be specific to voluntary or reactive steps but rather reflects the required task dynamics. The prepatory action (braking or propulsing) is setting up a biomechanical condition (state) that allows for a step in a particular direction. Perhaps voluntary and reactive steps are similar, despite differences in their initiation and execution, because they have particular biomechanical goals that have to be achieved in order to take a step.

The next step will be to examine the muscle synergies used during voluntary steps to determine if similar neural mechanisms for muscle coordination are used in voluntary and reactive stepping. Our results from Chapter 4 showed a common pool of muscle synergies was robustly recruited across various motor tasks such as walking and posture responses. Therefore, I expect to see similar muscle synergies used during the Step period to push the CoM away from the starting position in both reactive stepping and voluntary stepping. Furthermore, the same set of muscle synergies may be used to direct the CoM during anticipatory movements voluntary stepping conditions.

# REFERENCES

Acharya S, Tenore F, Aggarwal V, Etienne-Cummings R, Schieber MH, and Thakor NV. Decoding individuated finger movements using volume-constrained neuronal ensembles in the M1 hand area. *IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng* 16: 15-23, 2008.

**Ajiboye AB, and Weir RF**. Muscle synergies as a predictive framework for the EMG patterns of new hand postures. *J Neural Eng* 6: 036004, 2009.

**Alexandrov AV, Frolov AA, and Massion J**. Biomechanical analysis of movement strategies in human forward trunk bending. II. Experimental study. *Biol Cybern* 84: 435-443, 2001.

Anderson RN, Minino AM, Fingerhut LA, Warner M, and Heinen MA. Deaths: injuries, 2001. *Natl Vital Stat Rep* 52: 1-86, 2004.

Aruin AS, Forrest WR, and Latash ML. Anticipatory postural adjustments in conditions of postural instability. *Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol* 109: 350-359, 1998.

**Berniker M, Jarc A, Bizzi E, and Tresch MC**. Simplified and effective motor control based on muscle synergies to exploit musculoskeletal dynamics. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 106: 7601-7606, 2009.

**Bernstein N**. *The Coordination and Regulation of Movements*. New York: Pergamon Press, 1967.

**Boonstra TW, Daffertshofer A, Roerdink M, Flipse I, Groenewoud K, and Beek PJ**. Bilateral motor unit synchronization of leg muscles during a simple dynamic balance task. *Eur J Neurosci* 29: 613-622, 2009.

**Bosco G, Rankin AM, and Poppele RE**. Representation of passive hindlimb postures in cat spinocerebellar activity. *J Neurophysiol* 76: 715-726, 1996.

**Burleigh AL, Horak FB, and Malouin F**. Modification of postural responses and step initiation: evidence for goal-directed postural interactions. *J Neurophysiol* 72: 2892-2902, 1994.

**Cappellini G, Ivanenko YP, Poppele RE, and Lacquaniti F**. Motor patterns in human walking and running. *Journal of Neurophysiology* 95: 3426-3437, 2006.

**Carpenter MG, Allum JH, and Honegger F**. Directional sensitivity of stretch reflexes and balance corrections for normal subjects in the roll and pitch planes. *Exp Brain Res* 129: 93-113, 1999.

**Cheung VC, d'Avella A, and Bizzi E**. Adjustments of motor pattern for load compensation via modulated activations of muscle synergies during natural behaviors. *J Neurophysiol* 101: 1235-1257, 2009.

**Cheung VC, d'Avella A, Tresch MC, and Bizzi E**. Central and sensory contributions to the activation and organization of muscle synergies during natural motor behaviors. *J Neurosci* 25: 6419-6434, 2005.

Chiel HJ, Ting LH, Ekeberg O, and Hartmann MJ. The brain in its body: motor control and sensing in a biomechanical context. *J Neurosci* 29: 12807-12814, 2009.

**Clark DJ, Ting LH, Zajac FE, Neptune RR, and Kautz SA**. Merging of healthy motor modules predicts reduced locomotor performance and muscle coordination complexity post-stroke. *J Neurophysiol* 103: 844-857, 2010.

**d'Avella A, and Bizzi E**. Shared and specific muscle synergies in natural motor behaviors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 102: 3076-3081, 2005.

**d'Avella A, Portone A, Fernandez L, and Lacquaniti F**. Control of fast-reaching movements by muscle synergy combinations. *J Neurosci* 26: 7791-7810, 2006.

d'Avella A, Saltiel P, and Bizzi E. Combinations of muscle synergies in the construction of a natural motor behavior. *Nat Neurosci* 6: 300-308, 2003.

**Danion F, Schoner G, Latash ML, Li S, Scholz JP, and Zatsiorsky VM**. A mode hypothesis for finger interaction during multi-finger force-production tasks. *Biol Cybern* 88: 91-98, 2003.

Danna-Dos-Santos A, Slomka K, Zatsiorsky VM, and Latash ML. Muscle modes and synergies during voluntary body sway. *Exp Brain Res* 179: 533-550, 2007.

**Deliagina TG, Beloozerova IN, Zelenin PV, and Orlovsky GN**. Spinal and supraspinal postural networks. *Brain Res Rev* 57: 212-221, 2008.

**Dietz V**. Spinal cord pattern generators for locomotion. *Clinical Neurophysiology* 114: 1379-1389, 2003.

**Dietz V, and Duysens J**. Significance of load receptor input during locomotion: a review. *Gait Posture* 11: 102-110, 2000.

**Dietz V, Horstmann GA, and Berger W**. Interlimb coordination of leg-muscle activation during perturbation of stance in humans. *J Neurophysiol* 62: 680-693, 1989.

**Drew T, Kalaska J, and Krouchev N**. Muscle synergies during locomotion in the cat: a model for motor cortex control. *J Physiol* 586: 1239-1245, 2008.

**Dufosse M, Hugon M, and Massion J**. Postural forearm changes induced by predictable in time or voluntary triggered unloading in man. *Exp Brain Res* 60: 330-334, 1985.

**Dunbar DC, Horak FB, Macpherson JM, and Rushmer DS**. Neural control of quadrupedal and bipedal stance: implications for the evolution of erect posture. *Am J Phys Anthropol* 69: 93-105, 1986.

Efron B. An introduction to the bootstrap. New York: Chapman & Hall, 1993.

**Field-Fote EC, and Dietz V**. Single joint perturbation during gait: preserved compensatory response pattern in spinal cord injured subjects. *Clin Neurophysiol* 118: 1607-1616, 2007.

Flash T, and Hochner B. Motor primitives in vertebrates and invertebrates. *Curr Opin Neurobiol* 15: 660-666, 2005.

**Giszter SF, Davies MR, and Graziani V**. Motor Strategies Used by Rats Spinalized at Birth to Maintain Stance in Response to Imposed Perturbations. *J Neurophysiol* 97: 2663-2675, 2007.

**Gollhofer A, Horstmann GA, Berger W, and Dietz V**. Compensation of translational and rotational perturbations in human posture: stabilization of the centre of gravity. *Neurosci Lett* 105: 73-78, 1989.

Gottlieb GL, Chen CH, and Corcos DM. Relations between joint torque, motion, and electromyographic patterns at the human elbow. *Exp Brain Res* 103: 164-167, 1995.

Grasso R, Bianchi L, and Lacquaniti F. Motor patterns for human gait: backward versus forward locomotion. *J Neurophysiol* 80: 1868-1885, 1998.

**Grasso R, Zago M, and Lacquaniti F**. Interactions between posture and locomotion: motor patterns in humans walking with bent posture versus erect posture. *J Neurophysiol* 83: 288-300, 2000.

Graziano MS, and Aflalo TN. Rethinking cortical organization: moving away from discrete areas arranged in hierarchies. *Neuroscientist* 13: 138-147, 2007.

Grin L, Frank J, and Allum JH. The effect of voluntary arm abduction on balance recovery following multidirectional stance perturbations. *Exp Brain Res* 178: 62-78, 2007.

Hamed SB, Schieber MH, and Pouget A. Decoding M1 neurons during multiple finger movements. *J Neurophysiol* 98: 327-333, 2007.

Haridas C, Gordon IT, and Misiaszek JE. Walking delays anticipatory postural adjustments but not reaction times in a choice reaction task. *Exp Brain Res* 163: 440-444, 2005.

Hart CB, and Giszter SF. A neural basis for motor primitives in the spinal cord. J Neurosci 30: 1322-1336, 2010.

Hart CB, and Giszter SF. Modular premotor drives and unit bursts as primitives for frog motor behaviors. *J Neurosci* 24: 5269-5282, 2004a.

Hart CB, and Giszter SF. Modular Premotor Drives and Unit Bursts as Primitives for Frog Motor Behaviors. *J Neurosci* 24: 5269-5282, 2004b.

Henry SM, Fung J, and Horak FB. EMG responses to maintain stance during multidirectional surface translations. *Journal of Neurophysiology* 80: 1939-1950, 1998.

**Honeycutt CF, Gottschall JS, and Nichols TR**. Electromyographic responses from the hindlimb muscles of the decerebrate cat to horizontal support surface perturbations. *J Neurophysiol* 101: 2751-2761, 2009.

Horak FB, and Macpherson JM. Postural orientation and equilibrium. In: *Handbook of Physiology, Section 12*. New York: American Physiological Society, 1996, p. 255-292.

Horak FB, and Nashner LM. Central programming of postural movements: adaptation to altered support-surface configurations. *J Neurophysiol* 55: 1369-1381, 1986.

Hyvärinen A, Karhunen J, and Oja E. Independent Component Analysis. John Wiley & Sons, 2001, p. 481.

**Inglis JT, Horak FB, Shupert CL, and Jones-Rycewicz C**. The importance of somatosensory information in triggering and scaling automatic postural responses in humans. *Exp Brain Res* 101: 159-164, 1994.

**Ivanenko YP, Cappellini G, Dominici N, Poppele RE, and Lacquaniti F**. Coordination of locomotion with voluntary movements in humans. *J Neurosci* 25: 7238-7253, 2005.

**Ivanenko YP, Grasso R, Zago M, Molinari M, Scivoletto G, Castellano V, Macellari V, and Lacquaniti F**. Temporal components of the motor patterns expressed by the human spinal cord reflect foot kinematics. *Journal of Neurophysiology* 90: 3555-3565, 2003.

**Ivanenko YP, Poppele RE, and Lacquaniti F**. Five basic muscle activation patterns account for muscle activity during human locomotion. *J Physiol* 556: 267-282, 2004.

**Ivanenko YP, Wright WG, Gurfinkel VS, Horak F, and Cordo P**. Interaction of involuntary post-contraction activity with locomotor movements. *Experimental Brain Research* 169: 255-260, 2006.

Jacobs R, and Macpherson JM. Two functional muscle groupings during postural equilibrium tasks in standing cats. *J Neurophysiol* 76: 2402-2411, 1996.

**Kargo WJ, and Giszter SF**. Individual premotor drive pulses, not time-varying synergies, are the units of adjustment for limb trajectories constructed in spinal cord. *J Neurosci* 28: 2409-2425, 2008.

Kargo WJ, and Giszter SF. Rapid correction of aimed movements by summation of force-field primitives. *J Neurosci* 20: 409-426, 2000.

**Kargo WJ, Ramakrishnan A, Hart CB, Rome LC, and Giszter SF**. A simple experimentally based model using proprioceptive regulation of motor primitives captures adjusted trajectory formation in spinal frogs. *J Neurophysiol* 103: 573-590, 2010.

**Kautz SA, and Hull ML**. A theoretical basis for interpreting the force applied to the pedal in cycling. *J Biomech* 26: 155-165, 1993.

**King LA, and Horak FB**. Lateral stepping for postural correction in Parkinson's disease. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 89: 492-499, 2008.

**Krishnamoorthy V, Goodman S, Zatsiorsky V, and Latash ML**. Muscle synergies during shifts of the center of pressure by standing persons: identification of muscle modes. *Biological Cybernetics* 89: 152-161, 2003a.

Krishnamoorthy V, Latash ML, Scholz JP, and Zatsiorsky VM. Muscle modes during shifts of the center of pressure by standing persons: effect of instability and additional support. *Exp Brain Res* 157: 18-31, 2004.

Krishnamoorthy V, Latash ML, Scholz JP, and Zatsiorsky VM. Muscle synergies during shifts of the center of pressure by standing persons. *Experimental Brain Research* 152: 281-292, 2003b.

**Krouchev N, Kalaska JF, and Drew T**. Sequential activation of muscle synergies during locomotion in the intact cat as revealed by cluster analysis and direct decomposition. *J Neurophysiol* 96: 1991-2010, 2006.

Latash ML. Synergy. New York, New York: Oxford University Press, Inc., 2008, p. 411.

Latash ML, Krishnamoorthy V, Scholz JP, and Zatsiorsky VM. Postural synergies and their development. *Neural Plast* 12: 119-130; discussion 263-172, 2005.

Latash ML, Scholz JP, and Schoner G. Toward a new theory of motor synergies. *Motor Control* 11: 276-308, 2007.

Lee DD, and Seung HS. Learning the parts of objects by non-negative matrix factorization. *Nature* 401: 788-791, 1999.

**Leonard JA, Brown RH, and Stapley PJ**. Reaching to multiple targets when standing: the spatial organization of feedforward postural adjustments. *J Neurophysiol* 101: 2120-2133, 2009.

Lockhart DB, and Ting LH. Optimal sensorimotor transformations for balance. *Nat Neurosci* 10: 1329-1336, 2007.
**MacKinnon CD, and Winter DA**. Control of whole body balance in the frontal plane during human walking. *J Biomech* 26: 633-644, 1993.

**Macpherson JM**. How flexible are muscle synergies? In: *Motor Control: Concepts and Issues*, edited by Humphrey DR, and Freund H-J. New York: Wiley Press, 1991, p. 33-47.

**Macpherson JM**. Strategies that simplify the control of quadrupedal stance. II. Electromyographic activity. *J Neurophysiol* 60: 218-231, 1988.

**Macpherson JM, and Fung J**. Weight support and balance during perturbed stance in the chronic spinal cat. *Journal of Neurophysiology* 82: 3066-3081, 1999.

Macpherson JM, Fung J, and Jacobs R. Postural orientation, equilibrium, and the spinal cord. *Adv Neurol* 72: 227-232, 1997.

**Maki BE, and McIlroy WE**. The role of limb movements in maintaining upright stance: the "change-in-support" strategy. *Phys Ther* 77: 488-507, 1997.

**Massion J**. Movement, posture and equilibrium: interaction and coordination. *Prog Neurobiol* 38: 35-56, 1992.

**McCrea DA**. Spinal circuitry of sensorimotor control of locomotion. *J Physiol-London* 533: 41-50, 2001.

McCrea DA, and Rybak IA. Organization of mammalian locomotor rhythm and pattern generation. *Brain Res Rev* 57: 134-146, 2008.

**McGowan CP, Neptune RR, and Herzog W**. A phenomenological model and validation of shortening-induced force depression during muscle contractions. *J Biomech* 43: 449-454, 2010.

**McIlroy WE, and Maki BE**. Changes in early 'automatic' postural responses associated with the prior-planning and execution of a compensatory step. *Brain Res* 631: 203-211, 1993a.

McIlroy WE, and Maki BE. Task constraints on foot movement and the incidence of compensatory stepping following perturbation of upright stance. *Brain Res* 616: 30-38, 1993b.

McKay JL, and Ting LH. Functional muscle synergies constrain force production during postural tasks. *J Biomech* 41: 299-306, 2008.

**Misiaszek JE**. Early activation of arm and leg muscles following pulls to the waist during walking. *Exp Brain Res* 151: 318-329, 2003.

**Muller ML, Redfern MS, and Jennings JR**. Postural prioritization defines the interaction between a reaction time task and postural perturbations. *Exp Brain Res* 183: 447-456, 2007.

**Nashner LM**. Fixed patterns of rapid postural responses among leg muscles during stance. *Exp Brain Res* 30: 13-24, 1977.

**Nashner LM, and Mccollum G**. The Organization of Human Postural Movements - a Formal Basis and Experimental Synthesis. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences* 8: 135-150, 1985.

**Neptune RR, Clark DJ, and Kautz SA**. Modular control of human walking: a simulation study. *J Biomech* 42: 1282-1287, 2009a.

Neptune RR, and Herzog W. Adaptation of muscle coordination to altered task mechanics during steady-state cycling. *J Biomech* 33: 165-172, 2000.

**Neptune RR, McGowan CP, and Kautz SA**. Forward dynamics simulations provide insight into muscle mechanical work during human locomotion. *Exerc Sport Sci Rev* 37: 203-210, 2009b.

**Olshausen BA, and Field DJ**. Sparse coding of sensory inputs. *Curr Opin Neurobiol* 14: 481-487, 2004.

**Overduin SA, d'Avella A, Roh J, and Bizzi E**. Modulation of Muscle Synergy Recruitment in Primate Grasping. *J Neurosci* 28: 880-892, 2008.

**Perry SD, McIlroy WE, and Maki BE**. The role of plantar cutaneous mechanoreceptors in the control of compensatory stepping reactions evoked by unpredictable, multidirectional perturbation. *Brain Res* 877: 401-406, 2000.

**Pratt CA, Fung J, and Macpherson JM**. Stance Control in the Chronic Spinal Cat. *Journal of Neurophysiology* 71: 1981-1985, 1994.

**Prilutsky BI, Gregor RJ, and Ryan MM**. Coordination of two-joint rectus femoris and hamstrings during the swing phase of human walking and running. *Exp Brain Res* 120: 479-486, 1998.

**Quevedo J, Fedirchuk B, Gosgnach S, and McCrea DA**. Group I disynaptic excitation of cat hindlimb flexor and bifunctional motoneurones during fictive locomotion. *J Physiol-London* 525: 549-564, 2000.

**Raasch CC, and Zajac FE**. Locomotor strategy for pedaling: muscle groups and biomechanical functions. *J Neurophysiol* 82: 515-525, 1999.

**Ramsay JO, and Silverman BW**. *Functional data analysis*. New York ; Berlin: Springer, 2005, p. xix, 426 p.

**Reisman DS, Block HJ, and Bastian AJ**. Interlimb coordination during locomotion: what can be adapted and stored? *J Neurophysiol* 94: 2403-2415, 2005.

**Robert T, Zatsiorsky VM, and Latash ML**. Multi-muscle synergies in an unusual postural task: quick shear force production. *Exp Brain Res* 2008.

Rose J, and Gamble JG. Human Walking. Williams and Wilkin, 1994.

Runge CF, Shupert CL, Horak FB, and Zajac FE. Role of vestibular information in initiation of rapid postural responses. *Exp Brain Res* 122: 403-412, 1998.

Saltiel P, Wyler-Duda K, D'Avella A, Tresch MC, and Bizzi E. Muscle synergies encoded within the spinal cord: evidence from focal intraspinal NMDA iontophoresis in the frog. *J Neurophysiol* 85: 605-619, 2001.

**Schepens B, and Drew T**. Descending signals from the pontomedullary reticular formation are bilateral, asymmetric, and gated during reaching movements in the cat. *J Neurophysiol* 96: 2229-2252, 2006.

**Schepens B, and Drew T**. Independent and convergent signals from the pontomedullary reticular formation contribute to the control of posture and movement during reaching in the cat. *J Neurophysiol* 92: 2217-2238, 2004.

**Schepens B, Stapley P, and Drew T**. Neurons in the pontomedullary reticular formation signal posture and movement both as an integrated behavior and independently. *J Neurophysiol* 100: 2235-2253, 2008.

Scholz JP, Schoner G, Hsu WL, Jeka JJ, Horak F, and Martin V. Motor equivalent control of the center of mass in response to support surface perturbations. *Exp Brain Res* 180: 163-179, 2007.

Schulz BW, Ashton-Miller JA, and Alexander NB. Compensatory stepping in response to waist pulls in balance-impaired and unimpaired women. *Gait Posture* 22: 198-209, 2005.

**Scott SH, and Kalaska JF**. Reaching movements with similar hand paths but different arm orientations. I. Activity of individual cells in motor cortex. *J Neurophysiol* 77: 826-852, 1997.

**Shemmell J, Johansson J, Portra V, Gottlieb GL, Thomas JS, and Corcos DM**. Control of interjoint coordination during the swing phase of normal gait at different speeds. *J Neuroeng Rehabil* 4: 10, 2007.

Simoncelli EP, and Olshausen BA. Natural image statistics and neural representation. *Annu Rev Neurosci* 24: 1193-1216, 2001.

**Stapley P, Pozzo T, and Cheron G**. Does the coordination between posture and movement during human whole-body reaching ensure center of mass stabilization? *Exp Brain Res* 1999.

**Stapley PJ, and Drew T**. The pontomedullary reticular formation contributes to the compensatory postural responses observed following removal of the support surface in the standing cat. *J Neurophysiol* 101: 1334-1350, 2009.

**Stapley PJ, Ting LH, Hulliger M, and Macpherson JM**. Automatic postural responses are delayed by pyridoxine-induced somatosensory loss. *J Neurosci* 22: 5803-5807, 2002.

**Tang PF, Woollacott MH, and Chong RK**. Control of reactive balance adjustments in perturbed human walking: roles of proximal and distal postural muscle activity. *Exp Brain Res* 119: 141-152, 1998.

**Ting LH**. Dimensional reduction in sensorimotor systems: a framework for understanding muscle coordination of posture. *Prog Brain Res* 165: 299-321, 2007.

**Ting LH, and Chvatal SA**. Decomposing muscle activity in motor tasks: methods and interpretation. In: *Motor Control*, edited by Danion F, and Latash, Mark L.Oxford, 2010.

**Ting LH, Kautz SA, Brown DA, and Zajac FE**. Contralateral movement and extensor force generation alter flexion phase muscle coordination in pedaling. *J Neurophysiol* 83: 3351-3365, 2000.

**Ting LH, Kautz SA, Brown DA, and Zajac FE**. Phase reversal of biomechanical functions and muscle activity in backward pedaling. *J Neurophysiol* 81: 544-551, 1999.

Ting LH, and Macpherson JM. A limited set of muscle synergies for force control during a postural task. *J Neurophysiol* 93: 609-613, 2005.

**Ting LH, and Macpherson JM**. Ratio of shear to load ground-reaction force may underlie the directional tuning of the automatic postural response to rotation and translation. *J Neurophysiol* 92: 808-823, 2004.

Ting LH, and McKay JL. Neuromechanics of muscle synergies for posture and movement. *Curr Opin Neurobiol* 17: 622-628, 2007.

**Ting LH, Raasch CC, Brown DA, Kautz SA, and Zajac FE**. Sensorimotor state of the contralateral leg affects ipsilateral muscle coordination of pedaling. *J Neurophysiol* 80: 1341-1351, 1998.

**Ting LH, van Antwerp KW, Scrivens JE, McKay JL, Welch TD, Bingham JT, and DeWeerth SP**. Neuromechanical tuning of nonlinear postural control dynamics. *Chaos* 19: 026111, 2009.

**Torres-Oviedo G**. Robust Muscle Synergies for Postural Control. In: *Wallace H Coulter Department of Biomedical Engineering*. Atlanta, GA: Georgia Institute of Technology, 2007.

**Torres-Oviedo G, Macpherson JM, and Ting LH**. Muscle synergy organization is robust across a variety of postural perturbations. *J Neurophysiol* 96: 1530-1546, 2006.

**Torres-Oviedo G, and Ting LH**. Muscle synergies characterizing human postural responses. *J Neurophysiol* 98: 2144-2156, 2007.

**Torres-Oviedo G, and Ting LH**. Subject-specific muscle synergies in human balance control are consistent across different biomechanical contexts. *J Neurophysiol* 2010.

**Tresch MC, Cheung VC, and d'Avella** A. Matrix factorization algorithms for the identification of muscle synergies: evaluation on simulated and experimental data sets. *J Neurophysiol* 95: 2199-2212, 2006.

**Tresch MC, and Jarc A**. The case for and against muscle synergies. *Curr Opin Neurobiol* 19: 601-607, 2009.

**Tresch MC, Saltiel P, and Bizzi E**. The construction of movement by the spinal cord. *Nat Neurosci* 2: 162-167, 1999.

Trivedi H, Leonard JA, Ting LH, and Stapley PJ. Postural responses to unexpected perturbations of balance during reaching. *Exp Brain Res* 202: 485-491, 2010.

**Valero-Cuevas FJ**. A mathematical approach to the mechanical capabilities of limbs and fingers. *Adv Exp Med Biol* 629: 619-633, 2009.

**Valero-Cuevas FJ**. Predictive modulation of muscle coordination pattern magnitude scales fingertip force magnitude over the voluntary range. *J Neurophysiol* 83: 1469-1479, 2000.

**Valero-Cuevas FJ, Johanson ME, and Towles JD**. Towards a realistic biomechanical model of the thumb: the choice of kinematic description may be more critical than the solution method or the variability/uncertainty of musculoskeletal parameters. *J Biomech* 36: 1019-1030, 2003.

van der Linden MH, Marigold DS, Gabreels FJ, and Duysens J. Muscle reflexes and synergies triggered by an unexpected support surface height during walking. *J Neurophysiol* 97: 3639-3650, 2007.

Weber DJ, Stein RB, Everaert DG, and Prochazka A. Limb-state feedback from ensembles of simultaneously recorded dorsal root ganglion neurons. *J Neural Eng* 4: S168-180, 2007.

Weiss EJ, and Flanders M. Muscular and postural synergies of the human hand. *Journal of Neurophysiology* 92: 523-535, 2004.

Welch TD, and Ting LH. A feedback model reproduces muscle activity during human postural responses to support-surface translations. *J Neurophysiol* 99: 1032-1038, 2008.

Winter DA. *Biomechanics and Motor Control of Human Movement*. New York: John Wiley & Sons, 1990.

**Woollacott M, and Shumway-Cook A**. Attention and the control of posture and gait: a review of an emerging area of research. *Gait Posture* 16: 1-14, 2002.

Yakovenko S, Krouchev NI, and Drew T. Sequential activation of motor cortical neurons contributes to intralimb coordination during reaching in the cat by modulating muscle synergies. *J Neurophysiol* 2010.

**Yiou E, and Schneider C**. Coordination of pointing and stepping: do postural phenomena result from the juxtaposition of the dynamics of each task? *Neurosci Lett* 425: 63-68, 2007.

Zar J. Biostatistical Analysis. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice-Hall, 1999.

**Zettel JL, McIlroy WE, and Maki BE**. Can stabilizing features of rapid triggered stepping reactions be modulated to meet environmental constraints? *Exp Brain Res* 145: 297-308, 2002.

VITA

Stacie Ann Chvatal (nee: Stacie Ann Hamel) was born in Agana, Guam, into a military family and graduated magna cum laude from Choctawhatchee High School in Ft. Walton Beach, FL, in 2001. She graduated summa cum laude from Mercer University in Macon, GA, in 2005, where she earned a Bachelor of Science in Engineering and was named the Outstanding Student in Biomedical Engineering. In Fall 2005, Stacie began her graduate work in the joint biomedical engineering program at Georgia Tech and Emory, pursuing a Doctorate in Biomedical Engineering. During her PhD studies, Stacie was recognized with fellowships from the Nation Science Foundation IGERT and GRF programs. Her research focuses on neuromechanics and motor control, and she hopes that her work will eventually contribute to improved rehabilitation for persons with motor disorders. When she is not working on her research, Stacie is involved in her church and enjoys spending time with her family.